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  Agenda 
   

 
 

City Council 
Electronic Meeting 

 
Council Chambers, City Hall 

6911 No. 3 Road 
Monday, May 13, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 
Pg. # ITEM  
 
  MINUTES 
 
 1. Motion to: 
CNCL-9 (1) adopt the minutes of the Regular Council meeting held on April 22, 

2024; 
 (2) adopt the minutes of the Special Council meeting held on May 6, 

2024; and (distributed separately) 
CNCL-22 (3) receive for information the Metro Vancouver ‘Board in Brief’ dated 

April 27, 2024. 

  

 
 
  AGENDA ADDITIONS & DELETIONS 
 
 
  PRESENTATION 
 
 
  Mandy Hadfield, Manager, Sports and Community Events, to present the 

Volunteer Video in honour of National Volunteer Week 
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  COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
 
 2. Motion to resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on 

agenda items. 

  
 
 
 3. Delegations from the floor on Agenda items. 
  PLEASE NOTE THAT FOR LEGAL REASONS, DELEGATIONS ARE 

NOT PERMITTED ON ZONING OR OCP AMENDMENT BYLAWS 
WHICH ARE TO BE ADOPTED OR ON DEVELOPMENT 
PERMITS/DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMITS. 

 
 
 4. Motion to rise and report. 

  
 
  RATIFICATION OF COMMITTEE ACTION 
 
 
  CONSENT AGENDA 
  PLEASE NOTE THAT ITEMS APPEARING ON THE CONSENT 

AGENDA WHICH PRESENT A CONFLICT OF INTEREST FOR 
COUNCIL MEMBERS MUST BE REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT 
AGENDA AND CONSIDERED SEPARATELY. 

 
 
  CONSENT AGENDA HIGHLIGHTS 
    Receipt of Committee minutes 
    Designated BMX Track And Pump Track Facilities 
    Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard Subsidy Program Update 
    Hugh Boyd Community Facility and Fieldhouse Project 
    Amendment to the Appointment of an Approving Officer 
    Clarification of Wall of Fame Policy 
    2023 Consolidated Financial Statements 
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    Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 10524 And Housing Agreement Bylaw 
No. 10525 To Permit The City Of Richmond To Secure Low-End 
Market Rental (LEMR) And Market Rental Units At 10611 And 10751 
River Drive 

    Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) Bylaw No. 10512 To Permit 
The City Of Richmond To Secure Low End Market Rental (LEMR) 
Units At 4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, And 23301, 23321, 23361, 
23381 Gilley Road 

    Land use application for first, second and third reading: 
     6560 and 6580 Williams Road  – Rezone from Single Detached 

(RS1/E)” Zone to “Low Density Townhouses (RTL4)” Zone 
(Kenneth Kim Architecture Inc. – Applicant) 

 
 5. Motion to adopt Items No. 6 through No. 14 by general consent. 

  
 
 6. COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 

 That the minutes of: 
CNCL-41 (1) the Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee meeting held 

on April 23, 2024;; 
 (2) the Finance Committee meeting held on May 6, 2024;(distributed 

separately) 
 (3) the General Purposes Committee meeting held on May 6, 2024; 

(distributed separately) and 
CNCL-45 (4) the Planning Committee meeting held on May 7, 2024; 
 be received for information. 

  
 
 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 
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 7. DESIGNATED BMX TRACK AND PUMP TRACK FACILITIES 
(File Ref. No. 06-2345-01) (REDMS No. 7597668) 

CNCL-48 See Page CNCL-48 for full report  
  PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION 
  That Option 1, as outlined in the staff reported titled “Designated BMX 

Track and Pump Track Facilities”, dated March 20, 2024, from the 
Director, Parks Services, be endorsed. 

  
 
 
 8. AQUATICS INSTRUCTOR AND LIFEGUARD SUBSIDY PROGRAM 

UPDATE 
(File Ref. No. 11-7143-01) (REDMS No. 7625305) 

CNCL-58 See Page CNCL-58 for full report  
  PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

RECOMMENDATION 
  (1) That a subsidy program for aquatics instructors and lifeguards, as 

outlined in the report titled “Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard 
Subsidy Program Update”, dated March 21, 2024, from the Director, 
Recreation and Sport Services, be endorsed; and 

  (2) That a one-time additional level request to continue the subsidy 
program for aquatics instructors and lifeguards be considered in the 
2025 budget process. 

  

 
 
 9. HUGH BOYD COMMUNITY FACILITY AND FIELDHOUSE 

PROJECT  
(File Ref. No.) (REDMS No.) 

  PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDATION 

  That staff reach out to the Musqueam Indian Band to appoint a member to 
the building committee of the Hugh Boyd Community Facility and 
Fieldhouse project. 

  
 
 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 
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 10. AMENDMENT TO THE APPOINTMENT OF AN APPROVING 

OFFICER 
(File Ref. No. 01-0172-02) (REDMS No. 7649221) 

CNCL-63 See Page CNCL-63 for full report  
  GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
  That the appointment of Joe Erceg as Approving Officer for the City, as per 

Council Resolution S03/5-02, adopted by Council on October 20, 2003, be 
rescinded. 

  
 
 
 11. CLARIFICATION OF WALL OF FAME POLICY 

(File Ref. No. 

CNCL-65 See Page CNCL-65 for full report  
  GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
  That the current number 4 be deleted and that point 4 of the Richmond 

Sports Wall of Fame Policy 8711 be updated to read, “Inductees must have 
Richmond residency and have made a contribution to the Richmond 
Community.” 

  
 
 
 12. 2023 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(File Ref. No. 03-0905-01) (REDMS No. 7649224) 

CNCL-67 See Page CNCL-67 for full report  
  FINANCE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
  That the 2023 City of Richmond Consolidated Financial Statements as 

presented in Attachment 2 be approved. 

  
 
 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 
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 13. HOUSING AGREEMENT BYLAW NO. 10524 AND HOUSING 
AGREEMENT BYLAW NO. 10525 TO PERMIT THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND TO SECURE LOW-END MARKET RENTAL (LEMR) 
AND MARKET RENTAL UNITS AT 10611 AND 10751 RIVER DRIVE 
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-010524) (REDMS No. 7596452) 

CNCL-165 See Page CNCL-165 for full report  
  PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
  (1) That Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (10611 and 10751 

River Drive) Bylaw No. 10524 to permit the City to enter into a 
Housing Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto, in 
accordance with the requirements of section 483 of the Local 
Government Act, to secure the Low-End Market Rental (LEMR) 
Units required by rezoning application RZ 21-941625, be introduced 
and given first, second and third readings; and 

  (2) That Housing Agreement (Market Rental Housing) (10611 and 
10751 River Drive) Bylaw No. 10525 to permit the City to enter into a 
Housing Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto, in 
accordance with the requirements of section 483 of the Local 
Government Act, to secure the Market Rental Units required by 
Rezoning Application RZ 21-941625, be introduced and given first, 
second and third readings. 

  
 
 
 14. HOUSING AGREEMENT (AFFORDABLE HOUSING) BYLAW NO. 

10512 TO PERMIT THE CITY OF RICHMOND TO SECURE LOW 
END MARKET RENTAL (LEMR) UNITS AT 4651, 4671, 4691 SMITH 
CRESCENT, AND 23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 GILLEY ROAD 
(File Ref. No. 08-4057-05) (REDMS No. 7510319 

CNCL-213 See Page CNCL-213 for full report  
  PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
  That Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (4651, 4671, 4691 Smith 

Crescent, and 23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road) Bylaw No. 10512 to 
permit the City to enter into a Housing Agreement substantially in the form 
attached hereto, in accordance with requirements of Section 483 of the 
Local Government Act, to secure the Low End Market Rental (LEMR) 
Units required by rezoning application RZ 21-942276, be introduced and 
given first, second and third readings. 

  
 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 
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 15. APPLICATION BY KENNETH KIM ARCHITECTURE INC. FOR 
REZONING AT 6560 AND 6580 WILLIAMS ROAD FROM “SINGLE 
DETACHED (RS1/E)” ZONE TO “LOW DENSITY TOWNHOUSES 
(RTL4)” ZONE 
(File Ref. No. RZ 21-945388) (REDMS No. 7590174) 

CNCL-245 See Page CNCL-245 for full report  
  PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
  That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10546, for the 

rezoning of 6560 and 6580 Williams Road from “Single Detached (RS1/E)” 
zone to “Low Density Townhouses (RTL4)” zone, be introduced and given 
first, second and third reading. 

  
 
 
  *********************** 

CONSIDERATION OF MATTERS REMOVED FROM THE 
CONSENT AGENDA 

*********************** 
 

 
  PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS AND EVENTS 

 
 
  NEW BUSINESS 

 
 
  BYLAWS FOR ADOPTION 
 
  
CNCL-271 Traffic Bylaw No. 5870, Amendment Bylaw No. 10543  

Opposed at 1st/2nd/3rd Readings – None. 

  
 
 

Consent 
Agenda 

Item 
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CNCL-272 Traffic Bylaw No. 5870, Amendment Bylaw No. 10554 
Opposed at 1st/2nd/3rd Readings – None. 

CNCL-273 Annual Property Tax Rates (2024) Bylaw No. 10547 
Opposed at 1st/2nd/3rd Readings – None 

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PANEL 

16. RECOMMENDATION

CNCL-277 That the minutes of the Development Permit Panel meeting held on April
24, 2024 be received for information.

ADJOURNMENT 
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City of 
Richmond Minutes 

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee 

Date: 

Place: 

Present: 

Also Present: 

Call to Order: 

766 1011 

Tuesday, April 23, 2024 

Council Chambers 
Richmond City Hall 

Councillor Chak Au, Chair 
Councillor Michael Wolfe 
Councillor Laura Gillanders 
Councillor Andy Hobbs 
Councillor Bill McNulty 

Councillor Carol Day (entered the meeting at 4:01 p.m.) 

The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. 

MINUTES 

It was moved and seconded 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Parks, Recreation and Cultural 
Services Committee held on March 26, 2024, be adopted as circulated. 

CARRIED 

PRESENTATION 

Mandy Hadfield, Manager, Sports and Community Events, presented the 
Volunteer Video (copy on file, City Clerk's Office) in honour of National 
Volunteer Week (April 14-20, 2024), highlighting that the week celebrates the 
valuable contributions of community volunteers who have helped make 
Richmond a vibrant community. The video recognizes those who contributed 
over 55,000 hours of their time to various events, programs, and services 
within Richmond. 

In response to a query from Committee, staff noted that the video was created 
by the Media Lab with support from the Program Manager, Marketing, 
Community Services, and will be shown at the next Council meeting. 

1. 
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Parks, Recreation & Cultural Services Committee 
Tuesday, April 23, 2024 

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION 

1. DESIGNATED BMX TRACK AND PUMP TRACK FACILITIES 
(File Ref. No. 06-2345-01) (REDMS No. 7597668) 

Discussion ensued regarding Lower Mainland BMX track and pump track 
facilities reviewed in the case study. 

It was moved and seconded 
That Option 1, as outlined in the staff reported titled "Designated BMX 
Track and Pump Track Facilities", dated March 20, 2024, from the 
Director, Parks Services, be endorsed. 

CARRIED 

2. AQUATICS INSTRUCTOR AND LIFEGUARD SUBSIDY PROGRAM 
UPDATE 
(File Ref. No. 11-7143-01) (REDMS No. 7625305) 

In response to queries from Committee, staff advised that (i) there are funds to 
support the Instructor/Lifeguard Subsidy Program through 2024 and a 
continuation of the program can be considered with the 2025 budget process, 
(ii) while there is no longer a critical shortage of trained lifeguards in British 
Columbia, the City continues to be in need of additional aquatics instructors 
and lifeguards due to shifts in the workforce, (iii) the completion rate is higher 
for Subsidy Program candidates compared to non-Subsidy Program 
candidates, primarily due to the swim assessment and interview process as 
part of the Subsidy Program requirements, and (iv) increasing the availability 
of swim lessons is a priority. 

It was moved and seconded 
(1) That a subsidy program for aquatics instructors and lifeguards, as 

outlined in the report titled "Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard 
Subsidy Program Update", dated March 21, 2024, from the Director, 
Recreation and Sport Services, be endorsed; and 

(2) That a one-time additional level request to continue the subsidy 
program for aquatics instructors and lifeguards be considered in the 
2025 budget process. 

CARRIED 

2. 
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Parks, Recreation & Cultural Services Committee 
Tuesday,April23,2024 

3. MANAGER'S REPORT 

(i) Hugh Boyd Community Facility and Fieldhouse Project 

Staff provided a brief update on the stakeholder engagement plan, noting that 
a building committee comprised of 13 members representing various 
stakeholders and organizations with knowledge and understanding of local 
needs has convened. Staff noted that a report is forthcoming and expected to 
be presented at an upcoming Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services 
Committee meeting. 

In response to queries from Committee, staff advised that (i) public washroom 
facilities are included in the proposed plan and (ii) staff are currently 
developing a timeline for the project as part of the forthcoming staff report. 

Discussion ensued regarding the stakeholder groups included in the building 
committee and including a representative from the Musqueam Indian Band. 

As a result of the discussion, the following motion was introduced: 

It was moved and seconded 
That staff reach out to the Musqueam Indian Band to appoint a member to 
the building committee of the Hugh Boyd Community Facility and 
Fieldhouse project. 

The question on the motion was not called as discussion ensued regarding the 
composition of various committees and community groups. 

The question on the motion was then called and it was CARRIED. 

(ii) No. 3 Road Bark Park 

Staff provided an update on the No. 3 Road Bark Park ("Bark Park"), noting: 

■ Since the March 26, 2024 Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services 
(PRCS) Committee meeting, Parks staff have added new, more robust 
temporary barriers and enhanced interim signage throughout the Bark 
Park as well as along the trail around the Crown Packaging site Public 
Right of Passage; 

■ Following additional discussions, staff are further reviewing existing site 
conditions and enhancement options as outlined in the referral; 

■ Various considerations will be taken in'to account with respect to safety, 
parking lot access and impacts, potential conflict reduction, sensitivity 
around the Riparian Management Area, tree impacts, and allowances 
within the dike structure; and 

■ A staff report to the PRCS Committee is forthcoming, with a targeted 
meeting date of May 28, 2024. 

3. 
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Parks, Recreation & Cultural Services Committee 
Tuesday, April 23, 2024 

In response to a query from Committee, staff noted that they would be 
reaching out to the petition groups and various user groups prior to the report 
being presented at a future Committee meeting. 

(iii) Street Banner Program 

Discussion ensued regarding the City's street banner program. 

As a result of the discussion, the following referral motion was introduced: 

It was moved and seconded 
(1) That staff examine the possibility of installing street banners along 

No. 5 Road from Steveston Highway to Blundell Road; and 

(2) That staff provide further details of the street banner program 
including quantities, distribution, and placement of banners 

and report back. 

The question on the referral motion was not called as discussion ensued 
regarding (i) the current infrastructure in place on No. 5 Road and (ii) the cost 
to modify or install additional infrastructure. 

The question on the referral motion was then called and it was CARRIED. 

(iv) Minoru Chapel 

In response to a query from Committee, staff advised that background 
information on the Minoru Chapel operator will be provided via a staff 
memorandum. 

ADJOURNMENT 

It was moved and seconded 
That the meeting adjourn (4:35 p.m.). 

Councillor Chak Au 
Chair 

CARRIED 

Certified a true and correct copy of the 
Minutes of the meeting of the Parks, 
Recreation and Cultural Services 
Committee of the Council of the City of 
Richmond held on Tuesday, April 23, 
2024. 

Shannon Unrau 
Legislative Services Associate 

4. 
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Planning Committee 
Tuesday, May 7, 2024 

(iii) Bill 16

Staff noted that on April 25, 2024, the Provincial government passed Bill 16, 
the Housing Statutes Amendment Act, 2024, which supports the recent 
legislative changes intended to increase the supply of housing in BC. Bill 16 
provides local governments the authority to enact bylaws that facilitate the 
construction of more housing supply, including affordable housing. 

Discussion ensued regarding the main elements to the proposed legislation, 
including (i) allowing municipalities to secure affordable housing through 
inclusionary zoning, (ii) the ability for local government to secure site-level 
infrastructure, (iii) providing municipalities the ability to adopt tenant 
protection bylaws for rental sites undergoing redevelopment, and 
(iv) establishing a density bonus framework to parallel the inclusionary 
zoning.

(iv) 2024 Richmond Heritage Awards

Staff noted that nominations for the 2024 Richmond Heritage Awards are 
open to all community members and can be submitted from now until Sunday, 
May 26, 2024. 

(v) BC Hydro Connections

Discussion ensued regarding the need for more electrical connections in new 
builds and BC Hydro charges and fees for connections. 

Staff were directed to invite BC Hydro to a future Committee meeting to 
discuss the energy demands of the City and capacity concerns. 

ADJOURNMENT 

It was moved and seconded 
That the meeting adjourn (4:17 p.m.). 

Councillor Bill McNulty 
Chair 

CARRIED 

Certified a true and c01Tect copy of the 
Minutes of the meeting of the Planning 
Committee of the Council of the City of 
Richmond held on Tuesday, May 7, 2024. 

Shannon Unrau 
Legislative Services Associate 

3.
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To: 

From: 

City of 
. Richmond 

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services 
Committee 
Todd Gross 
Director, Parks Services 

Report to Committee 

Date: March 20, 2024 

File: 06-2345-01/2024-Vol
01

Re: Designated BMX Track and Pump Track Facilities 

Staff Recommendation 

That Option 1, as outlined in the staff reported titled "Designated BMX Track and Pump Track 
Facilities", dated March 20, 2024, from the Director, Parks Services, be endorsed. 

Todd Gross 
Director, Parks Services 
(604-247-4942) 

Att. l 

ROUTED TO: 

Recreation & Sport Services 

SENIOR STAFF REPORT REVIEW 

7597668 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

CONCURRENCE CONCURRENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER 

0 

� 

INITIALS: APPROVED BY CAO 

GJ �<ZA_A-· 
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Staff Report 

Origin 

At the May 25, 2022, Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee meeting, staff received 
the following referral: 

That staff analyze the concept of a designated BMX track and neighbourhood pump 
track, and report back with potential sites, estimated costs and possible funding sources. 

The purpose of this report is to respond to the referral. 

This report supports Council's Strategic Plan 2022-2026 Focus Area #3 A Safe and Prepared 
Community: 

Community safety and preparedness through effective planning, strategic partnerships 
and proactive programs. 

3. 4 Ensure civic infrastructure, assets and resources are effectively maintained and 
continue to meet the needs of the community as it grows. 

This report supports Council's Strategic Plan 2022-2026 Focus Area #6 A Vibrant, Resilient and 
Active Community: 

Vibrant, resilient and active communities supported by a wide variety of opportunities to 
get involved, build relationships and access resources. 

6.1 Advance a variety of program, services, and community amenities to support diverse 
needs and interests and activate the community. 

6. 2 Enhance the City's network of parks, trails and open spaces. 

6.3 Foster intercultural harmony, community belonging, and social connections. 

Background 

Publicly accessible bike park facilities afford opportunities to recreate, develop and hone bike 
skills for a broad range of ages and abilities. They are an important component of the City of 
Richmond's parks and open space provision. The referral mentions both a "designated BMX 
track" and "neighbourhood pump track," which are two distinct facility types with unique design 
and planning considerations, functional requirements, target users and operating models. 

A key difference between the two facility types is in their governance and operation. Designated 
BMX (bicycle motocross) track facilities in British Columbia are governed by either BMX 
Canada or Union Cycliste Internationale (UCI), which are known as sanctioning bodies. These 
organizations establish and enforce competition rules, qualifications and responsibilities of 
participants, including facility owners and operators. Sanctioning bodies are also responsible for 
providing insurance coverage, and organizing and scheduling race events. Designated BMX 
track facilities are typically operated by non-profit volunteer societies or clubs that are 

7597668 
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March 20, 2024 - 3 -

responsible for facility administration, maintenance and collection of participant membership 
and event entry fees that go to the sanctioning body. 

Pump tracks are provided among typical public park amenities and maintained by the City 
without additional oversight or management considerations. 

The following table compares the primary functions, design features, operating models and 
additional considerations of designated BMX track and pump track facilities. 

Table 1. Comparison of Designated BMX Track and Pump Track Facilities 

Designated BMX Track Pump Track 

• Race/practice course with ability to • Skills park for non-

Primary 
host local, provincial, national and competitive uses. 

Function 
international competitions. • Could host sponsored race 

events, depending on facility 
type/ quality. 

• Subject to standards established by • Best practices should be 
BMX Canada/UCL followed. 

• Tracks are typically 300-400 metres • No applicable design 

Design 
long and consist of a series of jumps standards. 

Standards 
and bumps with banked comers. 

• Requires specialized competition 
features, e.g., start gates. 

• Typically located within a fenced 
enclosure. 

Operating • Typically operated and maintained • City operated and maintained. 

Model 
by a non-profit volunteer 
society I club. 

• Closed to the public for practice and • Open to the public during 
race events, as well as during standard park operating hours. 

Public Access 
inclement weather to avoid track 
damage. 

• Open to the public (free of charge) 
at other times. 

• Requires additional facilities such as • No specific accompanying 

Facility parking and drop-off areas, facility requirements, though 

Requirements 
washrooms, concessions, secure access, parking, rest areas, 
storage space for loaner bicycles and washrooms, etc., should be 
helmets, tools, first aid supplies, etc. considered. 

7597668 
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Designated BMX Track Pump Track 

• Larger minimum area requirements • Less prescriptive area and 
due to established track standards program requirements, 
and program/facility requirements. therefore it can be 

Area • Estimated range from 4,000 to accommodated on a broader 
Requirements 12,000 square metres in size, range of sites. 

excluding parking areas. • Estimated range from 1,000 to 
4,000 square metres in size, 
excluding parking areas. 

• Typically located away from • Can be accommodated on 
Site residential areas due to the nature of smaller park sites with fewer 

Considerations activities, size and facility constraints and facility 
requirements. requirements. 

Currently, the City of Richmond owns and operates two bike park facilities: the Richmond Bike 
Terrain Park and the Railway Granville Bike Parle The former is a non-competitive skills park 
while the latter is a pump track. While the City does not monitor use of park facilities and thus 
does not have usage statistics, it is understood that each bike park facility is well-used by a 
dedicated user group. The following section provides an overview of each facility, its features 
and target users. 

Richmond Bike Terrain Park 

The Richmond Bike Terrain Park is located within Garden City Community Park (9071 
Granville A venue - refer to Attachment 1) and opened to the public in 2014. Approximately 
3,600 square metres in size, it offers a broad range of features including a start hill, technical 
skills zone with timber elements, pump tracks, wood ramps and dirt jumps. It also includes 
seating and picnic areas. The Richmond Bike Terrain Park caters to skill levels ranging from 
beginner to expert, and is predominantly oriented toward wheeled users on bicycles, including 
BMX, freestyle, and mountain bikes. 

Railway Granville Bike Park 

The Railway Granville Bike Park is located along the Railway Greenway (5000 Granville 
A venue - refer to Attachment 1) and opened to the public in 2021. Approximately 2,400 square 
metres in size, it offers a central platform deck, paved pump track along with a complement of 
technical balancing features such as logs and wood decks. The Railway Granville Bike Park 
caters to skill levels ranging from beginner to advanced, and is oriented toward wheeled users of 
all kinds, such as those on bicycles (including BMX bikes), skateboards, scooters, and in-line 
skates. 

7597668 
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Analysis 

The following section presents local examples of designated BMX track and pump track 
facilities, along with considerations for design and operation. It has been informed by 
discussions with subject matter experts, including those involved with BMX organizations and 
the provision of bike park design-build services in the Lower Mainland. The Lower Mainland 
case study locations, along with select images, are included in Attachment 1. 

Lower Mainland Case Studies - Designated BMX Tracks 

Langley BMX (4375 206 Street, Langley) 

Langley BMX was established in 1978 and is the oldest BMX track in British Columbia. Located 
within a BC Hydro right-of-way on Township of Langley property, the facility is approximately 
9,500 square metres in size, excluding parking areas. It is operated by a non-profit volunteer 
society, sanctioned by BMX Canada, and open to the public on non-race and practice days from 
dawn to dusk. Langley BMX hosts approximately 40 race events and 25 practice events each 
season, and reported approximately 200 members at the start of last season. On-site facilities 
include washrooms and a storage shed. 

North Shore BMX (1 Inter River Park Road, North Vancouver) 

North Shore BMX was established in 2008. Located at the southern end oflnter River Park, the 
facility is approximately 4,900 square metres in size, excluding parking areas. It is operated by a 
non-profit volunteer society, sanctioned by BMX Canada, and open to the public on non-race 
and practice days from dawn to dusk. North Shore BMX hosts approximately 20 race events and 
35 practice events each season, and reported approximately 140 members at the start oflast 
season. The BMX track is co-located with the Inter River Bike Skills Park and on-site facilities 
include a public washroom and storage shed. 

Lower Mainland Case Studies - Pump Tracks 

Inter River Bike Skills Park (1 Inter River Park Road, North Vancouver) 

Inter River Bike Skills Park was established in 2019. Co-located with North Shore BMX at the 
southern end oflnter River Park, the facility is approximately 3,100 square metres in size. Its 
features cater to skill levels ranging from beginner to advanced and include a paved pump track, 
dirt jump area, gravel track, timber elements, seating and viewing areas. The facility is operated 
and maintained by the District of North Vancouver. 

Empire Field Bike Park (2901 East Hastings Street, Vancouver) 

Empire Field Bike Park was established in 2015. Located within Hastings Park, the facility is 
approximately 1,200 square metres in size. Its features cater to skill levels ranging from beginner 
to advanced and include a dirt pump track, dirt jumps, and timber elements. The facility is 
operated and maintained by the City of Vancouver. 
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Community Demand/Need 

In December 2023, the findings of the Sports Facility Needs Assessment were endorsed by 
Council. This study included a comprehensive engagement process that sought input from local 
sport organizations that use City facilities and the community associations and societies that 
program City community centres. The resulting Sport Facility and Infrastructure Priority List 
identified through this process did not include a designated BMX bike track or pump track 
facility. 

To date, there has not been any correspondence from residents or user groups expressing a 
community desire or need for an additional bike park facility in the City. Community 
engagement completed as part ofrecent park design studies, e.g., for Aberdeen Neighbourhood 
Park, Alexandra Neighbourhood Park and Tait Waterfront Park, did not reveal a community 
need/desire for a designated BMX track and/or additional pump track facility. 

Potential Sites 

As noted in Table 1, designated BMX tracks and pump tracks each have distinct design and 
spatial requirements. A pump track, with a smaller footprint, fewer associated facility/program 
requirements and design standards, could be more easily accommodated within neighbourhood 
parks; parks such as Tait Waterfront Park (9991 River Drive) and McLean Neighbourhood Park 
(22500 McLean Avenue) may be suitable for such a facility. A designated BMX track, with a 
larger footprint, more rigid design standards and associated facility requirements, would be less 
suited to a neighbourhood park within a residential area. It may be better suited to more isolated 
park sites such as Model Airplane Park (12851 Rice Mill Road) or Hamilton Highway Park 
(4571 Thompson Road). 

Beyond meeting criteria for design, functionality and compatibility, a future bike park facility 
planning process should identify and consider underserved areas of the City, e.g., East Richmond 
and Hamilton. 

Potential Costs 

As evident from the Lower Mainland case studies, designated BMX track and pump track 
facilities come in a broad range of sizes and configurations. Given the multitude of factors, 
including total site area, required associated facilities and program, it is difficult to provide an 
accurate estimate of costs without further project definition. The distinct operating model for 
designated BMX tracks, whereby non-profit volunteer societies or clubs assume administrative 
and maintenance tasks, poses an additional challenge for quantifying and estimating operational 
costs. 

For reference, the Railway Granville Bike Park project was completed in 2021 at a cost of 
approximately $412,000. This included the combined efforts of an external design-build 
company and City forces to construct a small (approximately 2,400 square metres) pump track. 
The total costs included fees related to planning, design, community engagement and 
construction. The Railway Granville Bike Park has an annual Operating Budget Impact (OBI) of 
approximately $10,000. 
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Based on discussions with local subject matter experts and a review ofBMX Canada, BMX USA 
and UCI documentation, it is estimated that an order of magnitude cost for a designated BMX 
track could range from $500,000 to over $10,000,000, depending on the amenities provided. 
Operating costs would be commensurate with design and facilities provided. As an example, 
staff at Langley BMX estimate approximately $50,000 in annual operating costs. 

Potential land acquisition costs have not been considered as part of this initial study. 

Potential Funding Sources 

In order to fund such a project, a future capital funding request (as part of the City's five-year 
capital planning process) would be required. Grant funding opportunities may be available to 
offset the financial burden on the City; however, this would be contingent on factors such as 
project type, target user groups, community partners and timing. 

Next Steps 

Upon review of designated BMX track and pump track planning and design requirements and 
demonstrated community demand/need, staff have identified two options for consideration by 
Council. 

Option 1 - Monitor Community Demand/Need (Recommended) 

Option 1 is to proceed with the status quo and continue to monitor community demand/need for a 
designated BMX track and/or additional pump track facility. Any input received from residents, 
e.g., via individual correspondence, feedback through future community engagement processes, 
park design studies, Parks and Open Space Strategy updates, will be recorded by staff and taken 
into consideration for future capital planning. Staff will consider ways to engage bike park users 
and invite feedback on existing facilities, e.g., through use of on-site signage. If and when a 
conclusive community demand/need is demonstrated, staff would initiate a citywide public 
engagement process to confirm community preferences for a new bike park facility. 

This option is recommended, as community demand/need for a designated BMX track and/or 
additional pump track has not been demonstrated to date. Additionally, this approach would 
allow staff to continue to be responsive to emerging trends and desires while focussing on 
administering the established Parks capital program. Should Council endorse this option, no 
further action would be required at this time. 

Option 2 - Conduct Community Demand/Needs Analysis (Not recommended) 

Option 2 is to conduct a community demand/needs analysis for a designated BMX track and/or 
additional pump track facility. This process would be led by staff and utilize established City 
public engagement approaches (e.g., Let's Talk Richmond) to reach residents, community 
associations and sports organizations. It would seek to determine the level of community 
demand/need for a designated BMX track and/or additional pump track facility, and resident 
preferences for facility type and location. Following the conclusion of this process, staff would 
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report to Council with the findings of the community demand/needs analysis, including 
community preferences for facility type and location, and recommended next steps. 

This option is not recommended, as community demand/need for a designated BMX track and/or 
additional pump track facility has not been demonstrated to date, and this approach may delay 
work on existing priorities in the established Parks capital program. 

Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

In response to the referral, staff have studied the concept of a designated BMX track and pump 
track, as well as provided an overview of local case studies, design and operational 
considerations, potential sites, potential costs and funding sources. 

To date, community demand/need for additional bike park facilities in Richmond has not been 
demonstrated. The recent Sports Facility Needs Assessment, which included a comprehensive 
citywide engagement process, did not identify a designated BMX track or pump track as a 
priority project for the community, nor did it reveal organized user groups who may have a 
vested interest in such a facility. The City's two existing bike park facilities, the Richmond Bike 
Terrain Park and Railway Granville Bike Park, are being maintained in good working order and 
appear to be meeting the needs of the local riding community. Staff have not received 
correspondence from residents or user groups expressing a community demand/need for an 
additional bike park facility in the City. 

For next steps, Option 1 is recommended, as it will allow staff to continue to administer the 
established Parks capital program, monitor community demand/need for a designated BMX track 
and/or additional pump track facility, and conduct further engagement and analysis if and when 
it is demonstrated. With Council endorsement, no further action is required at this time. 

Kevin Fraser 
Research Planner 2 
(604-233-3311) 

Att. 1: Lower Mainland Case Studies 
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To: 

City of 
,, Richmond 

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services 
Committee 

Report to Committee 

Date: March 21, 2024 

From: Keith Miller File: 11-7143-01/2024-Vol
Director, Recreation and Sport Services 01

Re: Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard Subsidy Program Update 

Staff Recommendations 

1. That a subsidy program for aquatics instructors and lifeguards, as outlined in the report
titled "Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard Subsidy Program Update", dated March 21,
2024, from the Director, Recreation and Sport Services, be endorsed; and

2. That a one-time additional level request to continue the subsidy program for aquatics
instructors and lifeguards be considered in the 2025 budget process.

� 
Keith Miller 
Director, Recreation and Sport Services 
(604-247-4475) 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

ROUTED TO: 

Finance Department 
Community Social Development 
Human Resources 

SENIOR STAFF REPORT REVIEW 

7625305 

CONCURRENCE CONCURRENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER 

0 

0 

0 

INITIALS: APPROVED BY CAO 

af 
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Staff Report 

Origin 

At the Regular Council meeting held on October 11, 2022, Council endorsed the following 
resolutions: 

That a subsidy program for lifeguard training courses be developed on a trial basis as 
outlined in the staff report titled "Instructor/Lifeguard Recruitment Initiatives"; and 

That $33,750 be allocated from the Council Contingency account for the lifeguard 
subsidy program. 

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the impact of the trial and to seek Council's 
approval for the continuation of the aquatics instructor and lifeguard subsidy program. 

This report supports Council's Strategic Plan 2022-2026, Focus Area #6 A Vibrant, Resilient 
and Active Community: 

Vibrant, resilient and active communities supported by a wide variety of opportunities to 
get involved, build relationships and access resources. 

6.1 Advance a variety of program, services, and community amenities to support diverse 
needs and interests and activate the community. 

6. 3 Foster intercultural harmony, community belonging, and social connections. 

6. 4 Support vulnerable populations through collaborative and sustainable programs and 
services. 

This report supports the Recreation and Sport Strategy 2019-2024, Focus Area #6 Community 
Capacity Building: 

Collaborations, partnerships and volunteerism are strengthened to expand the reach and 
impact of recreation and sport in Richmond. 

6. Develop and implement career awareness, preparation and development strategies to 
attract and educate new leaders. 

This report also supports the 2021-2031 Collaborative Action Plan to Reduce and Prevent 
Poverty in Richmond, Strategic Direction #1 Reduce and Prevent Poverty: 

1.4 Expand work experience, mentorship, and upskilling opportunities for residents at 
risk of or living in poverty 

Background 

Corning out of the COVID-19 pandemic, the City experienced a shortage of lifeguards and 
swimming instructors (lifeguards). This was largely a result ofreduced training and certification 
courses being offered during that time. One of several initiatives implemented to increase access 
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to qualified lifeguard candidates was the introduction of a subsidy program for Richmond 
residents who face financial barriers to completing the training required to become a lifeguard. 

Becoming a lifeguard involves extensive training and successful completion of several courses in 
lifesaving, lifeguarding, first aid and swimming instruction. The maximum time commitment to 
complete all courses required to become a lifeguard is currently 180 hours, at a total estimated 
cost of $2,500. As the courses are progressive and taken in sequence, the cumulative training 
typically takes three to six months on average to complete. 

Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard Subsidy Program Trial 

The "Instructor/Lifeguard Subsidy Program" (the Program) trial was launched in May of 2023 to 
address the lifeguard sho1iage by enabling Richmond residents from low-income households to 
pursue a career as an aquatics instructor or lifeguard. The Program aligns with the criteria used 
by the City's Recreation Fee Subsidy Program to assess financial need. Once approved, the 
Program provides each candidate with a 90 per cent subsidy for each course. 

In addition to being a Richmond resident, applicants must meet the following criteria to be 
eligible for the Program: 

• Financial eligibility requirements that align with the Recreation Fee Subsidy Program; 
• Successfully completes an in-person swim assessment, including: 

o Evaluation of swimming strokes and fitness, and; 
o Ability to swim 400 metres continuously using recognizable swimming strokes; 

• Demonstrates motivation and commitment to completing all training courses required to 
become an aquatics instructor or lifeguard; and 

• Demonstrates interest in a career or position in aquatics. 

In addition to the financial screening and skills assessment, each applicant is interviewed to 
determine their suitability and commitment to completing the required courses. Once approved, 
staff monitor the candidates throughout their participation, and all graduates are given a job 
interview and considered for a position in aquatics with the City of Richmond. 

The Program is being promoted on the City's website, to Recreation Fee Subsidy Program 
participants, at the Community Services Pop Ups, and through community organizations, 
including Richmond School District No. 38. 

Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard Subsidy Program Trial Results 

A program of this nature has a limited target audience and, as already noted, takes time, 
extensive effort and commitment to complete. Since its launch last May, the Program trial has 
yielded favourable results, as listed in Table 1 on the following page. 

7625305 

CNCL - 60



March 21, 2024 - 4 -

Table 1: Subsidy Program Trial Results - May 2023 to March 2024 

Subsidy Proqram Trial Results 
Total No. of Applicants 20 
No. of Applicants Approved 16 
No. of Applicants Under Review 0 
No. of Candidates in Program 13 
No. of Candidates Completed Program 3 
No. of Candidates Hired 2* 
Total Spent to Date $11,600 
Total Projected Cost (to December 31, 2024) $14,000 
Total Estimated Cost for Current Candidates $25,600 

*One additional candidate is currently going through the hiring process. 

The results indicate that there is interest in the Program and, while preliminary, it is anticipated 
that most, if not all, candidates completing the Program will be offered employment with the 
City. 

Proposed Continuation of the Aquatics Instructor and Lifeguard Subsidy Program 

Due to the success of the trial and continued interest in the Program, it is recommended that the 
City continue this initiative through 2025, in accordance with the following eligibility criteria: 

• Applicants must meet financial eligibility requirements that align with the Recreation Fee 
Subsidy Program; 

• Applicants must successfully complete an in-person swim assessment, including: 
o Evaluation of swimming strokes and fitness; and 
o Ability to swim 400 metres continuously using recognizable swimming strokes; 

• Applicants must demonstrate motivation and commitment to completing all training 
courses required to become an aquatics instructor or lifeguard; and 

• Applicants must demonstrate interest in a career or position in aquatics with the City of 
Richmond. 

Upon approval and acceptance into the Program, the following conditions will apply: 

• Candidates will be provided a 90 per cent subsidy on courses required for employment as 
an aquatics instructor and lifeguard with the City; and 

• Candidates must complete the required training within 18 months of approval. 

Furthennore, staff recommend a limit of 20 candidates per year, as this is a number we anticipate 
being able to provide employment for. If approved, staff will continue to review and evaluate the 
impacts of the Program over the next 18 months, including an assessment of future staffing needs 
in Aquatics, as well as emerging staffing needs in other areas of the City. 

While there is no longer a critical shortage of trained lifeguards in British Columbia, the City of 
Richmond continues to be in need of additional aquatics instructors and lifeguards. To that end, 
there is proven interest in the Program and continued investment in training for those that would 
not otherwise be able to afford it, thus increasing the City's access to committed and trained 
aquatics professionals. The Program aligns with several Council approved strategies, including 
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the Recreation and Sport Strategy (2019-2024), and the 2021-2031 Collaborative Action Plan to 
Reduce and Prevent Poverty in Richmond. 

Lifeguarding is an exciting job that promotes teamwork, develops leadership and communication 
skills, and encourages fitness and well being. It is a position that requires skill, commitment and 
extensive training, and comes with flexible employment. Lifeguarding can be considered as a 
career option, or as excellent training for careers in a variety of fields including local 
government, education, firefighting, or health care. 

Financial Impact 

There are enough funds remaining from the previously approved allocation from the Council 
Contingency account for the Program through 2024. 

Operational costs for the Program are projected to be $45,000 in 2025. Upon Council 
endorsement to continue the subsidy program, a one-time additional level of $45,000 to support 
the Program costs beyond 2024 will be submitted for consideration with the 2025 budget 
process. 

Conclusion 

A subsidy program for aquatics instructors and lifeguards has proven to be of interest to residents 
of Richmond. An ongoing commitment to the Program will provide significant financial supp01i 
for residents from low income households to attain the training required to achieve meaningful 
employment as a lifeguard. Furthermore, the Program will support the recruitment of aquatics 
instructors and lifeguards by providing the City with a greater number of committed and trained 
professionals to support the delivery of quality aquatic services across the City. 

Kirsten Close 
Manager, Aquatics and Community Wellness 
604-238-8041 
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To: 

From: 

City of 
Richmond 

General Purposes Committee 

Joshua Reis 
Program Manager, Development 

Report to Committee 

Date: April 12, 2024 

File: 01-0172-02/2024-
Vol 01 

Re: Amendment to the Appointment of an Approving Officer 

Staff Recommendation 

That the appointment of Joe Erceg as Approving Officer for the City, as per Council Resolution 
S03/5-02, adopted by Council on October 20, 2003, be rescinded. 

Joshua Reis, MCIP, RPP, AICP 
Program Manager, Development 
(604-204-8653) 

JR:ps 

7649221 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

INITIALS: 

APPROVED BY CAO 
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Staff Report 

Origin 

The current appointments to the position of Approving Officers are: Wayne Craig, General 
Manager, Planning and Development (formerly Director, Development) and Paul Sandhu, 
Approving Officer/ Program Manager, Subdivision and Servicing, responsible for the day-to-day 
functions of the Approving Officer. In the case of their absence, Joshua Reis, Program Manager, 
Development and Suzanne Smith, Program Manager, Development and Joe Erceg (fonnerly 
General Manager, Planning and Development) are also appointed as an Approving Officer. 

This Staff Report seeks to amend the Approving Officer appointments to reflect a change in 
staffing resulting from a staff retirement. 

Analysis 

The authority for Council to appoint an Approving Officer is found in Section 77 of the Land 
Title Act. The role of the Approving Officer is to review and approve or deny subdivision or 
consolidation of land within the City. The position of the Approving Officer is best handled by 
management staff involved in the day-to-day activities of the Development Applications 
Department. It is typical practice for municipalities to assign Deputy Approving Officers to 
provide back up coverage during vacations and absences. 

Joe Erceg was originally appointed as an Approving Officer by Council on October 20, 2003, 
and had served as a back up to the day-to-day approval activities of the current appointed 
Approving Officers. As Joe Erceg has recently retired from the City of Richmond, his 
appointment as an Approving Officer for the City should be rescinded, in order to clarify current 
Approving Officer appointments. 

Accordingly, the City's Approving Officer would formally be Wayne Craig, with the day-to-day 
approvals handled by Paul Sandhu with back up by Joshua Reis and Suzanne Smith. 

Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

As a result of a staff retirement, it is recommended that Joe Erceg's appointment to the position 
of Approving Officer be rescinded. 

/fs,..._J _ 
Paul Sandhu, DiplT, AScT 
Program Manager, Subdivision and Servicing 
(604-276-4237) 

PS:js 
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Clarification of Wall of Fame Policy- Motion from Cllr. Bill McNulty 

Background: 

As a member of the Richmond Sports Wall of Fame Committee since its inception in 2014, the 
issue of residency of nominees has often been a topic of discussion. It would be helpful to the 
Committee to have more direction from Council on this issue. In particular, both Richmond 
residency and contributions to the community are hand in hand in what makes someone a 
suitable candidate for the Wall of Fame. However, the Council approved policy for the 
Committee (the TOR) does not necessarily make this clear. The Policy currently states the 
following: 

4. Inductees must have residency or strong connection to the Richmond 
Community. Preference will be given to individuals who lived in Richmond during their 
participation in either their sport or related activities. 

In order to provide the Committee clearer direction in alignment with what is important to 
Council, I am making the following motion: 

That the current number 4 be deleted and that point 4 of the Richmond Sports Wall of Fame 
Policy 8711 be updated to read, "Inductees must have Richmond residency and have made a 
contribution to the Richmond Community." 

Of course, as always Council may make exceptions to the Policy at any time as there may be any 
number of individual circumstances. However, this change to the Policy will assist the 
Committee in its decision making and recommendations to Council for inductees to the 
Richmond Sports Wall of Fame. 
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City of 
Richmond 

Sports Wall of Fame 

Adopted by Council: October 14, 2014 

Policy Manual 

Polic_y 8711 

Amended by Council: February 23, 2015, June 13, 2016, July 10, 2017, July 24, 2017 

POLICY 8711: 

It is Council policy that: 

1. The Richmond Sports Wall of Fame located at the Richmond Olympic Oval will showcase 
Richmond's sporting history. 

2. Inductees to the Wall of Fame may come from any sport or related activities. For the 
purposes of this policy, "Sport" is defined as any competitive, physical activity governed by a 
specific set of rules. 

3. Inductees to the Richmond Sports Wall of Fame will be approved by Council based on 
recommendations from a Nominating Committee. 

4. Inductees must have residency or strong connection to the Richmond community. 
Preference will be given to individuals who lived in Richmond during their participation in 
either their sport or related activities. 

5. Inductees will be nominated in one or more of the following eight categories: 

a. Athlete 
b. Masters Athlete 
c. Team 
d. Builder 
e. Official 
f. Coach 
g. Pioneer 
h. Special Achievement 

6. Inductees will be invited to an Induction Ceremony to be held a minimum of every three 
years. 
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To: 

From: 

City of 
Richmond 

Finance Committee 
Mike Ching 
Director, Finance 

Report to Committee 

Date: April 10, 2024 
File: 03-0905-01/2024-Vol

01
Re: 2023 Consolidated Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation 

That the 2023 City of Richmond Consolidated Financial Statements as presented in Attachment 
2 be approved. 

!6Ching 
Director, Finance 
(604-276-4137) 

Att. 3 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

CONCURRENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER 

� 
SENIOR STAFF REPORT REVIEW INITIALS: 

APPROVED BY CAO 

�� 
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Staff Report 

Origin 

Sections 98 and 167 of the Community Charter require that the City of Richmond (the City) 
prepare annual audited financial statements. The City’s audited consolidated financial statements 
for 2023 have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards as 
prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of 
Canada. 

This report supports Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-2026 Focus Area #4 Responsible Financial 
Management and Governance: 

Responsible financial management and efficient use of public resources to meet the needs 
of the community. 

4.1 Ensure effective financial planning to support a sustainable future for the City. 

4.3 Foster community trust through open, transparent and accountable budgeting 
practices and processes. 

Analysis 

KPMG LLP (KPMG) has been appointed by City Council to independently audit the City’s 
consolidated financial statements. They have expressed an opinion, that the City’s consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
the City as at December 31, 2023, and its consolidated results of operation, its consolidated 
changes in net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The complete Audit Findings 
Report is included as Attachment 1. 

The annual financial statements and the auditor’s report for the year ended December 31, 2023 
are included as Attachment 2. 

The consolidated financial statements combine the accounts of the City of Richmond, Richmond 
Olympic Oval and Richmond Public Library. The City’s investment in Lulu Island Energy 
Company, a wholly owned government business enterprise, is accounted for using the modified 
equity method. Further information about the basis of consolidation is listed in Note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements.  

An analysis of the consolidated financial statements as prepared by management is provided in 
the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (FSD&A) included in Attachment 3. The 
FSD&A explains the significant differences in the financial statements between the reported year 
and the previous year as well as between budgeted and actual results. This analysis is intended to 
be read in conjunction with the 2023 audited consolidated financial statements. 
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Adoption of new accounting standards 

New Public Sector accounting standards (PS) were adopted effective for the 2023 consolidated 
financial statements. The new standards include: 

1. PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations. This standard addresses the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of obligations relating to the retirement of 
assets. Further details are provided in Attachment 2, Note 9. 

2. PS 3450 Financial Instruments and related standards. This standard addresses the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of obligations relating to financial 
instruments and foreign currency transactions. The adoption of these standards did not 
have any impact on the amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements.  

 
Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

The City’s audited consolidated financial statements for 2023 have been prepared in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting 
Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. As noted in the Auditors’ Report, it 
is the Auditors’ opinion that these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2023, and its 
consolidated results of operation, its consolidated changes in net financial assets and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

 
 
 
Cindy Gilfillan, CPA, CMA 
Manager, Financial Reporting 
(604-276-4077) 
 
CG:cg 
 
Att. 1: Audit Findings Report for the year ended December 31, 2023 
  2: 2023 City of Richmond Consolidated Financial Statements 
 3: 2023 Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis  
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ve
nu

e 
w

as
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 re
co

gn
iz

ed
, o

r t
he

 a
m

ou
nt

 w
as

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

ly
 d
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t c
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t p
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.
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 c
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 p
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l p
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 re
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 d
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l p
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 d
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l c
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r b

as
ed

 o
n 

ch
an

ge
s 

in
 o

pe
ra

tio
ns

.

˗
W

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

an
 e

xp
ec

ta
tio

n 
fo

r t
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 y
ea

r s
al

ar
ie

s 
an

d 
be

ne
fit

s
ex

pe
ns

e 
ba

se
d 

on
 th

e 
pr

io
r y

ea
r e

xp
en

se
 a

dj
us

te
d 

fo
r c

ha
ng

es
 in

 h
ea

d 
co

un
t, 

pa
y 

ra
te

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r n

on
-re

cu
rri

ng
 it

em
s.

 W
e 

co
m

pa
re

d 
ou

r e
xp

ec
ta

tio
n 

to
 th

e 
ac

tu
al

 s
al

ar
ie

s 
an

d 
be

ne
fit

s
ex

pe
ns

e 
re

co
rd

ed
 a

nd
 c

or
ro

bo
ra

te
d 

an
y 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 v

ar
ia

nc
es

 n
ot

ed
. 

˗
W

e 
pe

rfo
rm

ed
 s

ub
st

an
tiv

e 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 o
ve

r e
xp

en
se

s,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
an

d 
vo

uc
hi

ng
 a

 s
am

pl
e 

of
ex

pe
ns

es
 to

 u
nd

er
ly

in
g 

su
pp

or
tin

g 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n,

 e
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 p
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, c
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 D
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t o
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at
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 c
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 b
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 c
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 d
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 p
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 re
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 b
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 c
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 c
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 c
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 d
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 c
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(Letterhead of City of Richmond) 

MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER 

KPMG LLP 
P.O. Box 10426  
777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver, BC V5Y 1K3 

Date of Council’s acceptance of the financial statements 

We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as “financial 
statements”) of the City of Richmond (the “City”) as at and for the period ended December 31, 2023. 

General: 

We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as 
set out in Attachment I to this letter. 

We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Responsibilities: 

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated
October 26, 2022, including for:

a) the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and believe that these
financial statements have been prepared and present fairly in accordance with the
relevant financial reporting framework.

b) providing you with all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the financial statements (“relevant information”), such as financial
records, documentation and other matters, including:

˗ the names of all related parties and information regarding all relationships and
transactions with related parties; and

˗ the complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for
which minutes have not yet been prepared, of Council and committees of Council 
that may affect the financial statements. All significant actions are included in such 
summaries. 

c) providing you with unrestricted access to such relevant information.

d) providing you with complete responses to all enquiries made by you during the
engagement.

e) providing you with additional information that you may request from us for the purpose
of the engagement.

f) providing you with unrestricted access to persons within the City from whom you
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

g) such internal control as we determined is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. We also acknowledge and understand that we are responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.
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h) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are
reflected in the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting: 

2) We have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or
maintenance of internal control over financial reporting of which we are aware.

Fraud & non-compliance with laws and regulations: 

3) We have disclosed to you:

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of that involves:

˗ management;

˗ employees who have significant roles in internal control over financial reporting; or

˗ others;

where such fraud or suspected fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the
financial statements, communicated by employees, former employees, analysts,
regulators, or others.

d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations, including all aspects of contractual agreements, whose effects should be
considered when preparing financial statements.

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements.

Subsequent events: 

4) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant
financial reporting framework requires adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements
have been adjusted or disclosed.

Related parties: 

5) We have disclosed to you the identity of the City’s related parties.

6) We have disclosed to you all the related party relationships and transactions/balances of
which we are aware.

7) All related party relationships and transactions/balances have been appropriately accounted
for and disclosed in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework.

Estimates: 

8) The methods, the data and the significant assumptions used in making accounting
estimates, and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

Going concern: 

9) We have provided you with all information relevant to the use of the going concern
assumption in the financial statements.
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10) We confirm that we are not aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the City’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Other information: 

11) We confirm that the final version of the 2023 annual report will be provided to you when
available, and prior to issuance by the City, to enable you to complete your required
procedures in accordance with professional standards.

Non-SEC registrants or non-reporting issuers: 

12) We confirm that the City is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any applicable
Canadian securities act) and is not a United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

13) We also confirm that the financial statements of the City will not be included in the group
financial statements of a Canadian reporting issuer audited by KPMG or an SEC Issuer
audited by any member of the KPMG organization.

Employee future benefits: 

14) The employee future benefits costs, assets and obligation have been determined,
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the financial reporting framework.

15) The information provided by us to George & Bell Consulting (the “Expert”) and used in the
work and findings of the Expert are complete and accurate. We agree with the findings of the
Expert in evaluating post-employment future benefits and have adequately considered the
qualifications of the Expert in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the financial
statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give nor cause any instructions to
be given to the Expert with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias
their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an impact on the
independence and objectivity of the Expert.

Yours very truly, 

______________________________________ 
Serena Lusk, Chief Administrative Officer 

______________________________________ 
Jerry Chong, General Manager, Finance  
and Corporate Services 

______________________________________ 
Mike Ching, Director, Finance 

______________________________________ 
Cindy Gilfillan, Manager, Financial Reporting 

cc: Richmond City Council 
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Attachment I – Definitions 
Materiality 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. 

Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by 
perception of the needs of, or the characteristics of, the users of the financial statements and the 
size or nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both while also considering the entity’s own 
circumstances. 

Information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar effect for users of 
financial statements to omitting or misstating that information. The following are examples of 
circumstances that may result in material information being obscured: 

a) information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is disclosed in the financial
statements but the language used is vague or unclear;

b) information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is scattered throughout the
financial statements;

c) dissimilar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately aggregated;

d) similar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately disaggregated; and

e) the understandability of the financial statements is reduced as a result of material
information being hidden by immaterial information to the extent that a primary user is
unable to determine what information is material.

Fraud & error 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets. It is often accompanied by false 
or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have 
been pledged without proper authorization. 
An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure. 
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Attachment II – Summary of Audit Misstatements Schedules 
Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements 

There were no uncorrected audit misstatements noted. 

Summary of Corrected Audit Misstatements 
There were no corrected audit misstatements noted. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Richmond 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Richmond (the “City”), which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023 

 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the City as at December 31, 2023, and its consolidated results of operations, 
its consolidated changes in net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.  

We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the City’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
Vancouver, Canada 
Date 
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 1 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022 
 

  2023 2022 

 
Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 321,479 $ 654,651 
Investments (note 4) 1,380,383 921,493 
Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company (“LIEC”) (note 5) 37,098 35,028 
Accrued interest receivable 26,614 14,676 
Accounts receivable (note 6) 36,126 36,013 
Taxes receivable 19,474 15,224 
Development fees receivable 20,299 43,219 
Debt reserve fund - deposits (note 7) 1,468 1,468 
  1,842,941 1,721,772 
 
Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 8) 115,127 103,582 
Post-employment benefits (note 10) 37,881 38,528 
Development cost charges (note 11) 241,634 237,051 
Deposits and holdbacks (note 12) 148,738 150,007 
Deferred revenue (note 13) 75,357 59,063 
Debt, net of sinking fund deposits (note 14) 98,629 107,816 
  717,366 696,047 
 
Net financial assets 1,125,575 1,025,725 
 
Non-Financial Assets 

Tangible capital assets (note 15)  2,694,902 2,594,212 
Inventory of materials and supplies 6,146 5,405 
Prepaid expenses 4,909 3,827 
  2,705,957 2,603,444 
 

Accumulated surplus (note 16) $ 3,831,532 $ 3,629,169 

 
Contingent demand notes (note 7) 
Contingent assets and contractual rights (note 19) 
Commitments and contingencies (note 20) 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of Council: 
 
 
 
   
General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
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 2 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022 
 

  2023 
  Budget 2023 2022 
  (notes 2(p) 
  and 26) 
Revenue: 

Taxation and levies (note 22) $ 287,052 $ 288,720 $ 269,582 
Utility fees 133,609   132,951 127,965 
Sales of services 48,817   50,737 44,494 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 14,650   18,114 21,314 
Provincial and federal contributions 11,656   38,660 12,893 
Development cost charges (note 11) 20,323   10,292 22,434 
Other capital funding sources 65,698   83,562 51,220 
Other revenue: 

Investment income 14,323   61,503 30,250 
Gaming revenue 14,500   13,013 12,562 
Licenses and permits 12,195   15,934 15,047 
Other (note 23) 14,370   25,543 35,206 
Equity income in LIEC (note 5) 594   2,070 1,381 

  637,787   741,099 644,348 
 
Expenses: 

Community safety 141,538   138,669 127,727 
Utilities:  

Water, sewer and sanitation 118,880   113,832 110,490 
Engineering, public works and  

project development   85,795   81,910 89,103 
Community services 76,203   71,328 64,955 
General government 76,335   72,780 59,492  
Planning and development 33,080   29,484 23,890 
Richmond Olympic Oval 18,788   19,200 16,844 
Richmond Public Library  12,062   11,533 10,565 
  562,681   538,736 503,066 

 
Annual surplus 75,106   202,363 141,282 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 3,629,169 3,629,169 3,487,887 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3,704,275 $ 3,831,532 $ 3,629,169 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022 
 

  2023 
  Budget 2023 2022 
  (notes 2(p) 
  and 26) 
 
Annual surplus for the year $ 75,106 $ 202,363 $ 141,282 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (132,566) (90,046) (87,100) 
Initial recognition of asset retirement obligation on 

recognized tangible capital assets - (7,081) - 
Contributed tangible capital assets (48,745) (75,945) (41,332) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 70,471 71,938 72,722 
Net (gain) loss on disposal of tangible  

capital assets - (2,133) 222 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 2,577 543 
  (35,734) 101,673 86,337 
 
Acquisition of inventory of materials and supplies - (6,146) (5,405) 
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (4,909) (3,827) 
Consumption of inventory of materials and supplies - 5,405 4,696 
Use of prepaid expenses - 3,827 3,921 
 
Change in net financial assets (35,734) 99,850 85,722 
 
Net financial assets, beginning of year 1,025,725 1,025,725 940,003 
 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 989,991 $ 1,125,575 $ 1,025,725 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 

CNCL - 102



 

DRAFT - April 19, 2024 
 4 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022 
 

  2023 2022 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities:  
Annual surplus $ 202,363 $ 141,282 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 71,938 72,722 
Accretion of asset retirement obligation 290 - 
Initial recognition of asset retirement obligation on 

unrecognized tangible capital assets 4,522 - 
Net (gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (2,133) 222 
Contributions of tangible capital assets (75,945) (41,332) 
Equity income in LIEC (2,070) (1,381) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accrued interest receivable (11,938) (5,744) 
Accounts receivable (113) (6,358) 
Taxes receivable (4,250) (1,067) 
Development fees receivable 22,920 (30,794) 
Debt reserve fund - (960) 
Inventory of materials and supplies (741) (709) 
Prepaid expenses  (1,082) 94 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (348) 17,642 
Post-employment benefits (647) 498 
Development cost charges 4,583 12,396 
Deposits and holdbacks  (1,269) 43,966 
Deferred revenue  16,294 2,877 

Net change in cash from operating activities 222,374 203,354 

Capital activities:  
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (90,046) (87,100) 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 2,577 543 

Net change in cash from capital activities (87,469) (86,557) 
 
Financing activities: 

Proceeds from issuance of debt - 96,000 
Repayments of debt (9,187) (5,570) 
Net change in cash from financing activities  (9,187) 90,430 

 
Investing activities: 

Purchase of investments (458,890) (224,607) 
 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (333,172) (17,380) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 654,651 672,031 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 321,479 $ 654,651 

 
Non-cash transactions, related to asset retirement obligations: 

Tangible capital asset additions $ 7,081 $ - 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Operations: 

The City of Richmond (the “City”) is incorporated under the Local Government Act of British 
Columbia. The City’s principal activities include the provision of local government services to 
residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, transportation, 

infrastructure, environmental, recreational, water, sewer, and drainage. 
 

2. Significant accounting policies: 

These consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting 

Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

These consolidated financial statements reflect a combination of the City’s General Revenue, 

General Capital and Loan, Waterworks and Sewerworks, and Reserve Funds consolidated 
with the Richmond Public Library (the “Library”) and the Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation 
(the “Oval”). The Library is consolidated as the Library Board is appointed by the City. The 

Oval is consolidated as they are a wholly-owned municipal corporation of the City. Interfund 
and inter-entity transactions, fund balances and activities have been eliminated on 
consolidation. The City’s investment in Lulu Island Energy Company (“LIEC”), a wholly-

owned government business enterprise (“GBE”), is accounted for using the modified equity 
method. 

(i) General Revenue Fund: 

This fund is used to account for the current operations of the City as provided for in the 
Annual Budget, including collection of taxes, administering operations, policing, and 
servicing general debt. 

(ii) General Capital and Loan Fund: 

This fund is used to record the City's tangible capital assets and work-in-progress, 
including engineering structures such as roads and bridges, and the related debt. 

(iii) Waterworks and Sewerworks Funds: 

These funds have been established to cover the costs of operating these utilities, with 
related capital and loan funds to record the related tangible capital assets and debt. 

(iv)  Reserve Funds: 

Certain funds are established by bylaws for specific purposes. They are funded primarily 
by budgeted contributions from the General Revenue Fund and developer contributions 

plus interest earned on fund balances. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Basis of accounting: 

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenue and expenses. Revenue is 
recognized in the year in which it is earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as 

they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods and services and/or the 
creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Government transfers: 

Restricted transfers from governments are deferred and recognized as revenue as the 
related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement are met. 
Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or if the amount to be 

received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

(d) Financial Instruments: 

Financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivables, 

development fees receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and debt. 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition. Equity instruments 
quoted in an active market and derivatives are subsequently measured at fair value as at the 

reporting date.  All other financial instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized 
cost unless management elects to carry the financial instrument at fair value. The City has 
not elected to carry any other financial instruments at fair value. 

Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses. They are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations when they are realized. There are no unrealized changes in fair value as at 

December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. As a result, the City does not have a 
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. 

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments recorded at cost and 

are expensed as incurred. 

Sales and purchases of investments are recorded on the trade date. 

Accounts receivables, investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and debt are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

All financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis. When a decline is 
determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is reported in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, highly liquid money market investments and 

short-term investments with maturities of less than 90-days from date of acquisition. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Investment in government business enterprises: 

Government business enterprises are recorded using the modified equity method of 
accounting. The City’s investment in the GBE is recorded as the value of the GBE’s 

shareholder’s equity. The investment’s income or loss is recognized by the City when it is 
earned by the GBE. Inter-organizational transactions and balances are not eliminated, except 
for any gains or losses on assets remaining within the City. 

(g) Accounts receivable: 

Accounts receivable are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts and therefore represent 
amounts expected to be collected. 

(h) Development cost charges: 

Development cost charges are restricted by legislation to expenditures on capital 
infrastructure. These amounts are deferred upon receipt and recognized as revenue when 

the expenditures are incurred in accordance with the restrictions. 

(i) Post-employment benefits: 

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan. As this plan is 

a multi-employer plan, contributions are expensed as incurred. 

Post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees. The liabilities related to these 
benefits are actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement ages 

and expected future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under these benefits plans are 
accrued based on projected benefits prorated as employees render services necessary to 
earn the future benefits. 

(j) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 

not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are 

directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development, or betterment of the assets. 
The cost, less estimated residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are 
amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 
Asset Useful life - years 
 
Buildings and building improvements  10 - 75 
Infrastructure  5 - 100 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment  3 - 40 
Library’s collections, furniture and equipment   4 - 20 
 

 

Amortization is charged over the asset’s useful life commencing when the asset is 
acquired. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for 

productive use. 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 

date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(iii) Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets: 

Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as 

assets in the consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Interest capitalization: 

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible 

capital asset. 

(v) Labour capitalization: 

Internal labour directly attributable to the construction, development or implementation of 

a tangible capital asset is capitalized. 

(vi) Leased tangible capital assets: 

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 

property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are 
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as 
incurred. 

(vii) Impairment of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer 
contribute to the City’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future 

economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net 
book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the consolidated 
statement of operations. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(viii) Inventory of materials and supplies: 

Inventory is recorded at cost, net of an allowance for obsolete stock. Cost is determined 

on a weighted average basis. 

(k) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue is recognized in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that gave 

rise to the revenue. All revenue is recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals 
cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is 
impractical. 

(l) Taxes: 

The City establishes property tax rates based on assessed market values provided by the 
British Columbia Assessment Authority. Market values are determined as of July 1st of each 

year. The City records taxation revenue at the time the property tax bills are issued. The City 
is entitled to collect interest and penalties on overdue taxes. 

The City is required to act as the agent for the collection of certain taxes and fees imposed by 

other authorities. Collections for other authorities are excluded from the City’s taxation 
revenue. 

Payments in Lieu of Taxes (“PILT”) for federal properties are calculated on the basis of 

values and rates which would apply if these properties were taxable. The annual tax rates 
together with the assessed value on the Grant Roll are used to calculate the PILT levy. The 
PILT revenue is recorded when the payment is received. 

(m) Deferred revenue: 

The City defers a portion of the revenue collected from permits, licenses and other fees and 
recognizes this revenue in the year in which related inspections are performed, other related 

expenses are incurred or services are provided. 

Deferred revenue also represents funds received from external parties for specified 
purposes. This revenue is recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 

incurred. 

(n) Deposits: 

Receipts restricted by the legislation of senior governments or by agreement with external 

parties are deferred and reported as deposits and are refundable under certain 
circumstances. When qualifying expenses are incurred, deposits are recognized as revenue 
at amounts equal to the qualifying expenses. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(o) Debt: 

Debt is recorded net of related sinking fund balances. 

(p) Budget information: 

Budget information, presented on a basis consistent with that used for actual results, was 
included in the City’s Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan (2023-2027) (“Consolidated 
Financial Plan”) and was adopted through Bylaw No. 10429 on January 30, 2023. 

(q) Contaminated sites: 

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water, or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material of live organism that exceeds an 

environmental standard. Liabilities are recorded net of any expected recoveries. 

A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive 
use and the following criteria are met: 

(i) An environmental standard exists; 

(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

(iii)  The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including 

operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy 
for a contaminated site. 

(r) Use of accounting estimates: 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenditures during the reporting period. 
Areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to performing the actuarial valuation 
of employee future benefits, the value of contributed tangible capital assets, value of 

developer contributions, the value of asset retirement obligations, useful lives for 
amortization, determination of provisions for accrued liabilities, allowance for doubtful 
accounts, and provision for contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period that 
the change in estimate is made, as well as in the period of settlement if the amount is 
different. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(s) Segment disclosures: 

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for 
which it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objectives of 

the standard. The City has provided definitions of segments as well as presented financial 
information in segment format. 

(t) Asset retirement obligations: 

An asset retirement obligation is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date, all of the 
following criteria are met: 

• There is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital 

asset; 

• The past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred; 

• It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and, 

• A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is initially recorded at the best estimate of the expenditures required to retire a 
tangible capital asset, and the resulting costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of 

the related tangible capital asset if the asset is recognized and in productive use. This liability 
is subsequently reviewed at each financial reporting date and adjusted for any revisions to 
the timing or amount required to settle the obligation.  The changes in the liability for the 

passage of time are recorded as accretion expense in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations and all other changes are adjusted to the tangible capital asset.  The cost is 
amortized over the useful life of the tangible capital asset (Note 2 (j)(i)).   If the related 

tangible capital asset is unrecognized or no longer in productive use, the asset retirement 
costs are expensed. 

Recoveries related to asset retirement obligations are recognized when the recovery can be 

appropriately measured, a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made and it is 
expected that future economic benefits will be obtained.  A recovery is recognized on a gross 
basis from the asset retirement obligations liability. 

 

3. Adoption of new accounting standards: 

(a) PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations: 

On January 1, 2023, the City adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS 3280 
Asset Retirement Obligations (“PS 3280”). The standard requires the reporting of legal 

obligations associated with the retirement of tangible capital assets by public sector entities.   

The City has adopted this standard on a prospective basis. 
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3. Adoption of new accounting standards (continued): 

(b) PS 3450 Financial Instruments and related standards: 

On January 1, 2023, the City adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS 3450 
Financial Instruments, PS 2601 Foreign Currency Translation, PS 1201 Financial Statement 

Presentation and PS 3041 Portfolio Investments. The standards were adopted prospectively 
from the date of adoption.  The new standards provide comprehensive requirements for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments and foreign 

currency transactions.  

Under PS 3450 Financial Instruments, all financial instruments are included on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and are measured at either fair value or 

amortized cost based on the characteristics of the instrument and the City’s accounting policy 
choices (see note 2(d)). 

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the amounts presented in these 

consolidated financial statements. 
 

4. Investments: 
 
   2023   2022  
   Market  Market 
  Cost value Cost value 
 
Short-term notes and deposits $ 443,418 $ 443,418 $ 379,378 $ 379,378 
Government and government  

guaranteed bonds 599,013   595,015 361,297 350,352 
Bank bonds 325,486   328,578 180,818 175,405 
Municipal Finance Authority  

bonds 12,466   12,722 - - 
 
  $ 1,380,383 $ 1,379,733 $ 921,493 $ 905,135 

 

5. Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd.: 

The City owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of LIEC, which was incorporated 
under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on August 19, 2013. LIEC develops, 

manages and operates district energy utilities in the city of Richmond, on the City’s behalf, 
including but not limited to energy production, generation or exchange, transmission, distribution, 
maintenance, marketing and sales to customers, customer service, profit generation, financial 

management and advisory services for energy and infrastructure. 
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5. Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. (continued): 

Summarized financial information relating to LIEC is as follows: 
 
  2023 2022 

 
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments $ 14,527 $ 15,516 
Accounts receivable 4,793 2,241 
Tangible capital assets 53,741 45,745 
 
Total assets 73,061 63,502 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,849 3,853 
Government grants 403 241 
Deferred contributions 19,236 13,018 
Project agreement/concession liability 14,475 11,362 
 
Total liabilities 35,963 28,474 
 
Shareholder’s equity $ 37,098 $ 35,028 

 
Total revenue $ 8,570 $ 7,608 
Total expenses 6,500 6,227 
 
Net income $ 2,070 $ 1,381 
 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the City’s consolidated statement of 

financial position are payables to LIEC in the amount of $165,059 (2022 - $152,937). 

On October 30, 2014, LIEC and Corix Utilities Inc. (“Corix”) entered into a 30-year Concession 
agreement (the “Concession Agreement”), where Corix will design, construct, finance, operate 

and maintain the infrastructure for the district energy utility at the Oval Village community (the 
“OVDEU project”). On September 22, 2022, the LIEC terminated the Concession Agreement after 
the Company entered into a new project agreement (the “Project Agreement”) with Project 

Contractor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Corix to design, build, finance, operate and maintain 
City Centre District Energy Utility infrastructure providing heating and cooling services to new 
residential and mixed use commercial developments within the City Centre area (the “CCDEU 

project”). The existing OVDEU project has been transferred into the CCDEU project, and the 
OVDEU plant and equipment, financing and operations are now executed by the Project 
Contractor under the Project Agreement. 
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6. Accounts receivable: 
 
  2023 2022 

 
Water and sewer utilities $ 15,429 $ 14,760 
Casino revenue 2,940 3,363 
Capital grants 8,416 9,536 
Other trade receivables 9,341 8,354 
 
  $ 36,126 $ 36,013 

 

7. Debt reserve fund deposits and contingent demand notes: 

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (the “MFA”). As a 
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds is withheld by the MFA in a 

Debt Reserve Fund. The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture 
whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are 
contingent in nature and are not reflected in the City’s accounts. The details of the cash deposits 

and contingent demand notes at December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 
   Cash Contingent 
   deposits  demand notes 

 
General Revenue Fund   $ 1,468 $ 1,468 

 

8. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 
 
  2023 2022 

 
Trade and other accrued liabilities $ 103,234 $ 103,582 
Asset retirement obligations (note 9) 11,893 - 
 
  $ 115,127 $ 103,582 

 

9. Asset retirement obligations: 

The City has recognized liabilities related to the legal obligations to incur costs to retire a tangible 
capital asset. A significant part of City’s asset retirement obligations results from the removal and 

disposal of designated materials from buildings and fuel tanks. The measurement of the liability 
for asset retirement obligations is impacted by new information about activities required to settle 
the liability, the activities that settled all or part of the obligation, and any changes in the legal 

obligation, To estimate the liability for the removal and disposal of designated materials in City 
buildings and fuel tanks, assessment reports are used with experience and expert advice to 
determine the costs of retiring the material. For assets without an assessment, an estimate is 

based on the cost for similar assets until more asset specific data is available. 

CNCL - 113



CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2023 
 

 

DRAFT - April 19, 2024 
 15 

9. Asset retirement obligations (continued): 

The estimated liability consists of costs relating to tangible capital assets that are both recognized 
and unrecognized. Where the tangible capital asset is recognized and in productive use, the 
associated asset retirement obligation is amortized over the estimated remaining useful life of the 

asset. Where the tangible capital asset is unrecognized, as in the case of building lease 
arrangements which contain clauses that obligate the City with asset retirement obligations, or 
where the asset is a component of a greater tangible capital asset, such as fuel tanks, the 

obligation is expensed. The City estimates that the majority of the obligations will be paid during 
fiscal years 2048 to 2073. 
 
  Initial recognition Accretion Balance 
   January 1, expense December 31, 
   2023  2023 

 
Recognized tangible capital assets  $ 7,081 $ 290 $ 7,371 
Unrecognized tangible capital assets  4,522 - 4,522 
 
    $ 11,603 $ 290 $ 11,893 

 
When significant obligations have reliable cash flow projections, the liability may be estimated 

using the present value of future cash flows, otherwise they are recorded at current costs. The 
discount rate used reflects the risks specific to the asset retirement liability. The discount rate 
used for 2023 is 4.10 per cent. There are no liabilities recorded using the present value of future 

cash flows at December 31, 2023. 
 

10. Post-employment benefits: 

The City provides certain post-employment benefits, non-vested sick leave, compensated 
absences, and termination benefits to its employees. 
 
  2023 2022 

 
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 33,637 $ 36,150 
Opening adjustment due to Oval actuarial valuation Jan 1st, 2023   207  - 
Current service cost 2,434 2,780 
Interest cost 1,528 917 
Past service (credit) / cost  (494) 21 
Benefits paid  (3,786) (2,976) 
Actuarial loss / (gain) 1,287   (3,255) 
 
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 34,813 $ 33,637 
 

An actuarial valuation for these benefits was performed to determine the City’s accrued benefit 
obligation as at December 31, 2023. This actuarial gain is being amortized over a period equal to 

the employees' expected average remaining service lifetime of 11-years. 
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10. Post-employment benefits (continued): 
 
  2023 2022 

 
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 34,813 $ 33,637 
Unamortized net actuarial gain  3,068 4,891 
 
Accrued benefit liability, end of year $ 37,881 $ 38,528 
 

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the City’s accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 
 
    2023 2022 

 
Discount rate 4.10% 4.40% 
Expected future inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 
Expected wage and salary range increases 2.50% to 3.00% 2.50% to 3.00% 
 
 

11. Development cost charges: 
 

  2023 2022 

 
Balance, beginning of year $ 237,051 $ 224,655 
Contributions 4,342 30,053 
Interest 10,533 4,777 
Revenue recognized (10,292) (22,434) 
 
Balance, end of year $ 241,634 $ 237,051 
 

12. Deposits and holdbacks: 

 
  Balance Deposit  Balance 
  December 31, contributions / Refund/ December 31, 
  2022 interest earned expenditures 2023 

 
Security deposits $ 126,281 $ 10,527 $ (11,095) $ 125,713 
Developer contributions 7,919 - - 7,919 
Damage deposits 7,143 830 (1,315)  6,658 
Contract holdbacks 4,789 2,415 (2,437)  4,767 
Other 3,875 620 (814)  3,681 
 
  $ 150,007 $ 14,392 $ (15,661) $ 148,738 
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13. Deferred revenue: 
 
  Balance Externally  Balance 
  December 31, restricted Revenue December 31, 
  2022 inflows earned 2023 
 
Taxes and utilities $ 26,231 $   30,008 $    (26,231) $ 30,008 
Building permits/development 17,119   5,474  (7,511) 15,082 
Oval 3,121   1,650  (1,958)   2,813 
Capital grants 3,011 25,062  (11,464) 16,609 
Business licenses 2,681   2,239  (2,307)   2,613 
Parking easement/leased land  2,428 108  (56)   2,480 
Other 4,472   6,863  (5,583)   5,752 
 
  $ 59,063 $ 71,404 $ (55,110) $ 75,357 
 

 

14. Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits: 

The City obtains debt instruments through the MFA pursuant to security issuing bylaws under 
authority of the Community Charter to finance certain capital expenditures. 

Gross amount for the debt less principal payments and actuarial adjustments to date are as 

follows: 
 
  Loan Gross Repayments   
MFA authorization amount and actuarial Net debt  Net debt 
issue bylaw borrowed adjustments 2023 2022 

 
127 9075 $ 50,815 $ 44,791 $ 6,024 $ 11,816 

158 10334  96,000  3,395  92,605 96,000 
 
  $ 146,815 $ 48,186 $ 98,629 $ 107,816 
 

Current borrowing includes: 
 
MFA   Term  Interest  Refinancing 
issue Issue date (yrs.) Maturity date rate date 

 
127 April 7, 2014 10 April 7, 2024 3.30% - 

158 September 23, 2022 20 September 23, 2042 4.09% September 23, 2032 
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14. Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits (continued): 

Interest expense incurred for the year on the long-term debt was $5,594,469 (2022 - $2,750,689). 
Repayments on net outstanding debt over the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 
 
2024  $ 9,538 
2025  3,636 
2026   3,764 
2027   3,895 
2028   4,032 
Thereafter   73,764 
 
    $ 98,629 
 

15. Tangible capital assets: 

 

  Balance Additions  Balance 
  December 31, and  December 31, 
Cost 2022 transfers Disposals 2023 

 
Land $ 1,121,481 $ 70,368 $  (2) $ 1,191,847 
Building and building 

improvements 595,611 29,499 (3,367) 621,743 
Infrastructure 1,951,176 55,961 (4,382) 2,002,755 
Vehicles, machinery and  

equipment 176,948 13,559 (5,887) 184,620 
Library’s collections,  

furniture and equipment 11,126 1,321 (478) 11,969 
Assets under construction 63,372 2,364  - 65,736 
 
  $  3,919,714 $ 173,072 $ (14,116) $ 4,078,670 

 
 

  Balance   Balance 
  December 31,  Amortization December 31, 
Accumulated amortization 2022 Disposals expense 2023 

 
Building and building  

improvements $ 246,225 $ (3,088) $ 22,177 $ 265,314 
Infrastructure 951,155 (4,315) 38,080 984,920 
Vehicles, machinery and  

equipment 120,150 (5,791) 10,780 125,139 
Library’s collections,  

furniture and equipment 7,972 (478) 901 8,395 
 
  $ 1,325,502 $ (13,672) $ 71,938 $ 1,383,768 
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15. Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
Net book value 2023 2022 

 
Land $ 1,191,847 $ 1,121,481 
Buildings and building improvements 356,429 349,386 
Infrastructure 1,017,835 1,000,021 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 59,481 56,798 
Library’s collection, furniture and equipment 3,574 3,154 
Assets under construction  65,736 63,372 
 
Balance, end of year $ 2,694,902 $ 2,594,212 

 

(a) Assets under construction: 

Assets under construction having a value of $65,735,570 (2022 - $63,371,507) have not 
been amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into 
service. 

(b) Contributed tangible capital assets: 

Contributed tangible capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of 
contribution and recorded in other capital funding revenue on the statement of operations. 

The value of contributed assets received during the year is $75,944,770 (2022 - $41,331,921) 
comprised of land in the amount of $58,306,673 (2022 - $30,863,846), infrastructure in the 
amount of $17,638,097 (2022 - $5,123,075), buildings in the amount of $nil (2022 -

 $5,345,000). 

(c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair value could not be made, the tangible capital asset was recognized 

at a nominal value.  

(d) Works of art and historical treasures: 

The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historical cultural 

assets including building, artifacts, paintings, and sculptures located at City sites and public 
display areas. The assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized.  

(e) Write-down of tangible capital assets: 

There were no write-down of tangible capital assets in 2023 (2022 - nil). 
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16. Accumulated surplus: 
 
  General Waterworks Sewerworks Richmond    

  and Reserve Utility Utility Olympic  2023 2022 
  Fund Fund Fund Oval Library Total Total 

 
Investment in tangible  

capital assets $  2,675,638 $ - $ - $ 8,503 $ 3,719 $ 2,687,860 $ 2,581,249 
Reserves (note 17)   707,871   42,064   28,189   11,586    -  789,710 703,184 
Appropriated surplus 252,076   18,184   11,245   775   3,694   285,974 280,562 
Investment in LIEC 37,098    -   -   -   -  37,098 35,028 
Surplus 16,225   906   6,621   607   571   24,930 23,900 
Other equity 5,960    -   -   -   -  5,960 5,246 
 
Balance, end of year $ 3,694,868 $ 61,154 $ 46,055 $ 21,471 $ 7,984 $ 3,831,532 $ 3,629,169 

 

17. Reserves: 
 
  Balance,   Balance, 
  December 31, Change December 31, 
  2022 during year 2023 
 
Affordable housing $ 15,427 $ 1,497 $ 16,924 
Arts, culture and heritage 3,573 553  4,126 
Capital building and infrastructure 129,625 16,277  145,902 
Capital reserve 263,825 24,136  287,961 
Capstan station 14,582 427  15,009 
Child care development 10,169 697  10,866 
Community legacy and land replacement 1,545 126  1,671 
Drainage improvement BL 7812 59,740 (7,332)  52,408 
Flood protection BL 10403 - 13,311  13,311 
Equipment replacement 26,888 3,006  29,894 
Growing communities fund  - 21,067  21,067 
Hamilton area plan community amenity 3,605 162  3,767 
Leisure facilities 27,768 1,291  29,059 
Local improvements 7,760 349  8,109 
Neighborhood improvement 8,588 565  9,153 
Oval 9,846 1,740  11,586 
Public art program 4,828 159  4,987 
Sanitary sewer BL 7812 53,518 (1,560)  51,958 
Sanitary sewer BL10401 - 6,181  6,181 
Steveston off-street parking 339 15  354 
Steveston road ends 147 (4)  143 
Waterfront improvement 181 6  187 
Watermain replacement BL 7812 61,230 (5,606)  55,624 
Water supply BL10402 - 9,463   9,463 
 
  $ 703,184 $ 86,526 $ 789,710 
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18. Pension plan: 

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension 
plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for 

administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is 
a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As 
at December 31, 2022, the plan has about 240,000 active members and approximately 124,000 

retired members. Active members include approximately 43,000 contributors from local 
governments.  

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 

and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on 
the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 

contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may 
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the 
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.  

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a 
$3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, 

resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 
individual employers participating in the plan. 

The City paid $14,904,749 (2022 - $13,914,367) for employer contributions while employees 

contributed $12,439,772 (2022 - $12,078,813) to the plan in fiscal 2023. 
 

19. Contingent assets and contractual rights: 

(a) Contingent assets: 

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving 

uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events not 
wholly within the City’s control occurs or fails to occur. 

The City has legal claims, service agreements, and land dedications that may qualify as 

contingent assets. Amounts cannot be estimated as of December 31, 2023. Contingent 
assets are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 
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19. Contingent assets and contractual rights (continued): 

(b) Contractual rights: 

The City has entered into contracts or agreements in the normal course of operations that it 
expects will result in revenue and assets in future fiscal years. The City’s contractual rights 

are comprised of leases, licenses, grants and various other agreements, including the 
provision of police services with the Vancouver Airport Authority. The following table 
summarizes the expected revenue from the City’s contractual rights: 
 
 
2024  $ 32,980 
2025  2,701 
2026  1,493 
2027  1,432 
2028  1,381 
Thereafter  4,871 
 

 

The City is entitled to receive revenue from certain other agreements. The revenue from 

these agreements cannot be quantified and has not been included in the amounts noted 
above. 

 

20. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Joint and several liabilities: 

The City has a contingent liability with respect to debentures of the Greater Vancouver Water 
District, Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District and Metro Vancouver Regional 
District, to the extent provided for in their respective Enabling Acts, Acts of Incorporation and 

Amending Acts. Management does not consider payment under this contingency to be likely 
and therefore no amounts have been accrued. 

(b) Lease payments: 

The City is committed to operating lease payments for premises and equipment in the 
following approximate amounts: 
 
 
2024  $ 4,334 
2025  3,040 
2026  2,737 
2027   953 
2028 and thereafter  5,061 
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20. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(c) Litigation: 

As at December 31, 2023, there were a number of claims or risk exposures in various stages 
of resolution. The City has made no specific provision for those where the outcome is 
presently not determinable. 

(d) Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia (“Association”): 

The City is a participant in the Association. Should the Association pay out claims in excess 
of premiums received, it is possible that the City, along with other participants, would be 
required to contribute towards the deficit. Management does not consider external payment 
under this contingency to be likely and therefore, no amounts have been accrued. 

(e) Contractual obligation: 

The City has entered into various contracts for services and construction with periods ranging 
beyond one year. These commitments are in accordance with budgets passed by Council.  

(f) E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Incorporated 
(“E- Comm”): 

The City is a shareholder of the E-Comm whose services provided include: regional 9-1-1 call 
centre for the Greater Vancouver Regional District; Wide Area Radio network; dispatch 
operations; and records management. The City has 2 Class A shares and 1 Class B share (of 
a total of 37 Class A and 18 Class B shares issued and outstanding as at December 31, 
2023). As a Class A shareholder, the City shares in both funding the future operations and 
capital obligations of E-Comm (in accordance with a cost sharing formula), including any 
lease obligations committed to by E-Comm up to the shareholder’s withdrawal date. 

(g) Community associations: 

The City has agreements with the various community associations which operate the 
community centers throughout the City. The City generally provides the buildings and 
grounds, pays the operating costs of the facilities, and provides certain staff and other 
services such as information technology. Typically the community associations are 
responsible for providing programming and services to the community. The community 
associations retain all revenue which they receive.  
 

21. Trust funds: 

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by 
agreement or statute. The City holds the assets for the benefit of and stands in fiduciary 
relationship to the beneficiary. The following trust fund is excluded from the City’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
  2023 2022 

 
Richmond Community Associations $ 724 $ 696 
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22. Taxation and levies: 
 
 2023  2022 

 
Taxes collected: 

Property taxes $ 572,078 $ 524,934 
Payment-in-lieu of taxes and grants 31,496 37,860 
Local improvement levies 76 84 
  603,650 562,878 

 
Less transfers to other authorities: 

Province of British Columbia - School taxes (230,746) (210,071) 
TransLink (48,562) (45,904) 
Metro Vancouver (10,197) (9,116) 
BC Assessment Authority (7,270) (6,741) 
Sewer debt collect via payment in lieu of taxes - (114) 
Other (41) (36) 
  (296,816) (271,982) 

 
Less payment-in-lieu of taxes retained by the City  (18,114) (21,314) 
 
  $ 288,720 $ 269,582 
 

23. Other revenue: 
 
 2023 2022 

 
Developer contributions $ 3,102 $ 14,957 
Tangible capital assets gain on sale of land 2,497 260 
Penalties and fines 5,080 6,382 
Parking program 2,335 1,781 
Recycle BC 3,274 3,083 
Oval - Other revenue 2,987 1,557 
Other 6,268 7,186 
 
  $ 25,543 $ 35,206 
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24. Government transfers: 

Government transfers are received for operating and capital activities. The operating transfers 
consist of gaming revenue and provincial and federal contributions. Capital transfers are included 

in other capital funding sources revenue. The source of the government transfers are as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
 
Operating: 

Province of British Columbia $ 19,935 $ 19,273 
TransLink 4,008 3,891 
Government of Canada 7,355 2,291 

 
Capital: 

Province of British Columbia 24,023 8,619 
TransLink 2,101 885 
Government of Canada  1,566 1,410 

 
  $ 58,988 $ 36,369 
 

25. Segmented reporting: 

The City provides a wide variety of services to its residents. For segment disclosure, these 
services are grouped and reported under service areas/departments that are responsible for 
providing such services. They are as follows: 

(a) Community Safety brings together the City's public safety providers such as Police (RCMP), 
Fire-Rescue, Emergency Programs, and Community Bylaws. It is responsible for ensuring 
safe communities by providing protection services with a focus on law enforcement, crime 

prevention, emergency response, and protection of life and properties. 

(b) Utilities provide such services as planning, designing, constructing, operating, and 
maintaining the City’s infrastructure of water, sewer, drainage and diking networks and 

sanitation and recycling.  

(c) Engineering, Public Works and Project Development comprises of General Public Works, 
Roads and Construction, Storm Drainage, Fleet Operations, Engineering, Project 

Development, Sustainability and Facility Management. The services provided are 
construction and maintenance of the City's infrastructure and all City owned buildings, 
maintenance of the City’s road networks, managing and operating a mixed fleet of vehicles, 

heavy equipment and an assortment of specialized work units for the City operations, 
development of current and long-range engineering planning and construction of major 
projects. 
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25. Segmented reporting (continued): 

(d) Community Services comprises of Parks, Recreation, Arts, and Culture and Heritage 
Services. These departments ensure recreation opportunities in Richmond by maintaining a 
variety of facilities such as arenas, community centres, pools, etc. It designs, constructs and 
maintains parks and sports fields to ensure there is adequate open green space and sports 
fields available for Richmond residents. It also addresses the economic, arts, culture, and 
community issues that the City encounters.  

(e) General Government comprises of Mayor and Council, Corporate Administration, Law and 
Legislative Services and Finance and Corporate Services. It is responsible for adopting 
bylaws, effectively administering city operations, levying taxes, legal services, providing 
sound management of human resources, information technology, finance, and ensuring high 
quality services to Richmond residents. 

(f) Planning and Development is responsible for land use plans, developing bylaws and 
policies for sustainable development in the City including the City’s transportation systems, 
and community social development.  

(g) Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation is formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the City. 
The City uses the Richmond Olympic Oval facility as a venue for a wide range of sports, 
business and community activities.  

(h) Richmond Public Library provides public access to information by maintaining 5 branches 
throughout the City. 

 

    Engineering 
   public works   Planning Total 

  Community  and project Community General and city 
  safety Utilities development services government development subtotal 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation and levies  $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 288,720 $ - $ 288,720 
User fees - 114,975 17,976  -  - - 132,951 
Sales of services 8,528 3,228 2,099 12,669 11,653  2,333  40,510 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes -  -  -  - 18,114 - 18,114 
Provincial and federal grants 770 15 4,114 513 24,103 3,871  33,386 
Development cost charges - 122 782 4,836 693 3,859  10,292 
Other capital funding sources (131) 1,456 13,736 5,216 58,307 4,978  83,562 
Other revenue: 

Investment income - 305  -  - 61,175 - 61,480 
Gaming revenue 855  -  -  - 12,158 - 13,013 
Licenses and permits 5,053 49 101  - 16 10,715  15,934 
Other 2,613 4,542 1,057 752 (1,451)  199  7,712 
Equity income -  -  -  - 2,070 - 2,070 

  17,688 124,692 39,865 23,986 475,558 25,955  707,744 
 

Expenses: 
Wages and salaries 57,564 16,187 29,039 38,662 34,562 15,397 191,411 
Public works maintenance  27 7,634 7,081 2,281 (1,462) 485 16,046 
Contract services 73,540 10,670 6,559 3,693 5,523 2,226 102,211 
Supplies and materials 3,052 38,909 1,773 12,708 13,632 4,763 74,837 
Interest and finance 121 31,180 6 155 7,956 1 39,419 
Transfer from (to) capital for  

tangible capital assets 983 275 5,639 2,442 2,422 2,629 14,390 
Amortization of tangible capital 

assets 3,288 8,956 31,796 11,272 10,048 3,948 69,308 
Loss (gain) on disposal of  

tangible capital assets 94 21 17 115 99 35 381 
  138,669 113,832 81,910 71,328 72,780 29,484 508,003 

 

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (120,981) $ 10,860 $ (42,045) $ (47,342) $ 402,778 $ (3,529) $ 199,741 
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25. Segmented reporting (continued):  
 
  Total Richmond Richmond   
  City Public Olympic 2023 2022 
  subtotal Library Oval Consolidated Consolidated 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation and levies $ 288,720 $ - $ - $ 288,720 $ 269,582 
User fees 132,951  -  -   132,951 127,965 
Sales of services 40,510 76 10,151 50,737 44,494 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 18,114  -  - 18,114 21,314 
Provincial and federal grants 33,386 1,138 4,136 38,660 12,893 
Development cost charges 10,292  -  - 10,292 22,434  
Other capital funding sources 83,562  -  - 83,562 51,220  
Other revenue: 

Investment income 61,480 23  - 61,503  30,250 
Gaming revenue 13,013  -  - 13,013 12,562 
Licenses and permits 15,934  -  - 15,934 15,047 
Other 7,712 10,941 6,890 25,543 35,206 
Equity income 2,070  -  -   2,070 1,381 

  707,744 12,178 21,177   741,099 644,348 
 

Expenses: 
Wages and salaries 191,411 8,181 12,045   211,637 195,616 
Public works maintenance  16,046 41  - 16,087 14,390 
Contract services 102,211 498  -   102,709 93,463  
Supplies and materials 74,837 2,467 5,426 82,730 73,847  
Interest and finance 39,419 4  - 39,423 31,340  
Transfer from (to) capital for tangible capital assets 14,390 (542)  - 13,848 21,206  
Amortization of tangible capital assets 69,308 901 1,729 71,938 72,722  
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 381 (17)  -  364  482  
  508,003 11,533 19,200   538,736 503,066  

 
Annual surplus (deficit) $ 199,741 $ 645 $ 1,977 $   202,363 $ 141,282 

 
26. Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based on the 
Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan adopted by Council on January 30, 2023. The table below 
reconciles the adopted Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan to the budget amounts reported in 

these consolidated financial statements. Richmond Public Library Board approved additional 
expenditures funded by the Library's surplus, which were not included in the original consolidated 
financial plan, but were subsequently added to the Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan 

Amendment Bylaw adopted by Council on October 23, 2023. 
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26. Budget data (continued): 
 
  Financial Financial 
  plan statement 
  Bylaw No. 10429 budget 
 
Revenue from Consolidated financial plan $ 639,287  - 

Less : 
Amount reclassified to expenses  (1,500) - 

Revenue budget after adjustments  637,787  637,787 
 
Expenses from Consolidated financial plan 563,487 - 

Add:   
Amount reclassified from revenue  (1,500) - 
Richmond Public Library Board approved expenses 
  funded by Library Surplus   694  - 

Expense budget after adjustments 562,681 562,681 
 
Annual surplus   75,106  75,106 
 
Less: 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (352,842) - 
Contributed tangible capital assets (48,745) - 
Transfer to reserves (81,863) - 
Debt principal (9,187) - 

 
Add:  

Capital funding 401,221 - 
Operating reserve funding 8,391 - 
Transfer from surplus 7,225 - 
Transfer from Library surplus 694  - 

 
Annual surplus $ - $ 75,106 
 

27. Financial risk management:  

The City has exposure to certain risks from its financial instruments: 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of economic loss should the counterparty to a transaction default or 
otherwise fail to meet its obligation. The City is exposed to credit risk through its cash and 

cash equivalent and accounts receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk on these 
instruments is their carrying value.  
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27. Financial risk management (continued):  

(a) Credit risk (continued): 

Credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalent is minimized by ensuring that these 
assets are held at financial institutions with a high credit quality. The City has deposited cash 
with reputable financial institutions, from which management believes the risk of loss to be 
remote.  

The City assess, on a continuous basis, accounts receivables and provides for any amounts 
that are not collectible. 

(b) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, as a result of changes in foreign 
exchange rates or interest rate will affect the City’s value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 

exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing return on investments.  

(i) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that changes in interest rates will affect the fair value 

or future cash flows of financial instruments held by the City. There is no interest rate risk 
regarding the City’s short terms notes and deposits, government guaranteed bonds, bank 
guaranteed bonds and Municipal Finance Authority bonds.  

The City exposed to interest rate risk related to its long-term debt issued by the Municipal 
Finance Authority which is subject to fixed interest rate. Fluctuations in rates could impact 
future payments upon renewal.  

(ii) Currency risk: 

Investments in foreign securities are exposed to currency risk due to fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates. The City does not hold investments in foreign currencies. 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the City will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely basis or 
at a reasonable cost. The City manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its operating and 
capital requirements. The City prepares budget and cash flow forecasts to ensure it has 
sufficient funds to fulfill its obligations.  

There has been no significant change to the risk exposure from 2022. 
 

28.  Comparative information:  

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the consolidated financial 

statement presentation adopted for the current year. These reclassifications do not impact the 
annual surplus reported in the prior year or accumulated surplus.
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In 2023, the Provincial Government announced funding of up to $1 billion in direct grants provided to 

local governments to help support all B.C. communities. The objective of this funding is to help local 
government to invest into infrastructure and amenities that will help facilitate the increase in housing 
supply throughout the community. In 2023, the City received a Growing Communities Grant of $20.3 

million. A requirement of the Growing Communities Fund is to include a schedule to the financial 
statements presenting the amount of funding received, use of funds, and year-end balance of unused 
funds. A schedule will continue to be reported annually until funds are fully drawn down. 

 
  2023 
 
Growing Communities Fund received   $ 20,354 
Total eligible costs incurred     - 
Interest earned  713 
 
Balance December 31, 2023   $ 21,067 
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To: 

From: 

City of 
Richmond 

Planning Committee 

Greg Newman 

Report to Committee 

Date: April 8, 2024 

File: 12-8060-20-010524Nol 01 
Manager, Affordable Housing 

Re: Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 10524 and Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 10525 
to Permit the City of Richmond to Secure Low-End Market Rental (LEMR) and 
Market Rental Units at 10611 and 10751 River Drive 

Staff Recommendations 

1. That Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (10611 and 10751 River Drive) Bylaw 
No. 10524 to permit the City to enter into a Housing Agreement substantially in the form 
attached hereto, in accordance with the requirements of section 483 of the Local 
Government Act, to secure the Low-End Market Rental (LEMR) Units required by 
rezoning application RZ 21-941625, be introduced and given first, second and third 
readings; and 

2. That Housing Agreement (Market Rental Housing) (10611 and 10751 River Drive) 
Bylaw No. 10525 to pe1mit the City to enter into a Housing Agreement substantially in 
the fonn attached hereto, in accordance with the requirements of section 483 of the Local 
Government Act, to secure the Market Rental Units required by Rezoning Application RZ 
21-941625, be introduced and given first, second and third readings. 

Jlf~M~ 
Greg Newman 
Manager, Affordable Housing 
(604-204-8648) 

Att. 1 

ROUTED TO: 

Law 
Development Applications 

SENIOR STAFF REPORT REVIEW 

7596452 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

CONCURRENCE CONCURRENCE OF DEPUTY CAO 

0 ~~ 0 

INITIALS: APPROVED BY CAO 

af ~ · 
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7596452 

Staff Report 

Origin 

The purpose of this report is to recommend that City Council give first, second and third 
readings to Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 10524 to secure at least 18 Low-End Market Rental 
(LEMR) units and Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 10525 to secure at least 13 market rental 
housing units within the development at 10611 and 10751 River Drive (Attachment 1).  

Bains Properties (River Drive) Inc. has submitted a rezoning application to permit the 
construction of a mixed tenure low-rise and mid-rise development with a total of 181 dwelling 
units, including 150 strata units, 18 LEMR units and 13 market rental units. Council granted first 
reading to the zoning amendment bylaw on May 8, 2023 and a public hearing was held on June 
19, 2023 following which Council granted second and third readings to the bylaw. Prior to 
Council’s adoption of the zoning amendment bylaw, the Applicant must register a Housing 
Agreement and a Housing Covenant to secure the LEMR and market rental units in perpetuity.   

This report supports Council’s Strategic Plan 2022–2026 Focus Area #2 Strategic and 
Sustainable Community Growth: 

 Strategic and sustainable growth that supports long-term community needs and a well-
planned and prosperous city. 

2.2 Develop and implement innovative and proactive solutions that encourage a range of 
housing options and prioritize affordability. 

 
This report supports Social Development Strategy Goal #1: Enhance Social Equity and 
Inclusion: 

 
Strategic Direction #1: Expand Housing Choices 

 
This report is also consistent with the City of Richmond’s Affordable Housing Strategy 2017–
2027, including: 

 
Strategic Direction #1: Use regulatory tools to encourage a diverse range of housing 
types and tenures. 
 

Analysis 

The subject development proposes the construction of 181 residential units, including 150 strata 
units, 18 LEMR units and 13 market rental units. The development is comprised of a four-storey 
apartment building and two six-storey apartment buildings, all of which will share a single-level 
parking structure. The LEMR and market rental units are to be clustered together in the four-
storey building. The City’s Affordable Housing Strategy supports the clustering of LEMR units 
provided a non-profit housing operator is secured to manage the units. To this end, the applicant 
has entered into a preliminary Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Anhart Community 
Housing, an experienced non-profit housing operator.   
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Low-End Market Rental (LEMR) Units  

The total residential floor area of the LEMR units is approximately 15,704 ft2 (1,459 m2). A 
Housing Covenant will secure the noted floor area in addition to the minimum unit sizes, the 
location of LEMR units and the allocation of parking spaces to the LEMR units.  
 
Table 1 below summarizes components of the LEMR units that will be secured through the 
registration of the Housing Agreement and Housing Covenant. As it relates to the LEMR units, 
the project will provide 14 of the 18 units (78 per cent) as family-friendly units and 16 units (89 
per cent) will include Basic Universal Housing (BUH) design, supporting the ability of tenants to 
age in place. Overall, the amount, size and mix of LEMR units uphold the objectives of the 
Affordable Housing Strategy and the policies of the Official Community Plan.  
 
Table 1: Summary of LEMR Unit Composition and Rent Limitations 

Unit Type 

Affordable Housing Strategy Requirements (1) Project Details (2) 

Min. Unit Area 
Max. 
Rent 

Charge 

Max. 
Household 

Income 
Unit Mix 

Basic Universal 
Housing (BUH) 

Studio 37 m2 (400 ft2) $811 $34,650 11% (2 units) 11% (2 units) 

1-bedroom 50 m2 (535 ft2) $975 $38,250 11% (2 units) 6% (1 unit) 

2-bedroom 69 m2 (741 ft2) $1,218 $46,800 39% (7 units) 39% (7 units) 

3-bedroom 91 m2 (980 ft2) $1,480 $58,050 39% (7 units) 33% (6 units) 

Total N/A N/A N/A 18 units 89% (16 units) 
(1)  May be adjusted periodically as provided for under adopted City policy. 
(2)  Unit mix in the above table may be adjusted through the Development Permit Process provided that the total area comprises at 

least 10 per cent of the subject development’s total residential building area (excluding market rental unit floor area). 
 
The Housing Agreement tied to the LEMR units will set maximum permitted rents and 
household income thresholds as outlined above; income thresholds will be used to identify 
eligible tenants. A Housing Covenant will be used to secure the minimum unit sizes and location 
of each LEMR unit, and the allocation of parking spaces to the units.  
 
In addition to setting maximum rents and income thresholds, the Housing Agreement will protect 
tenants from any age-based occupancy restrictions, limits on access to indoor and outdoor 
amenity spaces, and the imposition of additional fees including parking fees, strata fees, amenity 
fees and move-in/move-out fees. The Agreement provides for an annual statutory declaration 
process used to ensure compliance with its terms and conditions. Should the owner choose to sell 
the LEMR units, the Agreement requires that all of the affordable housing units be maintained 
under single ownership (within one air space parcel, one strata lot or by way of a legal agreement 
to the satisfaction of the Director of Development). 
 
The Applicant has agreed to the terms and conditions set out in the Agreement and to register a 
notice of the Housing Agreement on Title. 
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Market Rental Housing Units 

The total residential floor area of the market rental units is approximately 10,860 ft2 (1,009 m2).  
Should minor adjustments be made as a result of more detailed design, staff will ensure the total 
floor area of the market rental units continues to uphold the market rental housing requirement.  

The City’s Market Rental Policy provides that 40 per cent of the units must be family-friendly 
and that units should incorporate Basic Universal Housing (BUH) design allowing tenants to 
age-in-place. In this case, 9 of the 13 market rental units (69 per cent) will be family-friendly and 
10 units (77 per cent) will include a BUH design. Overall, the mix of market rental units will 
uphold the objectives of the City’s Market Rental Policy.  

Similar to the Housing Agreement for the LEMR units, the Market Rental Housing Agreement 
will secure the rental tenure of the 13 market rental units, in addition to ensuring rental rates 
remain aligned with those that would be charged for the rental of a comparable dwelling unit in a 
comparable location. The Agreement will protect tenants from age-based occupancy restrictions, 
and limits on access to common indoor and outdoor amenity spaces, parking spaces, bicycle 
storage area, and electric vehicle charging stations. Further, the Agreement will provide for an 
annual statutory declaration process to ensure compliance with its terms and conditions. A 
Housing Covenant will be registered to, amongst other things, provide for the allocation of 
parking spaces for the market rental units.    

The Applicant has agreed to the terms and conditions set out in the Housing Agreement and to 
register a notice of the Housing Agreement on Title. 

Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

A Housing Agreement is required as a means of securing 18 LEMR units and 13 market rental 
units at 10611 and 10751 River Drive. Council’s adoption of Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 
10524 and Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 10525 will ensure the LEMR units and market rental 
units are maintained, in perpetuity, in accordance with the objectives of the City of Richmond’s 
Affordable Housing Strategy, Market Rental Policy and the applicable policies of the Official 
Community Plan. 

Sahara Shrestha
Planner 1, Affordable Housing 
(604-247-4946) 

Att. 1: Map of 10611 and 10751 River Drive 
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 Bylaw 10524  

 
 

Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) 
(10611 and 10751 River Drive) Bylaw No. 10524 

 
The Council of the City of Richmond enacts as follows: 

1. The Mayor and City Clerk for the City of Richmond are authorized to execute and deliver a 
housing agreement, substantially in the form set out as Schedule A to this Bylaw, with the 
owner of the lands legally described as: 

 
PID: 008-930-601 
Lot 133 Fractional Section 23 Block 5 North, Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 
28254 
 
PID: 003-715-868 
Lot 132 Section 23 Block 5 North Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 28394 

2. This Bylaw is cited as “Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (10611 and 10751 River 
Drive) Bylaw No. 10524”. 

 
 
 
FIRST READING   

SECOND READING   

THIRD READING   

ADOPTED   

 

    
 MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF 
RICHMOND 

APPROVED 
for content by 

originating 
dept. 

 
 

APPROVED 
for legality 
by Solicitor 

 
 
 

'( City of 
,, Richmond 

CNCL - 170

AFeatherstone
GN initials



Bylaw  10524    

 
Schedule A 

 
To Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (10611 and 10751 River Drive) 

 Bylaw No. 10524 
HOUSING AGREEMENT BETWEEN BAINS PROPERTIES AND CITY OF RICHMOND 
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AFFORDABLE HOUSING AGREEMENT 
(Section 483, Local Government Act) 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference 3rd day of April, 2024 

BETWEEN: 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER DRIVE) INC. (Inc. No. BC1329075), 
a company duly incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia and having its registered office at 6728 Riverdale Drive, 
Richmond, BC V7C 2G I; and 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER POINTE) LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP (Registration No. LP0862750), a limited partnership 
duly registered pursuant to the laws of the Province of British Columbia 
having its registered office at 6 728 Riverdale Drive, Richmond, 
BC V7C 2Gl 

(collectively, the "Owner") 

AND: 

WHEREAS: 

CITY OF RICHMOND, a municipal corporation pursuant to the Local 
Government Act and having its offices at 6911 No. 3 Road, Richmond, 
British Columbia, V6Y 2Cl 

(the "City") 

A. Capitalized terms used in these Recitals and in this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed 
in Section 1.1; 

B. The Owner is the owner of the Lands; 

C. Section 483 of the local Government Act permits the City to enter into and, by legal notation on 
title, note on title to lands, housing agreements which may include, without limitation, conditions 
in respect to the form of tenure of housing units, availability of housing units to classes of 
persons, administration of housing units and rent which may be charged for housing units; and 

D. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement to provide for affordable housing, 
pursuant to the Affordable Housing Strategy, on the terms and conditions set out in this 
Agreement, 

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of $10.00 and other good and valuable consideration (the receipt 
and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by both parties), and in consideration of the promises 
exchanged below, the Owner and the City covenant and agree as follows: 

{ 021 I 8323.4} 

1617545 

Affordable Housing Agreement (Section 483 Local Gover11ment Act) 
Address: 106 I I and 1075] River Drive 

Application No. RZ 21•941625, Housing Agreement Bylaw 10525, RZC #IS 
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ARTICLE 1 
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement the following words have the following meanings: 

(a) "Affordable Housing Strategy" means the Richmond Affordable Housing Strategy 
approved by the City on March 12, 2018, and containing a number of recommendations, 
policies, directions, priorities, definitions and annual targets for affordable housing, as 
may be amended or replaced from time to time; 

(b) "Affordable Housing Unit'' means a Dwelling Unit or Dwelling Units located or to be 
located on the Lands and designated as such in accordance with any Building Pennit or 
Development Permit issued by the City or, if applicable, in accordance with any rezoning 
consideration applicable to the Development and includes, without limiting the generality 
of the foregoing, the Dwelling Units located or to be located on the Lands charged by this 
Agreement; 

(c) "Agreement" means this agreement together with all schedules, attachments and priority 
agreements attached hereto; 

(d) "Building" means any building constructed, or to be constructed, on the Lands, or a 
portion thereof, including each air space parcel into which the Lands may be Subdivided 
from time to time. For greater certainty, each air space parcel and remainder will be a 
Building for the purpose of this Agreement; 

(e) "Building Permit" means the building permit authorizing construction on the Lands, or 
any portion(s) thereof; 

(f) "City" means the City of Richmond; 

(g) "City Solicitor" means the individual appointed from time to time to be the City Solicitor 
of the Law Division of the City, or his or her designate; 

(h) "Common Amenities" means all indoor and outdoor areas, recreational facilities and 
amenities that are provided for common use of all residential occupants of the 
Development, including all Tenants, as required by the OCP, any rezoning consideration 
applicable to the Development, and the Development Permit process, including without 
limitation visitor parking, the required affordable housing parking and electric vehicle 
charging stations, loading bays, bicycle storage and supporting bicycle maintenance 
facilities, fitness facilities, and related access routes; 

(i) "CPI" means the All-Items Consumer Price Index for Vancouver, British Columbia, 
published from time to time by Statistics Canada, or its successor in function; 

(i) "Daily Amount" means $ I 00.00 per day as of January l, 2019 adjusted annually 
thereafter by adding thereto an amount calculated by multiplying $ I 00. 00 by the 
percentage change in the CPI since January 1, 2019, to January I of the year that a 
written notice is delivered to the Owner by the City pursuant to section 7.1 of this 
Agreement. In the absence of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the City of the 
Daily Amount in any particular year shall be final and conclusive; 

{02118323.4) 

7617545 

Affordable Housins Agreement (Section 483 Local Government Act} 
Address: 10611 and 10751 River Drive 

Applicalion No. RZ 21•941625. Housing Agn:ement Bylaw 10525, RZC #15 
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(k) "Development" means the residential development to be constructed on the Lands; 

(I) "Development Permit" means the development permit authorizing development on the 
Lands, or any portion(s) thereof; 

(m) "Director of Community Social Development" means the City's Director, Community 
Social Development in the Planning and Development Division of the City, and his or her 
designate; 

(n) "Director of Development'' means the City's Director, Development in the Planning and 
Development Division of the City, and his or her designate 

(o) "Dwelling Unit'' means a residential dwelling unit located or to be located on the Lands 
whether such dwelling unit is a lot, strata lot or parcel, or parts or portions thereof, and 
includes a single family detached dwelling, duplex, townhouse, auxiliary residential 
dwelling unit, rental apartment, and strata lot in a building strata plan and includes, where 
the context permits, an Affordable Housing Unit; 

(p) "Eligible Tenanf' means a Family having a cumulative annual income of: 

(i) in respect to a studio unit, $34,650.00 or less; 

(ii) in respect to a one-bedroom unit, $38,250.00 or less; 

(iii) in respect to a two-bedroom unit, $46,800.00 or less; or 

(iv) in respect to a three or more bedroom unit, $58,050.00 or less 

provided that, commencing January l, 2019, the annual incomes set out above shall be 
adjusted annually on January 1st of each year this Agreement is in force and effect, by a 
percentage equal to the percentage of the increase in the CPI for the period January 1 to 
December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year. lf there is a decrease in the 
CPI for the period January l to December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, 
the annual incomes set out above for the subsequent year shall remain unchanged from 
the previous year. [n the absence of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the City 
of an Eligible Tenant's permitted income in any particular year shall be final and 
conclusive; 

(q) "Family" means: 

(i) a person; 

(ii) two or more persons related by blood, marriage or adoption; or 

(iii) a group of not more than six (6) persons who are not related by blood, marriage 
or adoption 

(r) "GST" means the Goods and Services Tax levied pursuant to the Excise Tax Act, R.S.C., 
1985, c. E-15, as may be replaced or amended from time to time; 

I 02118323.4} 

1617S4S 

Affordable Housing Agreement (Section 483 Local Government Act) 
Address: 10611 and 107SJ River Drive 

Application No. RZ 21•941625, Housing Agreement Bylaw 10525, RZC #15 
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(s) "Housing Covenant" means the agreements, covenants and charges granted by the 
Owner to the City (which includes covenants pursuant to section 219 of the Land Title 
Act) charging the Lands from time to time, in respect to the use and transfer of the 
Affordable Housing Units; 

(t) "Interpretation Act" means the Interpretation Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, Chapter 238, together 
with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(u) "Land Title Act" means the Land Tille Act, R.S.B. C. 1996, Chapter 250, together with all 
amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(v) "Lands" means certain lands and premises legally described as follows: 

(i) Parcel Identifier: 003-715-868, Lot 132 Section 23 Block 5 North Range 6 West 
New Westminster District Plan 28394; and 

(ii) Parcel Identifier: 008-930-60 l, Lot 133 Fractional Section 23 Block 5 North 
Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 28254, 

as may be Subdivided from time to time, and including a Building or a portion of a 
Building; 

(w) "Local Government Acf' means the Local Government Act, R.S.B.C. 2015, Chapter I, 
together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(x) "LTO" means the New Westminster Land Title Office or its successor; 

(y) "Occupancy Certificate" means a certificate issued by a City building inspector 
permitting occupancy of a Building pursuant to the City's Building Regulation 
Bylaw 7230, as may be amended or replaced; 

(z) "OCP" means together the City of Richmond Otlicial Community Plan Bylaw No. 7100 
and Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 9000, as may be amended or replaced from time 
to time; 

(aa) "Owner" means the party described on page 1 of this Agreement as the Owner and any 
subsequent owner of the Lands or of any part into which the Lands are Subdivided, and 
includes any person who is a registered owner in fee simple of an Affordable Housing 
Unit from time to time; 

(bb) "Parking Operator" means one of (i) the Owner, or (ii) an owner of any air space parcel 
fonned by the registration of an air space subdivision plan in respect of the Lands or (iii) 
any other company or entity, to whom the Owner grants a long-term lease over all (and 
not only some) of the parking spaces in the Development in order to facilitate the use, 
operation and management of the parking spaces, and the Parking Operator may be 
related or unrelated to the Ovvner; 

(cc) "Permitted Rent'' means no greater than: 

(i) $811.00 (exclusive of GST) a month for a studio unit; 

{02118323.4} 

7617545 

Affordable Housing Agreement (Section 483 Local Governme111 Act) 
Address: 10611 and I 07 51 River Drive 
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(ii) $975.00 (exclusive of GST) a month for a one-bedroom unit; 

(iii) $1,218.00 (exclusive ofGST) a month for a two-bedroom unit; and 

(iv) $1,480.00 (exclusive ofGST) a month for a three (or more) bedroom unit, 

provided that, commencing January l, 2019, the rents set out above shall be adjusted 
annually on January 1st of each year this Agreement is in force and effect, by a 
percentage equal to the percentage of the increase in the CPI for the period January 1 to 
December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year up until the year in which an 
Occupancy Certificate is issued by the City for the Building. Commencing January 1st of 
the year following the year in which an Occupancy Certificate is issued by the City for 
the Building, in the event that, in applying the values set out above, the rental increase is 
at any time greater than the rental increase permitted by the Residential Tenancy Act, 
then the increase will be reduced to the maximum amount permitted by the Residential 
Tenancy Act. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Residential 
Tenancy Act or the Residential Tenancy Regulation, the foregoing cap on the increase to 
Permitted Rent to that permitted by the Residential Tenancy Act shall apply to the annual 
calculation of the maximum Permitted Rent independent of any exemption status of the 
Owner (i.e. non-profit housing society) or any change in Tenant. If there is a decrease in 
the CPI for the period January 1 to December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar 
year, the permitted rents set out above for the subsequent year shall remain unchanged 
from the previous year. In the absence of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the 
City of the Pennitted Rent in any particular year shall be final and conclusive; 

( dd) "Real Estate Development Marketing Act' means the Real Estate Development 
Marketing Act, S.B.C. 2004, Chapter 41, together with all amendments thereto and 
replacements thereof; 

(ee) "Residential Tenancy Acf' means the Residential Tenancy Act, S.B.C. 2002, Chapter 78, 
together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(ff) "Residential Tenancy Regulation" means the Residential Tenancy Regulation, B.C. Reg. 
477/2003, together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(gg) "Senior" means an individual of the age defined by the City as a senior for the purposes 
of City programs, as may be amended from time to time and at the time of this 
Agreement being defined as 55 years of age and older; 

(hh) "Strata Property Act" means the Strata Property Act S.B.C. 1998, Chapter 43, together 
with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(ii) "Subdivide" means to divide, apportion, consolidate or subdivide the Lands, or the 
ownership or right to possession or occupation of the Lands into two or more lots, strata 
lots, parcels, parts, portions or shares, whether by plan, descriptive words or otherwise, 
under the Land Title Act, the Strata Property Act, or otherwise, and includes the creation, 
conversion, organization or development of "cooperative interests" or "shared interest in 
land" as defined in the Real Estate Development Marketing Act; 

(jj) "Tenancy Agreement" means a tenancy agreement, lease, license or other agreement 
granting rights to occupy an Affordable Housing Unit; and 
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(kk) "Tenant" means an occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit by way of a Tenancy 
Agreement. 

1.2 In this Agreement: 

(a) reference to the singular includes a reference to the plural, and vice versa, wiless the 
context requires otherwise; 

(b) article and section headings have been inserted for ease of reference only and are not to 
be used in interpreting this Agreement; 

(c) if a word or expression is defined in this Agreement, other parts of speech and 
grammatical forms of the same word or expression have corresponding meanings; 

(d) reference to any enactment includes any regulations, orders or directives made under the 
authority of that enactment; 

(e) any reference to any enactment is to the enactment in force on the date the Owner signs 
this Agreement, and to subsequent amendments to or replacements of the enactment; 

(f) the provisions of section 25 of the Interpretation Act with respect to the calculation of 
time apply; 

(g) time is of the essence; 

(h) all provisions are to be interpreted as always speaking; 

(i) reference to a "party" is a reference to a party to this Agreement and to that party's 
respective successors, assigns, trustees, administrators and receivers. Wherever the 
context so requires, reference to a "party" also includes an Eligible Tenant, agent, officer 
and invitee of the party; 

(i) reference to a "day", "month", "quarter" or "year" is a reference to a calendar day, 
calendar month, calendar quarter or calendar year, as the case may be, unless otherwise 
expressly provided; 

(k) where the word "including" is followed by a list, the contents of the list are not intended 
to circumscribe the generality of the expression preceding the word "including"; and 

(I) the terms "shall" and "will'' are used interchangeably and both will be interpreted to 
express an obligation. The tenn "may'' will be interpreted to express a pennissible action 

ARTICLE2 
USE AND OCCUPANCY OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS 

2.1 The Owner agrees that each Affordable Housing Unit may only be used as a pennanent residence 
occupied by an Eligible Tenant. An Affordable Housing Unit must not be occupied by the 
Owner, the Owner's family members (unless the Owner's family members qualify as Eligible 
Tenants), or any tenant or guest of the Owner, other than an Eligible Tenant. For the purposes of 
this Article, "pennanent residence" means that the Affordable Housing Unit is used as the usual, 
main, regular, habitual, principal residence, abode or home of the Eligible Tenant. 
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2.2 Within 30 days after receiving notice from the City, the Owner must, in respect of each 
Affordable Housing Unit, provide to the City a statutory declaration, substantially in the form 
(with, in the City Solicitor's discretion, such further amendments or additions as deemed 
necessary) attached as Schedule A, sworn by the Owner, containing all of the information 
required to complete the statutory declaration. The City may request such statutory declaration in 
respect to each Affordable Housing Unit no more than once in any calendar year; provided, 
however, notwithstanding that the Owner may have already provided such statutory declaration in 
the particular calendar year, the City may request and the Owner shall provide to the City such 
further statutory declarations as requested by the City in respect to an Affordable Housing Unit if, 
in the City's absolute determination, the City believes that the Owner is in breach of any of its 
obligations under this Agreement. 

2.3 The Owner hereby irrevocably authorizes the City to make such inquiries as it considers 
necessary in order to confirm that the Owner is complying with this Agreement. 

2.4 Notwithstanding that the Owner may otherwise be entitled, the Owner will, in respect of the 
Development: 

(a) take no steps to compel the issuance of, and the City will not be obligated to issue, the 
Development Permit, unless and until the Owner, has: 

(i) submitted to the City a Development Permit application that includes the 
Affordable Housing Units; and 

(ii) at its cost, executed and registered against title to the Lands, or portion thereof, 
such additional legal agreements required by the City to facilitate the detailed 
design, construction, operation, and management of the Affordable Housing 
Units, and all ancillary and related spaces, uses, common areas, and features as 
determined by the City through the Development Petmit approval process for the 
Lands, or portion thereof; 

(b) take no steps to compel the issuance of, and the City will not be obligated to issue, a 
Building Permit, unless and until the Owner has submitted to the City a Building Permit 
application that includes the Affordable Housing Units, and all ancillary and related 
spaces, uses, common areas, and features, in accordance with the Development Permit; 

(c) not apply for an Occupancy Certificate in respect of that Development, nor take any 
action to compel issuance of an Occupancy Certificate, unless and until all of the 
following conditions are satisfied: 

(i) the Affordable Housing Units and related uses and areas have been constructed in 
accordance with this Agreement, the Housing Covenant, the Development 
Pennit, the Building Permit, and any applicable City bylaws, rules or policies, to 
the satisfaction of the City; 

(ii) the Owner is not otherwise in breach of any of its obligations under this 
Agreement or any other agreement between the City and the Owner in 
connection with the Affordable Housing Units, any facilities for the use of the 
Affordable Housing Units, including parking and any shared indoor or outdoor 
amenities; and 
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(iii) the Owner has delivered to the City, a letter of assurance, in form and content 
satisfactory to the City, from the Owner's design architect for the Building 
confinning that the Affordable Housing Units have been constructed in 
accordance with the Agreement; 

(d) not pennit the Development or any portion thereof to be occupied, unless and until the 
Affordable Housing Units have received an Occupancy Certificate granting provisional 
or final occupancy of the Affordable Housing Units; and 

(e) not subdivide the Affordable Housing Units into individual strata lots. The Owner 
acknowledges and agrees that if the Lands are subject to Subdivision by a Strata Plan, 
that the Affordable Housing Units will together form no more than one ( l) strata lot. 

ARTICLE3 
DISPOSITION AND ACQUISITION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS 

3.1 The Owner will not permit an Affordable Housing Unit to be subleased, or the Affordable 
Housing Unit Tenancy Agreement to be assigned, except as required under the Residential 
Tenancy Act. 

3.2 The Owner will not permit an Affordable Housing Unit to be used for short term rental purposes 
(being rentals for periods shorter than 30 days), or any other purposes that do not constitute a 
''permanent residence" of a Tenant or an Eligible Tenant. 

3.3 If this Housing Agreement encumbers more than one Affordable Housing Unit, the following will 
apply: 

(a) the Owner will not, without the prior written consent of the City, sell or transfer less than 
all of the Affordable Housing Units located in one building in a single or related series of 
transactions, with the result that when the purchaser or transferee of the Affordable 
Housing Units becomes the owner, the purchaser or transferee will be the legal and 
beneficial owner of not less than all of the Affordable Housing Units in one building; 

(b) if the Development contains one or more air space parcels, each air space parcel and the 
remainder will be a "building'' for the purpose of this section 3.3; and 

(c) the Lands will not be Subdivided such that one or more Affordable Housing Units form 
their own air space parcel, separate from other Dwelling Units, without the prior written 
consent of the City. 

3.4 Subject to the requirements of the Residential Tenancy Act, the Owner will ensure that each 
Tenancy Agreement: 

(a) includes the following provision: 
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the City's Affordable Housing Strategy, policies and requirements with respect to the 
provision and administration of affordable housing within the municipality and for no 
other purpose, each month during the Tenant's occupation of the Affordable Housing 
Unit: 

(i) a statement of the total, gross annual income, once per calendar year, from all 
sources (including but not limited to employment, disability, retirement, and 
investment) of all members of the Tenant's household who are 18 years of age 
and over and who reside in the Affordable Housing Unit; 

(ii) the number of occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit; 

(iii) the number of occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit 18 years of age and 
under; and 

(iv) the number of occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit who are Seniors;" 

(b) defines the tenn "Landlord" as the Owner of the Affordable Housing Unit; and 

(c) includes a provision requiring the Tenant and each pennitted occupant of the Affordable 
Housing Unit to comply with this Agreement. 

3.5 At all times that this Agreement encumbers the Lands, the Owner shall retain and maintain in 
place a non-profit organization acceptable to the City to operate and manage all of the Affordable 
Housing Units in accordance with this Agreement and in accordance with the Housing Covenant. 
All Affordable Housing Units owned by the Owner must be managed and operated by one non­
profit organization. 

With out I imiting the foregoing, the non-profit organization retained pursuant to this section 3. 5 
must have as one of its prime objectives the operation of affordable housing. At the request of 
the City, from time to time, the Owner shall deliver to the City a copy the agreement (fully signed 
and current) with the non-profit organization, to evidence the Owner·s compliance with this 
section 3 .5. 

3.6 If the Owner sells or transfers any Affordable Housing Units, the Owner will notify the City 
Solicitor and the Director of Community Social Development of the sale or transfer within three 
(3) days of the effective date of sale or transfer. 

3.7 The Owner must not rent, lease, license or otherwise permit occupancy of any Affordable 
Housing Unit except to an Eligible Tenant and except in accordance with the following additional 
conditions: 

(a) the Affordable Housing Unit will be used or occupied only pursuant to a Tenancy 
Agreement; 

(b) the monthly rent payable for the Affordable Housing Unit will not exceed the Permitted 
Rent applicable to that class of Affordable Housing Unit; 

(c) the Owner will allow the Tenant and any pennitted occupant and visitor to have full 
access to and use and enjoy all Common Amenities in the Development and will not 

{02118323.4} 

7617545 

Affordable Housing Agreement {Section 483 Local Government Act) 
Address: 10611 and 10751 River Drive 

Application No. RZ 21-941625, Housing Aa~ment Bylaw 10525, RZC #15 

CNCL - 180



Page IO 

Subdivide the Lands unless all easements and rights of way are in place to secure such 
use; 

(d) the Owner will not require the Tenant or any pennitted occupant to pay any of the 
following: 

(i) move-in/move-out fees; 

(ii) strata fees; 

(iii) strata property contingency reserve fees; 

(iv) extra charges or fees for use of any Common Amenities, common property, 
limited common property, or other common areas, facilities or amenities, 
including without limitation iiarking, bicycle storage, electric vehicle charging 
stations or related facilities; 

(v) extra charges for the use of sanitary sewer, storm sewer, or water; or 

(vi) property or similar tax; 

provided, however, that if either the Affordable Housing Unit is a strata unit and the 
following costs are not part of strata or similar fees or the Affordable Housing Unit is not 
part of a strata unit, an Owner may charge the Tenant the Owner's cost, if any, of: 

(vii) providing cable television, telephone, other telecommunications, or electricity 
fees (including electricity fees and charges associated with the Tenant's use of 
electrical vehicle charging infrastructure); 

(viii) installing electric vehicle charging infrastructure (in excess of that pre-installed 
by the Owner at the time of construction of the Development), by or on behalf of 
the Ten ant; and 

(ix) paying security fees for the use of guest suites (if any) or security and cleaning 
fees related to the use of any party or meeting room located on the Lands (if any) 
that are associated with the Tenant's use of such facilities, provided that such 
charges are the same as those payable by other residential occupants of the 
Development; 

(e) the Owner will attach a copy of this Agreement to every Tenancy Agreement; 

(0 the Owner will include in the Tenancy Agreement a clause requiring the Tenant and each 
permitted occupant of the Affordable Housing Unit to comply with this Agreement; 

(g) the Owner will include in the Tenancy Agreement a clause entitling the Owner to 
tenninate the Tenancy Agreement if: 

(i) an Affordable Housing Unit is occupied by a person or persons other than an 
Eligible Tenant; 
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(ii) the annual income of an Eligible Tenant rises above the applicable maximum 
amount specified in section 1.1 (p) of this Agreement; 

(iii) the Affordable Housing Unit is occupied by more than the number of people the 
City detennines can reside in the Affordable Housing Unit given the number and 
size of bedrooms in the Affordable Housing Unit and in light of any relevant 
standards set by the City in any bylaws of the City; 

(iv) the Affordable Housing Unit remains vacant for three (3) consecutive months or 
longer, notwithstanding the timely payment of rent; and/or 

(v) the Tenant subleases the Affordable Housing Unit or assigns the Tenancy 
Agreement in whole or in part, 

and in the case of each breach, the Owner hereby agrees with the City to forthwith 
provide to the Tenant a notice of termination. Except for section 3.7(g)(ii) of this 
Agreement [Termination of Tenancy Agreement if Annual Income of Tenant rises above 
amount prescribed in section l.l (p) [Eligible Tenant] of this Agreement}, the notice of 
termination shall provide that the termination of the tenancy shall be effective 30 days 
following the date of the notice of termination. In respect to section 3. 7(g)(ii) of this 
Agreement, termination shall be effective on the day that is six (6) months following the 
date that the Owner provided the notice of termination to the Tenant; 

(h) the Tenancy Agreement will identify all occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit and 
will stipulate that anyone not identified in the Tenancy Agreement will be prohibited 
from residing at the Affordable Housing Unit for more than 30 consecutive days or more 
than 45 days total in any calendar year; and 

(i) the Owner will forthwith deliver a certified true copy of the Tenancy Agreement to the 
City upon demand. 

3.8 If the Owner has tenninated the Tenancy Agreement, then the Owner shall use best efforts to 
cause the Tenant and all other persons that may be in occupation of the Affordable Housing Unit 
to vacate the Affordable Housing Unit on or before the effective date of termination. 

3.9 The Owner shall not impose any age-based restrictions on Tenants of Affordable Housing Units, 
unless expressly permitted by the City in writing in advance. 

3 .10 The Owner acknowledges its duties not to discriminate with respect to tenancies and agrees to 
comply with the Human Rights Code (BC) with respect to tenancy matters, including tenant 
selection for the Affordable Housing Units. 

ARTICLE 4 
DEMOLITION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNIT 

4.1 The Owner will not demolish an Affordable Housing Unit unless: 

(a) the Owner has obtained the written opinion of a professional engineer or architect who is 
at ann 's length to the Owner that it is no longer reasonable or practical to repair or 
replace any structural component of the Affordable Housing Unit, and the Owner has 
delivered to the City a copy of the engineer's or architect's report; or 
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(b) the Affordable Housing Unit is damaged or destroyed, to the extent of 40% or more of its 
value above its foundations, as determined by the City in its sole discretion, 

and, in each case, a demolition permit for the Affordable Housing Unit has been issued by the 
City and the Affordable Housing Unit has been demolished under that pennit. 

Following demolition, the Owner will use and occupy any replacement Dwelling Unit in compliance 
with this Agreement and the Housing Covenant both of which will apply to any replacement 
Dwelling Unit to the same extent and in the same manner as those agreements apply to the original 
Dwelling Unit, and the Dwelling Unit must be approved by the City as an Affordable Housing Unit 
in accordance with this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 5 
STRATA CORPORATION BYLAWS 

5.1 This Agreement will be binding upon all strata corporations created upon the strata title 
Subdivision of the Lands or any Subdivided parcel of the Lands. 

5.2 Any strata corporation bylaw which prevents, restricts or abridges the right to use the Affordable 
Housing Units as rental accommodation, or imposes age-based restrictions on Tenants of 
Affordable Housing Units, will have no force and effect, unless expressly approved by the City in 
writing in advance. 

5.3 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaws preventing, restricting or abridging the use of the 
Affordable Housing Units as rental accommodation. 

5.4 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaw or approve any levies which would result in only the 
Owner or the Tenant or any other permitted occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit (and not 
include all the owners, tenants, or any other permitted occupants of all the strata lots in the applicable 
strata plan which are not Affordable Housing Units) paying any extra charges or fees for the use of 
any Common Amenities, common property, limited common property or other common areas, 
facilities, or indoor or outdoor amenities of the strata corporation. 

5.5 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaws or approve any levies, charges or fees which would 
result in the Owner or the Ten ant or any other pennitted occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit 
paying for the use of parking, bicycle storage, electric vehicle charging stations or related 
facilities contrary to section 3. 7(d). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the strata corporation may 
levy such parking, bicycle storage, electric vehicle charging stations or other related facilities 
charges or fees on all the other owners, tenants, any other pennitted occupants or visitors of all 
the strata lots in the applicable strata plan which are not Affordable Housing Units; provided, 
however, that the electricity fees, charges or rates for use of electric vehicle charging stations are 
excluded from this provision. 

5.6 The strata corporation shall not pass any bylaw or make any rule which would restrict the Owner 
or the Tenant or any other permitted occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit from using and 
enjoying any Common Amenities, common property, limited common property or other common 
areas, facilities or amenities of the strata corporation except on the same basis that governs the use 
and enjoyment of these facilities by all the owners, tenants, or any other permitted occupants of all 
the strata lots in the applicable strata plan which are not Affordable Housing Units. 
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6.1 The Owner agrees that, in addition to any other remedies available to the City under this 
Agreement or the Housing Covenant or at law or in equity, if: 

(a) an Affordable Housing Unit is used or occupied in breach of this Agreement; 

(b) an Affordable Housing Unit is rented at a rate in excess of the Pennitted Rent; 

(c) an Affordable Housing Unit is operated and maintained by an entity that is not a non­
profit organization acceptable to the City (as contemplated in section 3.5); or 

(d) the Owner is otherwise in breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement or the 
Housing Covenant, 

then the Owner will pay the Daily Amount to the City for every day that the breach continues 
after ten ( I 0) days written notice from the City to the Owner stating the particulars of the breach. 
For greater certainty, the City is not entitled to give written notice with respect to any breach of 
the Agreement until any applicable cure period, if any, has expired. The Daily Amount is due 
and payable five (5) business days following receipt by the Owner of an invoice from the City for 
the same. 

6.2 Notwithstanding Section 6. L: 

(a) if the breach arises solely as a result of an enactment of a strata bylaw by a strata 
corporation contrary to this Agreement, the City will not charge the Daily Amount to the 
registered owner of the Affordable Housing Units, except in their capacity as one of the 
owners of such strata corporation; and 

(b) if the default cannot be remedied within the applicable cure period, and the Owner has, to 
the satisfaction of the City: 

(i) delivered to the City the method and schedule for remedying the default; 

(ii) commenced remedying the default; and 

(iii) been diligently and continuously proceeding to remedy the default within the 
estimated schedule, 

the City will not charge the Owner with the Daily Amount with respect to the 
breach of the Agreement unless, in the City's opinion, the Owner has ceased to 
diligently and continuously work to remedy the default within the estimated schedule. 

6.3 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that a default by the Owner of any of its promises, 
covenants, representations or warranties set out in the Housing Covenant shall also constitute a 
default under this Agreement. 
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7.1 Housing Agreement 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that: 

(a) this Agreement includes a housing agreement entered into under section 483 of the Local 
Government Act; 

(b) where an Affordable Housing Unit is a separate legal parcel the City may file notice of 
this Agreement in the LTO against the title to the Affordable Housing Unit and, in the 
case of a strata corporation, may note this Agreement on the common property sheet; and 

(c) where the Lands have not yet been Subdivided to create the separate parcels to be 
charged by this Agreement, the City may file a notice of this Agreement in the LTO 
against the title to the Lands. If this Agreement is filed in the L TO as a notice under 
section 483 of the Local Government Act prior to the Lands having been Subdivided, then 
after the Lands are Subdivided, this Agreement will secure only the legal parcels which 
contain the Affordable Housing Units; and the City will partially release this Agreement 
accordingly, provided however that: 

(i) the City has no obligation to execute such release until a written request therefor 
from the Owners is received by the City, which request includes the registrable 
fonn of release (Fonn C (Release)); 

(ii) the cost of the preparation of the aforesaid release, and the cost of registration of 
the same in the Land Title Office is paid by the Owners; 

(iii) the City has a reasonable time within which to execute the Form C (Release) and 
return the same to the Owners for registration; and 

(iv) the Owners acknowledge that such release is without prejudice to the indemnity 
and release set forth in section 7.5. 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that notwithstanding a partial release of this 
Agreement, this Agreement will be and remain in full force and effect and, but for the 
partial release, otherwise unamended. 

7.2 No Compensation 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that no compensation is payable, and the Owner is not 
entitled to and will not claim any compensation from the City, for any decrease in the market 
value of the Lands or for any obligations on the part of the Owner and its successors in title which 
at any time may result directly or indirectly from the operation of this Agreement. 

7.3 Modification 

Subject to section 7.1 of this Agreement, this Agreement may be modified or amended from time 
to time, by consent of the Owner and a bylaw duly passed by the Council of the City and 
thereafter if it is signed by the City and the Owner. 
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7.4 Management 

The Owner covenants and agrees that it will ensure good and efficient management of the 
Affordable Housing Units and will pennit representatives of the City to inspect the Affordable 
Housing Units at any reasonable time, subject to the notice provisions in the Residential Tenancy 
Act. The Owner further covenants and agrees that it will maintain the Affordable Housing Units 
in a good state of repair and fit for habitation and will comply with all laws, including health and 
safety standards applicable to the Lands at no cost or charge to the Tenant. 

If applicable, the Owner further covenants and agrees that it will vote: 

(a) as owner of the Affordable Housing Units, in any applicable annual general meetings or 
special general meetings of the strata corporation; and 

(b) as the owner of the air space parcel or remainder parcel containing the Affordable 
Housing Units at any applicable meetings of the owners of the other subdivided parcels 
of the Lands, 

to ensure that the Common Amenities are maintained in a good state of repair by the strata 
corporation which includes the Affordable Housing Units and any of the Common Amenities, the 
owner of the applicable air space parcel or remainder parcel which includes any of the Common 
Amenities, and/or the Parking Operator, as applicable. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Owner acknowledges and agrees that the City, in its absolute 
discretion, may require the Owner, at the Owner's expense, to hire a person or company with the 
skill and expertise to manage the Affordable Housing Units. 

7.5 Indemnity 

The Owner will indemnify and save hannless the City and each of its elected officials, officers, 
directors, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, actions, loss, damage, costs and 
liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for or suffer or incur or be put to by 
reason of or arising out of: 

(a) any negligent act or omission of the Owner, or its officers, directors, agents, contractors 
or other persons for whom at law the Owner is responsible relating to this Agreement; 

(b) the City's refusal to issue a Development Permit, Building Permit, or Occupancy 
Certificate, or refusal to permit occupancy of any Building, or any portion thereof, 
constructed on the Lands arising out of or in connection, directly or indirectly, or that 
would not or could not have occurred "but for" this Agreement; 

(c) the construction, maintenance, repair, ownership, lease, license, operation, management 
or financing of the Lands or any Affordable Housing Unit or the enforcement of any 
Tenancy Agreement; or 

(d) without limitation, any legal or equitable wrong on the part of the Owner or any breach of 
this Agreement by the Owner, 
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7.6 Release 

The Owner hereby releases and forever discharges the City and each of its elected officials, 
officers, directors, and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, damages, actions, 
or causes of action by reason of or arising out of or which would or could not occur but for the: 

(a) construction, maintenance, repair, ownership, lease, license, operation or management of 
the Lands or any Affordable Housing Unit under this Agreement; 

(b) the City's refusal to issue a Development Pem1it, Building Permit, or Occupancy 
Certificate, or refusal to permit occupancy of any Building, or any portion thereof, 
constructed on the Lands arising out of or in connection, directly or indirectly, or that 
would not or could not have occurred "but for" this Agreement; or 

(c) the exercise by the City of any of its rights under this Agreement or an enactment. 

7.7 Survival 

The obligations of the Owner set out in this Agreement, including but not limited to sections 7.5 
and 7.6 above, will survive termination or discharge of this Agreement. 

7.8 Priority 

The Owner will do everything necessary, at the Owner's expense, to ensure that this Agreement, 
if required by the City Solicitor, will be noted against title to the Lands in priority to all financial 
charges and encumbrances which may have been registered or are pending registration against 
title to the Lands save and except those specifically approved in advance in writing by the City 
Solicitor or in favour of the City, and that a notice under section 483(5) of the Local Government 
Act will be filed on the title to the Lands. 

7.9 City's Powers Unaffected 

This Agreement does not: 

(a) affect or limit the discretion, rights, duties or powers of the City under any enactment or 
at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of the Lands; 

(b) impose on the City any legal duty or obligation, including any duty of care or contractual 
or other legal duty or obligation, to enforce this Agreement; 

(c) affect or limit any enactment relating to the use or subdivision of the Lands; or 

(d) relieve the Owner from complying with any enactment, including in relation to the use or 
subdivision of the Lands. 

7 .10 Agreement for Benefit of City Only 

The Owner and the City agree that: 

( a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 
{02118323.4} 
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(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, any Tenant, or any 
future owner, lessee, occupier or user of the Lands or the building or any portion thereof, 
including any Affordable Housing Unit; and 

(c) the City may at any time execute a release and discharge of this Agreement, without 
liability to anyone for doing so, and without obtaining the consent of the Owner. 

7.11 No Public Law Duty 

Where the City is required or pennitted by this Agreement to form an opm1on, exercise a 
discretion, express satisfaction, make a determination or give its consent, the Owner agrees that 
the City is wider no public law duty of fairness or natural justice in that regard and agrees that the 
City may do any of those things in the same manner as if it were a private party and not a public 
body. 

7.12 Notice 

Any notice required to be served or given to a party herein pursuant to this Agreement will be 
sufficiently served or given if delivered, to the postal address of the Owner set out in the records 
at the L TO, and in the case of the City addressed: 

To: 

Copies to: 

Clerk, City of Richmond 
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2Cl 

City Solicitor and the Director of Community Social Development 

or to the most recent postal address provided in a written notice given by each of the parties to the 
other. Any notice which is delivered is to be considered to have been given on the first day after it is 
dispatched for delivery. 

7.13 Enuring Effect 

This Agreement will extend to and be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto 
and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

7.14 Severability 

If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, such provision or any 
part thereof will be severed from this Agreement and the resultant remainder of this Agreement 
will remain in full force and effect. 

7.15 Waiver 

All remedies of the City will be cumulative and may be exercised by the City in any order or 
concurrently in case of any breach and each remedy may be exercised any number of times with 
respect to each breach. Waiver of or delay in the City exercising any or all remedies will not 
prevent the later exercise of any remedy for the same breach or any similar or different breach. 

{02118323.4} 
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7. 16 Sole Agreement 

This Agreement, and any documents signed by the Owners contemplated by this Agreement 
(including, without limitation, the Housing Covenant), represent the whole agreement between 
the City and the Owner respecting the use and occupation of the Affordable Housing Units, and 
there are no warranties, representations, conditions or collateral agreements made by the City 
except as set forth in this Agreement. In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and 
the Housing Covenant, this Agreement shall, to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict, 
prevail. 

7.17 Further Assurance 

Upon request by the City the Owner will forthwith do such acts and execute such documents as 
may be reasonably necessary in the opinion of the City to give effect to this Agreement. 

7.18 Covenant Runs with the Lands 

This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and every parcel into which it is Subdivided in 
perpetuity. All of the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement are made by the 
Owner for itself, its personal administrators, successors and assigns, and all persons who after the 
date of this Agreement, acquire an interest in the Lands. 

7.19 Equitable Remedies 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that damages would be an inadequate remedy for the City 
for any breach of this Agreement and that the public interest strongly favours specific 
performance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise), or other equitable relief, as the only 
adequate remedy for a default under this Agreement. 

7.20 No Joint Venture 

Nothing in this Agreement will constitute the Owner as the agent, joint venturer, or partner of the 
City or give the Ov.'tler any authority to bind the City in any way. 

7.21 Applicable Law 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the laws of British Columbia (including, without 
limitation, the Residential Tenancy Act) will apply to this Agreement and all statutes referred to 
herein are enactments of the Province of British Columbia. 

7.22 Deed and Contract 

By executing and delivering this Agreement the Owner intends to create both a contract and a 
deed executed and delivered under seal. 

7.23 Joint and Several 

If the Owner is comprised of more than one person, firm or body corporate, then the covenants, 
agreements and obligations of the Owner shall be joint and several. 

7.24 Limitation on Owner's Obligations 
{02118323.4} 
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The Owner is only liable for breaches of this Agreement that occur while the Owner is the 
registered owner of the Lands provided however that notwithstanding that the Owner is no longer 
the registered owner of the Lands, the Owner will remain liable for breaches of this Agreement 
that occurred while the Owner was the registered owner of the Lands. 

[remainder of page intentionally blank] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement with effect as of the day and year 
first above written. 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER DRIVE) 
INC., by its authorized signatory(ies): 

Name: 
Title: 

Name: 
Title: 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER POINTE) 
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, by its General 
Partner BAINS MANAGEMENT CORP., by 
its authorized signatory(ies): 

Name.~;"< 
Title: l) :re.c.+.,r 

Name: 
Title: 

CITY OF RICHMOND, 
by its authorized signatories: 

Malcolm D. Brodie, Mayor 

Claudia Jesson, Corporate Officer 
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Appendix A to Housing Agreement 

STATUTORY DECLARATION 
(Affordable Housing Units) 

IN THE MATTER OF Unit Nos. 

Page 21 

---
CANADA 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

(collectively, the "Affordable Housing Units") located at 

PROVINCE OF BRITISH 
COLUMBIA 

(street address), British Columbia, and Housing Agreement 
dated ________ , 20 __ (the "Housing 

TOWIT: 
Agreement") between 

and the 

City of Richmond (the "City") 

I, ___________________________ (fufl name), 

of _______________________ (address) in the Province 

of British Columbia, DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE that: 

1. r I am the registered owner (the "Owner") of the Affordable Housing Units; 

or, 

L I am a director, officer, or an authorized signatory of the Owner and I have personal knowledge 

of the matters set out herein: 

2. This declaration is made pursuant to the terms of the Housing Agreement in respect of the 

Affordable Housing Units and information as of the __ day of _______ , 20_: 

3. Continuously since the last Statutory Declaration process: 

a) the Affordable Housing Units, if occupied, were occupied only by Eligible Tenants (as 

defined in the Housing Agreement); and 

b) the Owner of the Affordable Housing Units complied with the Owner's obligations under the 

Housing Agreement and any housing covenant(s) registered against title to the Affordable 

Housing Units; 

4. The information set out in the table attached as Appendix A hereto (the "Information Table") in 

respect of each of the Affordable Housing Units is current and accurate as of the date of this 

declaration; and 
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... continued from Page 1 - Page 2 of 2 

5. I obtained the prior written consent from each of the occupants of the Affordable Housing Units 

named in the Information Table to: (i) collect the information set out in the Information Table, as 

such information relates to the Affordable Housing Unit occupied by such occupant/resident; and 

(ii) disclose such information to the City, for purposes of complying with the terms of the Housing 

Agreement. 

And I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing it to be true and knowing that it is of the 

same force and effect as if made under oath and by virtue of the Canada Evidence Act. 

DECLARED BEFORE ME at 

______________ in the 

Province of British Columbia, Canada, this 

__ day of _______ , 20 __ 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) )-----------------
) (Signature of Oecfarant) 

----------------) 
Name: 

A Notary Public and a Commissioner for 
taking Affidavits in and for the Province of 
British Columbia 

) 
) 
) 
) 

Declarations should be signed, stamped, and dated and witnessed by a lawyer, 
notary p11bllc, or commissioner for taking affidavits. 
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 Bylaw 10525  

 
 

Housing Agreement (Market Rental Housing) 
(10611 and 10751 River Drive) Bylaw No. 10525 

 
The Council of the City of Richmond enacts as follows: 

1. The Mayor and City Clerk for the City of Richmond are authorized to execute and deliver a 
housing agreement, substantially in the form set out as Schedule A to this Bylaw, with the 
owner of the lands legally described as: 

 
PID: 008-930-601 
Lot 133 Fractional Section 23 Block 5 North, Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 
28254 
 
PID: 003-715-868 
Lot 132 Section 23 Block 5 North Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 28394 

2. This Bylaw is cited as “Housing Agreement (Market Rental Housing) (10611 and 10751 
River Drive) Bylaw No. 10525”. 

 
 
 
FIRST READING   

SECOND READING   

THIRD READING   

ADOPTED   

 

    
 MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF 
RICHMOND 

APPROVED 
for content by 

originating 
dept. 

 
 

APPROVED 
for legality 
by Solicitor 

 
 
 

'( City of 
,, Richmond 
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Schedule A 
 

To Housing Agreement (Market Rental Housing) (10611 and 10751 River Drive) 
 Bylaw No. 10525 

HOUSING AGREEMENT BETWEEN BAINS PROPERTIES AND CITY OF RICHMOND 
 

CNCL - 196



HOUSING AGREEMENT-MARKET RENTAL HOUSING 
(Section 483, Local Govemment Act) 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference the 3rd day of April, 2024 

AMONG: 

AND: 

WHEREAS: 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER DRIVE) INC. (Inc. No. BC1329075), 
a company duly incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia and having its registered office at 6728 Riverdale Drive, 
Richmond, BC V7C 201; and 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER POINTE) LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP {Registration No. LP0862750), a limited partnership 
duly registered pursuant to the laws of the Province of British Columbia 
having its registered office at 6 728 Riverdale Drive, Richmond, 
BC V7C 2Gl 

(collectively, the "Own er") 

CITY OF RICHMOND, a municipal corporation pursuant to the Local 
Government Act and having its offices at 6911 No. 3 Road, Richmond, 
BC V6Y 2CI 

(the "City") 

A. Capitalized terms used in these Recitals and in this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed 
in Section 1.1; 

B. The Owner is the owner of the Lands; 

C. Section 483 of the Local Government Act permits the City to enter into and, by legal notation on 
title, note on title to lands, housing agreements which may include, without limitation, conditions 
in respect to the form of tenure of housing units, availabilily of housing units to classes of 
persons, administration of housing units and rent which may be charged for housing units; and 

D. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement to provide for market rental housing on 
the tetms and conditions set out in this Agreement, 

In consideration of $10.00 and other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is acknowledged by both parties), and in consideration of the promises exchanged below, the 
Owner and the City covenant and agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement the following words have the following meanings: 
{02118328.3 l 

7632778 

Housing Agreement (Section 483 Local Government Act)- Market Rental 
Address: l0611 and 10751 River Drive 

Application No. RZ 21-941625, RZC no. 16 

CNCL - 197



(a) "Agreement" means this agreement together with all schedules, attachments and priority 
agreements attached hereto; 

(b) "Building" means any buildi11g constructed, or to be constructed, on the Lands, or a 
portion thereof, including each air space parcel into which the Lands may be Subdivided 
from time to time. For greater certainty, each air space parcel and remainder will be a 
Building for the purpose of this Agreement; 

(c) "Building Permit" means the building permit authorizing construction on the Lands, or 
any portion(s) thereof; 

(d) "City" means the City of Richmond; 

(e) "City Solicitor" means the individual appointed from time to time to be the City Solicitor 
of the Law Division of the City, or his or her designate; 

(f) "Common Amenities" means aJl indoor and outdoor areas, recreationaJ facilities and 
amenities that are provided for common use of all residential occupants of the 
Development, including all Tenants, as required by the OCP, any rez.oning consideration 
applicable to the Development, and the Development Pennit process, including without 
limitation visitor parking, the required moderate income affordable housing parking and 
electric vehicle charging stations, loading bays, bicycle storage and supporting bicycle 
maintenance facilities, fitness facilities, and related access routes; 

(g) "CPI" means the All-Items Consumer Price Index for Vancouver, B.C. published from 
time to time by Statistics Canada, or its successor in function; 

(h) "Daily Amount" means $100.00 per day as of January l, 2021 adjusted annually 
thereafter by adding thereto an amount calculated by multiplying $100.00 by the 
percentage change in the CPI since Janua,y 1, 2021, to January 1 of the year that a 
written notice is delivered to the Owner by the City pursuant to section 6.1 of this 
Agreement. In the absence of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the City of the 
Daily Amount in any particular year shall be final and conclusive; 

(i) "Development" means the residential development to be constructed on the Lands; 

(j) "Development Permit" means the development pennit authorizing development on the 
Lands, or any portion(s) thereof; 

(k) "Director of Development" means the City's Director, Development, in the Planning 
and Development Division of the City, and his or her designate; 

(l) "Dwelling Unit'' means a residential dwelling unit located or to be located on the Lands 
whether such dwelling unit is a lot, strata lot or parcel, or parts or portions thereof, and 
includes a single family detached dwelling, duplex, townhouse, auxiliary residential 
dwelling unit, rental apartment, and strata lot in a building strata plan and includes, where 
the context permits, a Market Rental Housing Unit; 

(m) "GST" means the Goods and Services Tax levied pursuant to the Excise Tax Act, R.S.C., 
1985, c. E-15, as may be replaced or amended from time to time; 
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(n) "Housing Covenant" means the agreements, covenants and charges granted by the 
Owner to the City (which includes covenants pursuant to section 219 of the Land Title 
Act) charging the Lands from time to time, in respect to the use and transfer of the Market 
Rental Housing Units; 

(o) "Interpretation Act'' means the Interpretation Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, Chapter 238, together 
with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(p} "Land Title Act" means the Land Title Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, Chapter 250, together with all 
amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(q) ''Lands" means the lands and premises legally described currently as follows: 

(i) Parcel Identifier: 003-715-868, Lot 132 Section 23 Block 5 North Range 6 West 
New Westminster Districl Plan 28394; and 

(ii} Parcel Identifier: 008-930-601, Lot 133 Fractional Section 23 Block 5 North 
Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 28254, 

including a Building or a portion of a Building thereon, and any lands into which said 
lands are Subdivided; 

(r) "Local Government Act" means the Lorn! Govemment Act, R.S.B.C. 2015, Chapter 1, 
together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(s) "L TO" means the New Westminster Land Title Office or its successor; 

(t) "Market Rent" means the amount of rent that a willing and reasonable landlord would 
charge for the rental of a comparable dwelling unit in a comparable location for a 
comparable period of time; 

(u) "Market Rental Housing Unit'' means a Dwelling Unit or Dwelling Units located or to 
be located on the Lands designated as such in accordance with any Building Permit or 
Development Pennit issued by the City or, if applicable, or, if applicable, in accordance 
with any rezoning consideration applicable to the Development and includes, without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Dwelling Units located or to be located on the 
Lands charged by this Agreement; 

(v) "Occupancy Certificate" means a certificate issued by a City building inspector 
permitting occupancy of a Building pursuant to the City's Building Regulation 
Bylaw 7230, as may be amended or replaced; 

(w) "OCP" means together the City of Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 7100 
and Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 9000, as may be amended or replaced from time 
to time; 

(x) "O,vner'' means the party described on page I of this Agreement as the Owner and any 
subsequent owner of the Lands or of any part into which the Lands are Subdivided, and 
includes any person who is a registered owner in fee simple of a Market Rental Housing 
Unit from time to time; 
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(y) "Real Estate Development Marketing Ad' means the Real Estate Development 
Marketing Act, S.B.C. 2004, Chapter 41, together with all amendments thereto and 
replacements thereof; 

(z) "Residential Tenancy Ad' means the Residential Tenancy Act, S.B.C. 2002, Chapter 78, 
together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(aa) "Senior" means an individual of the age defined by the City as a senior for the purposes 
of City programs, as may be amended from time to time and at the time of this 
Agreement being defined as 55 years of age and older; 

(bb) "Strata Property Act" means the Strata Property Act S.B.C. 1998, Chapter 43, together 
with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(cc) "Subdivide" means to divide, apportion, consolidate or subdivide the Lands, or the 
ownership or right to possession or occupation of the Lands into two or more lots, strata 
lots, parcels, parts, portions or shares, whether by plan, descriptive words or otherwise, 
under the Land Title Act, the Strata Property Act, or otherwise, and includes the creation, 
conversion, organization or development of "cooperative interests" or "shared interest in 
land" as defined in the Real Estare Development Marketing Act; 

(dd) "Tenancy Agreement" means a tenancy agreement, lease, license or other agreement 
granting rights to occupy a Market Rental Housing Unit; and 

(ee) "Tenant" means an occupant of a Market Rental Housing Unit by way of a Tenancy 
Agreement. 

1.2 In this Agreement: 

(a) reference to the singular includes a reference to the plural, and vice versa, unless the 
context requires otherwise; 

(b) article and section headings have been inserted for ease of reference only and are not to 
be used in interpreting this Agreement; 

(c) if a word or expression is defined in this Agreement, other parts of speech and 
grammatical forms of the same word or expression have corresponding meanings; 

(d) reference to any enactment includes any regulations, orders or directives made under the 
authority of that enactment; 

(e) any reference to any enactment is to the enactment in force on the date the Owner signs 
this Agreement, and to subsequent amendments to or replacements of the enactment; 

(f) the provisions of section 25 of the Interpretation Act with respect to the calculation of 
time apply; 

(g) time is of the essence; 

(h) all provisions are to be interpreted as always speaking; 
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(i) reference to a "party"' is a reference to a party to this Agreement and to that party's 
respective successors, assigns, trustees, administrators and receivers. Wherever the 
context so requires, reference to a "party" also includes a tenant, agent, officer and 
invitee of the party; 

G) reference to a "day", "month", "quarter" or "year" is a reference to a calendar day, 
calendar month, calendar quarter or calendar year, as the case may be, unless otherwise 
expressly provided; and 

(k) where the word "including" is followed by a list, the contents of the list are not intended 
to circumscribe the generality of the expression preceding the word "including". 

ARTICLE2 
USE AND OCCUPANCY OF RENTAL HOUSING UNITS 

2.1 The Owner agrees that each Market Rental Housing Unit may only be used as a pennanent 
residence occupied by a Tenant at or below Market Rent. A Market Rental Housing Unit must 
not be occupied by the Owner, the Owner's family members (unless the Owner's family members 
qualify as Tenants), or any tenant or guest of the Owner, other than the Tenant. For the purposes 
of this Article, "permanent residence" means that the Market Rental Housing Unit is used as the 
usual, main, regular, habitual, principal residence, abode or home of the Tenant. 

2.2 Within 30 days after receiving notice from the City, the Owner must in respect of each Market 
Rental Housing Unit, provide to the City a statutory declaration, substantially in the form (with, 
in the City Solicitor's discretion. such further amendments or additions as deemed necessary) 
attached as Schedule A, sworn by the Owner, containing all of the information required to 
complete the statutory declaration. The City may request such statutory declaration in respect to 
each Market Rental Housing Unit no more than once in any calendar year; provided, however, 
notwithstanding that the Owner may have already provided such statutory declaration in the 
particular calendar year, the City may request and the Owner shall provide to the City such 
further statutory declarations as requested by the City in respect to an Market Rental Housing 
Unit if, in the City's absolute determination, the City believes that the Owner is in breach of any 
of its obligations under this Agreement 

2.3 The Owner hereby irrevocably authorizes the City to make such inquiries as it considers 
necessary in order to confirm that the Owner is complying with this Agreement. 

2.4 Notwithstanding that the Owner may otherwise be entitled, the Owner will, in respect of the 
Development: 

(a) take no steps to compel the issuance of, and the City will not be obligated to issue, the 
Development Pennit, unless and until the Owner, has: 

(i) submitted to the City a Development Permit application that includes the Market 
Rental Housing Units; and 

(ii) at its cost, executed and registered against title to the Lands, or portion thereof, 
such additional legal agreements required by the City to facilitate the detailed 
design, construction, operation, and management of the Market Rental Housing 
Units, and all ancillary and related spaces, uses, common areas, and features as 
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determined by the City through the Development Pennit approval process for the 
Lands, or portion thereof; 

(b) take no steps to compel the issuance of, and the City will not be obligated to issue, a 
Building Pennit, unless and until the Owner has submitted to the City a Building Permit 
application that includes the Market Rental Housing Units, and all ancillary and related 
spaces, uses, common areas, and features, in accordance with the Development Permit; 

(c) not apply for an Occupancy Certificate in respect of that Development, nor take any 
action to compel issuance of an Occupancy Certificate, unless and until all of the 
following conditions are satisfied: 

(i) the Market Rental Housing Units and related uses and areas have been 
constructed in accordance with this Agreement, the Housing Covenant, the 
Development Permit, the Building Permit, and any applicable City bylaws, rules 
or policies, to the satisfaction of the City; 

(ii) the Owner is not otherwise in breach of any of its obligations under this 
Agreement or any other agreement between the City and the Owner in 
connection with the Market Rental Housing Units, any facilities for the use of the 
Market Rental Housing Units, including parking and any shared indoor or 
outdoor amenities; and 

(iii) the Owner has delivered to the City, a letter of assurance, in form and content 
satisfactory to the City, from the Owner's design architect for the Building 
confirming that the Market Rental Housing Units have been constructed in 
accordance with the Agreement; 

(d) not permit the Development or any portion thereof to be occupied, unless and until the 
Market Rental Housing Units have received an Occupancy Certificate granting 
provisional or final occupancy of the Market Rental Housing Units; and 

(e) not subdivide the Market Rental Housing Units into individual strata lots. The Owner 
acknowledges and agrees that if the Lands are subject to Subdivision by a Strata Plan, 
that the Market Rental Housing Units will together form no more than one (l) strata lot. 

ARTICLE3 
DISPOSITION AND ACQUISITION OF MARKET RENTAL HOUSING UNITS 

3 .1 Without limiting section 2 .1, the Owner wil 1 not permit a Market Rental Housing Unit to be used 
for short term rental purposes (being rentals for periods shorter than 30 days), or any other 
purposes that do not constitute a "permanent residence" of a Tenant (as contemplated in 
section 2.1 ). Notwithstanding the foregoing, and for greater certainty, nothing in this Agreement 
will prevent renting of a Market Rental Housing Unit to a Tenant on a "month-to-month" basis. 

3.2 If this Agreement encumbers more than one Market Rental Housing Unit, then the following will 
apply: 

(a) the Owner may not, without the prior written consent of the City Solicitor, sell or transfer 
less than all of the Market Rental Housing Units in a single or related series of 
transactions with the result that when the purchaser or transferee of the Market Rental 
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Housing Units becomes the owner, the purchaser or transferee will be the legal and 
beneficial owner of not less than all of the Market Ren ta! Housing Units; 

(b) the Owner will not, without the prior written consent of the City, sell or transfer less than 
all of the Market RentaJ Housing Units located in one building in a single or related series 
of transactions, with the result that when the purchaser or transferee of the Market Rental 
Housing Units becomes the owner, the purchaser or transferee will be the legal and 
beneficial owner of not less than all of the Market Rental Housing Units in one building; 

(c) if the Development contains one or more air space parcels, each air space parcel and the 
remainder will be a "building" for the purpose of this section 3.2; and 

(d) the Lands will not be Subdivided such that one or more Market Rental Housing Units 
form their own air space parcel, separate from other Dwelling Units, without the prior 
written consent of the City. 

3.3 If the Owner sells or transfers any Market RentaJ Housing Units, the Owner will notify the City 
Solicitor of the sale or transfer within three (3) days of the effective date of sale or transfer. 

3.4 Subject to the requirements of the Residential Tenancy Act, the Owner will ensure that each 
Tenancy Agreement: 

(a) includes the following provision: 

"By entering into this Tenancy Agreement, the Tenant hereby consents and agrees to the 
collection of the below-listed personal information by the Landlord and/or any operator 
or manager engaged by the Landlord and the disclosure by the Landlord and/or any 
operator or manager engaged by the Landlord to the City of Richmond (the "City") 
and/or the Landlord, as the case may be, of the following personal information which 
information will be used by the City to verify and ensure compliance by the Owner with 
the City's strategy, policies and requirements with respect to the provision and 
administration of affordable housing within the municipality and for no other purpose, 
each month during the Tenant's occupation of the Market Rental Housing Unit: 

(i) the number of occupants of the Market RentaJ Housing Unit; 

(ii) the number of occupants of the Market Rental Housing Unit 18 years of age and 
under; and 

(iii) the number of occupants of the Market Rental Housing Unit who are Seniors"; 

(b) defines the term "Landlord" as the Owner of the Moderate Income Housing Unit; and 

(c) includes a provision requiring the Tenant and each permitted occupant of the Moderate 
Income Housing Unit to comply with this Agreement. 

3.5 Subject to the requirements of the Residential Tenancy Act, the Owner must not rent, lease, 
license or otherwise permit occupancy of any Market Rental Housing Unit except to a Tenant and 
except in accordance with the following additional conditions: 
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(a) the Market Rental Housing Unit will be used or occupied only pursuant to a Tenancy 
Agreement; 

(b) the monthly rent payable for the Market Rental Housing Unit will be at or below Market 
Rent; and 

(c) the Owner will allow the Tenant and any permitted occupant and visitor of the Market 
Rental Housing Units to have full access to and use and enjoy all on-site common indoor 
and outdoor amenity spaces on the Lands, subject to reasonable rules and regulations 
established by the Owner or the Owner's property manager consistent with good and 
efficient management of the Market Rental Housing Units and the standard of 
management of rental properties similar to the Market Rental Housing Units. 

3.6 The Owner shall not impose any age-based restrictions on Tenants of Market Rental Housing 
Units. 

3.7 The Owner acknowledges its duties not to discriminate with respect to tenancies and agrees to 
comply with the Human Rights Code (BC) with respect to tenancy matters, including tenant 
selection. 

3.8 The Owner will include in the Tenancy Agreement a clause requiring the Tenant and each 
pennitted occupant of the Market Rental Housing Unit to comply with this Agreement. 

3.9 The Owner will attach a copy of this Agreement to every Tenancy Agreement. 

3.10 If the Owner has tenninated the Tenancy Agreement, subject to the requirements of the 
Residential Tenancy Act, then the Owner shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the 
Tenant and all other persons that may be in occupation of the Market Rental Housing Unit, as 
applicable, to vacate the Market Rental Housing Unit, as applicable on or before the effective 
date of tennination. 

ARTICLE 4 
DEMOLITION OF MARKET RENTAL HOUSING UNIT 

4.1 The Owner will not demolish a Market Rental Housing Unit unless: 

(a) the Owner has obtained the written opinion of a professional engineer or architect who is 
at arm's length to the Owner that it is no longer reasonable or practical to repair or 
replace any structural component of the Market Rental Housing Unit, and the Owner has 
delivered to the City a copy of the engineer's or architect's report; or 

(b) the Owner has obtained the written opinion of a professional engineer or architect who is 
at ann's length to the Owner that the Market Rental Housing Unit is damaged or 
destroyed, to the extent of 40% or more of its value above its foundations, 

and, in each case, a demolition permit for the Market Rental Housing Unit, as applicable, has 
been issued by the City and the Market Rental Housing Unit, as applicable, has been demolished 
under that permit. 

Following demolition, the Owner will use and occupy any replacement Dwelling Unit in compliance 
with this Agreement and the Housing Covenant both of which will apply to any replacement 
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Dwelling Unit to the same extent and in the same manner as those agreements apply to the original 
Dwelling Unit, and the Dwelling Unit must be approved by the City as a Market Rental Housing 
Unit, as applicable, in accordance with this Agreement. 

ARTICLES 
STRATA CORPORATION BYLAWS 

5.1 This Agreement will be binding upon all strata corporations created upon the strata title 
Subdivision of the Lands or any Subdivided parcel of the Lands. 

5.2 Any strata corporation bylaw which prevents, restricts or abridges the right to use the Market Rental 
Housing Units as rental accommodation, or imposes age-based restrictions on Tenants of Market 
Rental Housing Units, will have no force and effect. 

5.3 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaws preventing, restricting or abridging the use of the Market 
Rental Housing Unit, as applicable, as rental accommodation. 

5.4 The strata corporation shall not pass any bylaw or make any rule which would prohibit or restrict the 
Owner or the Tenant or any other permitted occupant of a Market Rental Housing Unit from using 
and enjoying any common property, limited common property or other common areas, facilities or 
amenities of the strata corporation, including parking, bicycle storage, electric vehicle charging 
stations or related facilities on the Lands intended for the use of the residential occupants, subject to 
reasonable rules and regulations established by the strata corporation or the strata manager 
consistent with good and efficient management of the strata corporation and the standard of 
management of similar strata properties in the City of Richmond. 

ARTICLE6 
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

6.1 The Owner agrees that, in addition to any other remedies available to the City under this 
Agreement or the Housing Covenant or at law or in equity, if: 

(a) a Market Rental Housing Unit is used or occupied in breach of this Agreement 

(b) a Market Rental Housing Unit is rented at a rate in excess of the Market Rent; or 

(c) the Owner is otherwise in breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement or the 
Housing Covenant, 

then the Owner will pay the Daily Amount to the City for every day that the breach continues 
after ten days written notice from the City to the Owner stating the particulars of the breach. For 
greater certainty, the City is not entitled to give written notice with respect to any breach of the 
Agreement until any applicable cure period, if any, has expired. The Daily Amount is due and 
payable five business days following receipt by the Owner of an invoice from the City for the 
same. 

6.2 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that a default by the Owner of any of its promises, 
covenants, representations or warranties set-out in the Housing Covenant shall also constitute a 
default under this Agreement. 
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ARTICLE 7 
MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1 Housing Agreement 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that: 

(a) this Agreement includes a housing agreement entered into under section 483 of the Local 
Government Act; 

(b) where a Market Rental Housing Units are a separate legal parcel the City may file notice 
of this Agreement in the LTO against the title to the Market Rental Housing Units; and 

(c) where the Lands have not yet been Subdivided to create the separate parcels to be 
charged by this Agreement, the City may file a notice of this Agreement in the L TO 
against the title to the Lands. If this Agreement is filed in the L TO as a notice under 
section 483 of the Local Government Act prior to the Lands having been Subdivided, and 
it is the intention that this Agreement is, once separate legal parcels are created and/or the 
Lands are subdivided, to charge and secure only the legal parcels or Subdivided Lands 
which contain the Market Rental Housing Units and the Common Amenities. The City 
will partially release this Agreement accordingly, provided however that: 

(i) the City has no obligation to execute such release until a written request therefor 
from the Owners is received by the City, which request includes the registrable 
fonn of release (Form C (Release)); 

(ii) the cost of the preparation of the aforesaid release, and the cost of registration of 
the same in the Land Title Office is paid by the Owners; 

(iii) the City has a reasonable time within which to execute the release and return the 
same to the Owners for registration; and 

(iv) the Owners acknowledge that such release is without prejudice to the indemnity 
and release set forth in sections 7.5 and 7.6. 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that notwithstanding a partial release of this 
Agreement, this Agreement will be and remain in full force and effect and, but for the 
partial discharge, otherwise unamended. 

7.2 No Compensation 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that no compensation is payable, and the Owner is not 
entitled to and will not claim any compensation from the City, for any decrease in the market 
value of the Lands or for any obligations on the part of the Owner and its successors in title which 
at any time may result directly or indirectly from the operation of this Agreement. 

7.3 Modification 

Subject to section 7.1 of this Agreement, this Agreement may be modified or amended from time 
to time, by consent of the Owner and a bylaw duly passed by the Council of the City and 
thereafter if it is signed by the City and the Owner. 
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7.4 Management 

The Omier covenants and agrees that it will ensure good and efficient management of the Market 
Rental Housing Units and will permit representatives of the City to inspect the Market Rental 
Housing Units at any reasonable time, subject to the notice provisions in the Residential Tenancy 
Act. The Owner further covenants and agrees that it will maintain the Market Rental Housing 
Units in a good state of repair and fit for habitation and will comply with all laws, including 
health and safety standards applicable to the Lands at no cost or charge to the Tenant. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Owner acknowledges and agrees that the City, in its absolute 
discretion, may require the Owner, at the Owner's expense, to hire a person or company with the 
skill and expertise to manage the Market Rental Housing Units. 

7.5 Indemnity 

The Owner will indemnify and save harmless the City and each of its elected officials, officers, 
directors, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns, from and against aJI claims, demands, actions, loss, damage, costs and 
liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for or suffer or incur or be put to by 
reason of or arising out of: 

(a) any negligent act or omission of the Owner, or its officers, directors, agents, contractors 
or other persons for whom at law the Owner is responsible relating to this Agreement; 

(b) the City's refusal to issue a Development Permit, Building Pennit, or Occupancy 
Certificate, or refusal to pennit occupancy of any Building, or any portion thereof, 
constructed on the Lands arising out of or in connection, directly or indirectly, or that 
would not or could not have occurred "but for'' this Agreement; 

(c) the construction, maintenance, repair, ownership, lease, license, operation, management 
or financing of the Lands or any Market Rental Housing Unit or the enforcement of any 
Tenancy Agreement; or 

( d) without limitation, any legal or equitable wrong on the part of the Owner or any breach of 
this Agreement by the Owner. 

7.6 Release 

The Owner hereby releases and forever discharges the City and each of its elected officials, 
officers, directors, and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, damages, actions, 
or causes of action by reason of or arising out of or which would or could not occur but for the: 

(a) construction, maintenance, repair, ownership, lease, license, operation or management of 
the Lands or any Market Rental Housing Unit under this Agreement; 

(b) the City's refusal to issue a Development Permit, Building Permit, or Occupancy 
Certificate, or refusal to pennit occupancy of any Building, or any portion thereof, 
constructed on the Lands arising out of or in connection, directly or indirectly, or that 
would not or could not have occurred "but for'' this Agreement: 

( c) the exercise by the City of any of its rights under this Agreement or an enactment. 
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7.7 Survival 

The obligations of the Owner set out in sections 7.5 and 7.6 of this Agreement will survive 
tennination or release of this Agreement. 

7.8 Priority 

The Owner will do everything necessary. at the Owner's expense. to ensure that this Agreement, 
if required by the City Solicitor, will be noted against title to the Lands in priority to all financial 
charges and encumbrances which may have been registered or are pending registration against 
title to the Lands save and except those specifically approved in advance in writing by the City 
Solicitor or in favour of the City, and that a notice under section 483(5) of the Local Government 
Act will be filed on the title to the Lands. 

7.9 City's Powers Unaffected 

This Agreement does not: 

(a) affect or limit the discretion, rights, duties or powers of the City under any enactment or 
at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of the Lands; 

(b) impose on the City any legal duty or obligation, including any duty of care or contractual 
or other legal duty or obligation, to enforce this Agreement; 

(c) affect or limit any enactment relating to the use or subdivision of the Lands; or 

(d) relieve the Owner from complying with any enactment, including in relation to the use or 
subdivision of the Lands. 

7. IO Agreement for Benefit of City Only 

The Owner and the City agree that: 

(a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 

(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, any Tenant, or any 
future owner, lessee, occupier or user of the Lands or the building or any portion thereof, 
including any Market Rental Housing Unit; and 

(c) the City may at any time execute a release and discharge of this Agreement, without 
liability to anyone for doing so, and without obtaining the consent of the Owner. 

7.11 No Public Law Duty 

Where the City is required or permitted by this Agreement to form an opm1on, exercise a 
discretion, express satisfaction, make a detennination or give its consent, the Owner agrees that 
the City is under no public law duty of fairness or natural justice in that regard and agrees that the 
City may do any of those things in the same manner as if it were a private party and not a public 
body. 
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7.12 Notice 

Any notice required to be served or given to a party herein pursuant to this Agreement will be 
sufficiently served or given if delivered, to the postal address of the Owner set out in the records 
at the L TO, and in the case of the City addressed: 

To: 

Copies to: 

Clerk, City of Richmond 
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2Cl 

City Solicitor and Director of Development 

or to the most recent postal address provided in a written notice given by each of the parties to the 
other. Any notice which is delivered is to be considered to have been given on the first day after it is 
dispatched for delivery. 

7.13 Enuring Effect 

This Agreement will extend to and be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto 
and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

7.14 Severability 

If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, such provision or any 
part thereof will be severed from this Agreement and the resultant remainder of this Agreement 
will remain in full force and effect. 

7.15 Waiver 

All remedies of the City will be cumulative and may be exercised by the City in any order or 
concurrently in case of any breach and each remedy may be exercised any number of times with 
respect to each breach. Waiver of or delay in the City exercising any or all remedies will not 
prevent the later exercise of any remedy for the same breach or any similar or different breach. 

7.16 Sole Agreement 

This Agreement, and any documents signed by the Owners contemplated by this Agreement 
(including, without limitation, the Housing Covenant), represent the whole agreement between 
the City and the Owner respecting the use and occupation of the Market Rental Housing Units, 
and there are no warranties, representations, conditions or collateral agreements made by the City 
except as set forth in this Agreement. In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and 
the Housing Covenant, this Agreement shall, to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict, 
prevail. 

7.1 7 Further Assurance 

Upon request by the City the Owner will forthwith do such acts and execute such docwnents as 
may be reasonably necessary in the opinion of the City to give effect to this Agreement. 
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7.18 Covenant Runs with the Lands 

This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and every parcel into which it is Subdivided in 
perpetuity. All of the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement are made by the 
Owner for itself, its personal administrators, successors and assigns, and all persons who after the 
date of this Agreement, acquire an interest in the Lands. 

7.19 Equitable Remedies 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that damages would be an inadequate remedy for the City 
for any breach of this Agreement and that the public interest strongly favours specific 
perfonnance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise), or other equitable relief, as the only 
adequate remedy for a default under this Agreement. 

7.20 No Joint Venture 

Nothing in this Agreement will constitute the Owner as the agent, joint venturer, or partner of the 
City or give the Owner any authority to bind the City in any way. 

7.21 Applicable Law 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the laws of British Columbia (including, without 
limitation, the Residential Tenancy Act) will apply to this Agreement and all statutes referred to 
herein are enactments of the Province of British Columbia. 

7.22 Deed and Contract 

By executing and delivering this Agreement the Owner intends to create both a contract and a 
deed executed and delivered under seal. 

7.23 Joint and Several 

If the Owner is comprised of more than one person, firm or body corporate, then the covenants, 
agreements and obligations of the Owner shall be joint and several. 

7.23 Limitation on Owner's Obligations 

The Owner is only liable for breaches of this Agreement that occur while the Owner is the 
registered owner of the Lands provided however that notwithstanding that the Owner is no longer 
the registered owner of the Lands, the Owner will remain liable for breaches of this Agreement 
that occurred while the Owner was the registered owner of the Lands. 

7.24 Counterparts 

This Agreement may be signed by the parties hereto in counterparts and by facsimile or pdf email 
transmission, each such counterpart, facsimile or pdf email transmission copy shall constitute an 
original document and such counterparts, taken together, shall constitute one and the same 
instrument and may be com piled for registration, if registration is required, as a single document. 

[remainder of page intentionally blank] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement with effect as of the day and year 
first above written. 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER DRIVE) 
INC., by its aut rized signatory(ies): 

Name: 
Title: 1) ;r r 

Name: 
Title: 

BAINS PROPERTIES (RIVER POINTE) 
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP by its General 
Partner BAINS MANAGEMENT CORP., by 
its authorized signatory(ies): 

Name: 'e"v ~ 
Name: 
Title: 

CllY OF RICHMOND, 
by its authorized signatories: 

Malcolm D. Brodie, Mayor 

Claudia Jesson, Corporate Officer 
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SCHEDULE A to Market Rental Housing Agreement 

STATUTORY DECLARATION 

IN THE MATTER OF Unit Nos. __ _ 

CANADA 
(collectively, the "Market Rental Housing Units") located at 

PROVINCE OF BRITISH 
COLUMBIA 

(street address), British Columbia, and Housing Agreement 
dated _______ _, 20 __ (the "Market Rental 

TOWIT: 
Housing Agreement") between 

and the 

City of Richmond (the "City") 

I, __________________________ (full name), 

of _______________________ (address) in the Province 

of British Columbia, DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE that: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

I am the owner or authorized signatory of the owner of the Market Rental Housing Units, and 
make this declaration to the best of my personal knowledge; 

This declaration is made pursuant to the Market Rental Housing Agreement in respect of the 
Market Rental Housing Units: 

To the best of my knowledge, for the period from __________ to 
_________ , the Market Rental Housing Units were used solely for the provision of 
rental housing for Tenants (as defined in the Market Rental Housing Agreement) at or below 
Market Rent (as defined in the Market Rental Housing Agreement). 

I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing it to be true and knowing that it is of the 
same force and effect as if made under oath and pursuant to the Canada Evidence Act. 

DECLARED BEFORE ME at the City of 
_______ , in the Province of British 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Columbia, this ___ day of ______ _ 
20_ 

) 
) DECLARANT 

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits in the Province ) 
of British Columbia ) 
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7510319

Report to Committee 

To: Planning Committee Date: April 8, 2024 

From: Greg Newman 
Manager, Affordable Housing 

File: 08-4057-05/2023-Vol 01 

Re: Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) Bylaw No. 10512 to Permit the City of 
Richmond to Secure Low End Market Rental (LEMR) units at 4651, 4671, 4691 
Smith Crescent, and 23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road  

Staff Recommendation 

That Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, and 23301, 
23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road) Bylaw No. 10512 to permit the City to enter into a Housing 
Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto, in accordance with requirements of Section 
483 of the Local Government Act, to secure the Low End Market Rental (LEMR) Units required 
by rezoning application RZ 21-942276, be introduced and given first, second and third readings. 

Greg Newman
Manager, Affordable Housing
(604-204-8648) 

Att. 1 
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Staff Report 

Origin 

The purpose of this report is to recommend that City Council give first, second and third 
readings to Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) Bylaw No. 10512 to secure at least 19 
Low End Market Rental (LEMR) units within the development at 4651, 4671, 4691 Smith 
Crescent and 23301, 23321, 23361, and 23381 Gilley Road (Attachment 1).   

Maskeen (Hamilton) Properties Corp. and 1164822 B.C. Ltd has submitted a rezoning 
application to permit the construction of a 186-unit development comprised of 167 strata units 
and 19 LEMR units. The zoning amendment bylaw received third reading following a public 
hearing on June 19, 2023. Prior to Council’s adoption of the zoning amendment bylaw, the 
Applicant must register a Housing Agreement in addition to a Housing Covenant to secure the 
LEMR units in perpetuity.  

This report supports Council’s Strategic Plan 2022–2026 Focus Area #2 Strategic and 
Sustainable Community Growth: 
 
 Strategic and sustainable growth that supports long-term community needs and a well-

planned and prosperous city. 

2.2 Develop and implement innovative and proactive solutions that encourage a range of 
housing options and prioritize affordability. 

 
This report supports Social Development Strategy Goal #1: Enhance Social Equity and 
Inclusion: 

 
Strategic Direction #1: Expand Housing Choices 

 
This report is also consistent with the City of Richmond’s Affordable Housing Strategy 2017–
2027, including: 

 
Strategic Direction #1: Use regulatory tools to encourage a diverse range of housing 
types and tenures. 
 

Analysis 

The development proposes the construction of 186 residential units, including 19 LEMR units. 
The LEMR units are to be dispersed amongst strata units in two buildings. A Housing 
Agreement will be used to set maximum permitted rents and household income thresholds, the 
latter of which will be used to identify eligible tenants. The total residential floor area of the 
LEMR units is approximately 15,843 ft2 (1,471.86 m2), making up 10 per cent of the total 
residential floor area of the project, being the minimum required outside of the City Centre. 
Should minor adjustments be made as a result of more detailed design, staff will ensure the total 
floor area of the LEMR units continues to uphold the 10 per cent required. A Housing Covenant 
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will be used to secure the noted floor area in addition to the minimum unit sizes, the location of 
LEMR units, and the allocation of parking spaces to the LEMR units.  
 
Table 1 below summarizes components of the LEMR units that will be secured through the 
registration of the Housing Agreement and Housing Covenant. As it relates to the LEMR units, 
the project will provide 17 of the 19 units (89 per cent) as family-friendly units and all of the 
units will include Basic Universal Housing (BUH) design, supporting the ability of tenants to age 
in place. Overall, the amount, size and mix of LEMR units uphold the objectives of the 
Affordable Housing Strategy, the Official Community Plan and the Hamilton Area Plan.  
 
Table 1: Summary of LEMR Unit Composition and Rent Limitations 

Unit 
Type 

Affordable Housing Strategy Requirements (1) Project Details (2) 

Min. Unit Area 
Max. Rent 

Charge 

Max. 
Household 

Income 
Unit Mix 

Basic Universal 
Housing (BUH) 

Studio 37 m2 (400 ft2) $811 $34,650 - - 

1-bdrm 50 m2 (535 ft2) $975 $38,250 
10% (2 
units) 

10% (2 units) 

2-bdrm 69 m2 (741 ft2) $1,218 $46,800 
58% (11 

units) 
58% (11 units) 

3-bdrm 91 m2 (980 ft2) $1,480 $58,050 
32% (6 
units) 

32% (6 units) 

Total N/A N/A N/A 19 units 100% (19 units) 
(1)  May be adjusted periodically as provided for under adopted City policy. 
(2)  Unit mix in the above table may be adjusted through the Development Permit Process provided that the total area comprises at 

least 10 per cent of the subject development’s total residential building area. 
 
In addition to setting maximum rents and income thresholds, the Housing Agreement will protect 
tenants from any age-based occupancy restrictions, limits on access to indoor and outdoor 
amenity spaces, and the imposition of additional fees including parking fees, strata fees, amenity 
fees and move-in/move-out fees. The Agreement provides for an annual statutory declaration 
process to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the document. Should the owner 
choose to sell the LEMR units, the Agreement requires that all of the affordable housing units, in 
each building, be maintained under single ownership. 
 
The Applicant has agreed to the Terms and Conditions set out in the Agreement and to register 
notice of the Housing Agreement on Title. 
 
Financial Impact 

None. 
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Conclusion 

A Housing Agreement is required as a means of securing 19 affordable housing units at 4651, 
4671, 4691 Smith Crescent and 23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road. Council’s adoption of 
the Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) Bylaw No. 10512 will ensure the LEMR units are 
maintained, in perpetuity, in accordance with the objectives of the City of Richmond’s 
Affordable Housing Strategy. 

Sahara Shrestha 
Planner 1, Affordable Housing
(604-247-4946) 

Att. 1:  Map of 4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, and 23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road 
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Bylaw 10512  

Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing)  
(4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, and 23301, 23321, 23361, 

23381 Gilley Road) Bylaw No. 10512 

The Council of the City of Richmond enacts as follows: 

1. The Mayor and City Clerk for the City of Richmond are authorized to execute and deliver a housing
agreement, substantially in the form set out as Schedule A to this Bylaw, with the owner of the lands
legally described as:

P.I.D. 028-917-910
Lot 1 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New Westminster District Plan EPP22220
P.I.D. 011-323-299
Lot 46 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New Westminster District Plan 8421, Except
Plans 41472 and EPP22220
P.I.D. 003-927-601
Lot 113 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New Westminster District Plan 41472
P.I.D. 003-976-327
Lot 125 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New Westminster District Plan 45199 Except
Plan EPP55255
P.I.D. 005-143-357
Lot 64 Except: Part Subdivided by Plan 45199: Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New
Westminster District Plan 25116
P.I.D. 004-126-033
Lot 143 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 49336
P.I.D. 008-709-734
Lot 65 Except: Part Subdivided by Plan 49336, Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New
Westminster District Plan 25116

2. This Bylaw is cited as “Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (4651, 4671, 4691 Smith
Crescent, and 23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road) Bylaw No. 10512”. 

FIRST READING 

SECOND READING 

THIRD READING 

ADOPTED

MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER

CITY OF 
RICHMOND 

APPROVED 
for content by 

originating 
dept. 

APPROVED 
for legality 
by Solicitor 

 
 
 

City of 
Richmond 

ffl 
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Bylaw  10512  

Schedule A 

To Housing Agreement (Affordable Housing) (4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, and 
23301, 23321, 23361, 23381 Gilley Road) Bylaw No. 10512 

HOUSING AGREEMENT BETWEEN MASKEEN (Hamilton) PROPERTIES CORP AND 
CITY OF RICHMOND 
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Housing Agreement (Section 483 Local Government Act) 
4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, 23301, 23321, 23361 and 23381 Gilley Road 

Application No. RZ 21-942276 Bylaw 10453 
RZ Consideration # 16 

Housing Agreement Bylaw 10512 
7480955 

HOUSING AGREEMENT 
(Section 483 Local Government Act)

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference ___ day of _________________, 2024.

BETWEEN: 

MASKEEN (HAMILTON) PROPERTIES CORP.  
(Incorporation No. BC1301260), a company duly incorporated 
under the laws of the Province of British Columbia and having its 
registered office at 308 – 6321 King George Blvd, Surrey, BC  
V3X 1G1 

(“Maskeen”) 

AND: 

1164822 B.C. Ltd. (Incorporation No. BC1164822), a company 
duly incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia and having its registered office at 2240 – 4871 Shell 
Road, Richmond, BC  V6X 3Z6 

(“1164822”, together with Maskeen, the “Owner”) 

AND: 

CITY OF RICHMOND, a municipal corporation pursuant to the 
Local Government Act and having its offices at 6911 No. 3 Road, 
Richmond, British Columbia, V6Y 2C1 

(the “City”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. Capitalized terms used in these Recitals and in this Agreement shall have the meanings
ascribed in Section 1.1;

B. Section 483 of the Local Government Act permits the City to enter into and, by legal
notation on title, note on title to lands, housing agreements which may include, without
limitation, conditions in respect to the form of tenure of housing units, availability of
housing units to classes of persons, administration of housing units and rent which may
be charged for housing units;
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C. The Owner is the registered owner of the Lands (as hereinafter defined); and 

D. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement (as herein defined) to provide 
for affordable housing, pursuant to the Affordable Housing Strategy, on the terms and 
conditions set out in this Agreement,  

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of $10.00 and other good and valuable consideration (the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by both parties), and in consideration of the 
promises exchanged below, the Owner and the City covenant and agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1 
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement the following words have the following meanings: 

(a) “Affordable Housing Strategy” means the Richmond Affordable Housing 
Strategy approved by the City on March 12, 2018, and containing a number of 
recommendations, policies, directions, priorities, definitions and annual targets for 
affordable housing, as may be amended or replaced from time to time; 

(b) “Affordable Housing Unit” means a Dwelling Unit or Dwelling Units 
designated as such in accordance with a building permit and/or development 
permit issued by the City and/or, if applicable, in accordance with any rezoning 
consideration applicable to the development on the Lands and includes, without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Dwelling Unit charged by this 
Agreement; 

(c) “Agreement” means this agreement together with all schedules, attachments and 
priority agreements attached hereto; 

(d) “Building” means any building constructed, or to be constructed, on the Lands, or 
a portion thereof, including each air space parcel into which the Lands may be 
Subdivided from time to time.  For greater certainty, each air space parcel will be 
a Building for the purpose of this Agreement;

(e) “Building Permit” means the building permit authorizing construction on the 
Lands, or any portion(s) thereof; 

(f) “City” means the City of Richmond; 

(g) “City Solicitor” means the individual appointed from time to time to be the City 
Solicitor of the Law Division of the City, or his or her designate; 

(h) “Common Amenities” means all indoor and outdoor areas, recreational facilities 
and amenities that are designated for common use of all residential occupants of 
the Development, or all Tenants of Affordable Housing Units in the 
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Development, through the Development Permit process, including without 
limitation visitor parking, the required affordable housing parking and electric 
vehicle charging stations, loading bays, bicycle storage, fitness facilities, outdoor 
recreation facilities, and related access routes; 

(i) “CPI” means the All-Items Consumer Price Index for Vancouver, British 
Columbia, published from time to time by Statistics Canada, or its successor in 
function;

(j) “Daily Amount” means $100.00 per day as of January 1, 2019 adjusted annually 
thereafter by adding thereto an amount calculated by multiplying $100.00 by the 
percentage change in the CPI since January 1, 2019, to January 1 of the year that a 
written notice is delivered to the Owner by the City pursuant to section 6.1 of this 
Agreement.  In the absence of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the 
City of the Daily Amount in any particular year shall be final and conclusive;

(k) “Development” means the mixed-use residential and commercial development to 
be constructed on the Lands; 

(l) “Development Permit” means the development permit authorizing development
on the Lands, or any portion(s) thereof;

(m) “Director, Community Social Development” means the individual appointed to 
be the Director, Community Social Development from time to time of the 
Community Services Department of the City and his or her designate; 

(n) “Director of Development” means the individual appointed to be the chief 
administrator from time to time of the Development Applications Division of the 
City and his or her designate;

(o) “Dwelling Unit” means a residential dwelling unit or units located or to be 
located on the Lands whether those dwelling units are lots, strata lots or parcels, 
or parts or portions thereof, and includes single family detached dwellings, 
duplexes, townhouses, auxiliary residential dwelling units, rental apartments and 
strata lots in a building strata plan and includes, where the context permits, an 
Affordable Housing Unit; 

(p) “Eligible Tenant” means a Family having a cumulative annual income of:

(i) in respect to a studio unit, $34,650.00 or less; 

(ii) in respect to a one-bedroom unit, $38,250.00 or less;

(iii) in respect to a two-bedroom unit, $46,800.00 or less; or 

(iv) in respect to a three or more bedroom unit, $58,050.00 or less 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BCD17622-B3F0-4BE0-87CE-F40DD6B6B41 C 

CNCL - 222



Page 4

 Housing Agreement (Section 483 Local Government Act) 
4651, 4671, 4691 Smith Crescent, 23301, 23321, 23361 and 23381 Gilley Road 

 Application No. RZ 21-942276 Bylaw 10453 
RZ Consideration # 16 

7480955 

provided that, commencing January 1, 2019, the annual incomes set-out above 
shall be adjusted annually on January 1st of each year this Agreement is in force 
and effect, by a percentage equal to the percentage of the increase in the CPI for 
the period January 1 to December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year.  
If there is a decrease in the CPI for the period January 1 to December 31 of the 
immediately preceding calendar year, the annual incomes set-out above for the 
subsequent year shall remain unchanged from the previous year.  In the absence 
of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the City of an Eligible Tenant’s 
permitted income in any particular year shall be final and conclusive;     

(q) “Family” means: 

(i) a person;  

(ii) two or more persons related by blood, marriage or adoption; or 

(iii) a group of not more than 6 persons who are not related by blood, marriage 
or adoption 

(r) “GST” means the Goods and Services Tax levied pursuant to the Excise Tax Act, 
R.S.C., 1985, c. E-15, as may be replaced or amended from time to time; 

(s)  “Housing Covenant” means the agreements, covenants and charges granted by 
the Owner to the City (which includes covenants pursuant to section 219 of the 
Land Title Act) charging the Lands from time to time, in respect to the use and 
transfer of the Affordable Housing Units; 

(t) “Interpretation Act” means the Interpretation Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, Chapter 238, 
together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(u) “Land Title Act” means the Land Title Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, Chapter 250, together 
with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(v) “Lands” means certain lands and premises legally described as following: 

(i) P.I.D. 028-917-910, Lot 1 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New 
Westminster District Plan EPP22220; 

(ii) P.I.D. 011-323-299, Lot 46 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New 
Westminster District Plan 8421, Except Plans 41472 and EPP22220; 

(iii) P.I.D. 003-927-601, Lot 113 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New 
Westminster District Plan 41472;

(iv) P.I.D. 003-976-327, Lot 125 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New 
Westminster District Plan 45199 Except Plan EPP55255; 
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(v) P.I.D. 005-143-357, Lot 64 Except: Part Subdivided by Plan 45199: 
Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New Westminster District Plan 
25116; 

(vi) P.I.D. 004-126-033, Lot 143 Section 36 Block 5 North Range 6 West New 
Westminster District Plan 49336; and 

(vii) P.I.D. 008-709-734, Lot 65 Except: Part Subdivided by Plan 49336, 
Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West New Westminster District Plan 
25116,  

and following the filing of Subdivision Plan EPP132823 will be consolidated 
legally described as: 

(viii) No PID, Lot A, Section 36 Block 5 North Range 4 West NWD Plan 
EPP132823, 

as may be Subdivided from time to time, and including a Building or a portion of 
a Building;  

(w) “Local Government Act” means the Local Government Act, R.S.B.C. 2015, 
Chapter 1, together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof;

(x) “LTO” means the New Westminster Land Title Office or its successor;

(y) “Owner" means the party described on page 1 of this Agreement as the Owner 
and any subsequent owner of the Lands or of any part into which the Lands are 
Subdivided, and includes any person who is a registered owner in fee simple of an 
Affordable Housing Unit from time to time; 

(z) “Parking Operator” means one of (i) the Owner, or (ii) an owner of any air 
space parcel formed by the registration of an air space subdivision plan in respect 
of the Lands or (iii) any other company or entity, to whom the Owner grants a 
long-term lease over all (and not only some) of the parking spaces in the 
Development in order to facilitate the use, operation and management of the 
parking spaces, and the Parking Operator may be related or unrelated to the 
Owner; 

(aa) “Permitted Rent” means no greater than: 

(i) $811.00 (exclusive of GST) a month for a studio unit; 

(ii) $975.00 (exclusive of GST) a month for a one-bedroom unit; 

(iii) $1,218.00 (exclusive of GST) a month for a two-bedroom unit; and 

(iv) $1,480.00 (exclusive of GST) a month for a three (or more) bedroom unit, 
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provided that, commencing January 1, 2019, the rents set out above shall be 
adjusted annually on January 1st of each year this Agreement is in force and 
effect, by a percentage equal to the percentage of the increase in the CPI for the 
period January 1 to December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year. 
Commencing January 1st of the year following occupancy of the Building, in the 
event that, in applying the values set out above, the rental increase is at any time 
greater than the rental increase permitted by the Residential Tenancy Act, then the 
increase will be reduced to the maximum amount permitted by the Residential 
Tenancy Act. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the 
Residential Tenancy Act or the Residential Tenancy Regulation, the foregoing cap 
on the increase to Permitted Rent to that permitted by the Residential Tenancy Act 
shall apply to the annual calculation of the maximum Permitted Rent independent 
of any exemption status of the Owner (i.e. non-profit housing society) or any 
change in Tenant. If there is a decrease in the CPI for the period January 1 to 
December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, the permitted rents set 
out above for the subsequent year shall remain unchanged from the previous 
year.  In the absence of obvious error or mistake, any calculation by the City of 
the Permitted Rent in any particular year shall be final and conclusive; 

(bb) “Real Estate Development Marketing Act” means the Real Estate Development 
Marketing Act, S.B.C. 2004, Chapter 41, together with all amendments thereto 
and replacements thereof; 

(cc) “Residential Tenancy Act” means the Residential Tenancy Act, S.B.C. 2002, 
Chapter 78, together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof; 

(dd) “Residential Tenancy Regulation” means the Residential Tenancy Regulation, 
B.C. Reg. 477/2003, together with all amendments thereto and replacements 
thereof; 

(ee) “Senior” means an individual who is of the age defined by the Council of the City 
as a “senior” for the purposes of City programs, at the time of this Agreement 
being defined at 55 years of age and older; 

(ff) “Strata Property Act” means the Strata Property Act S.B.C. 1998, Chapter 43, 
together with all amendments thereto and replacements thereof;

(gg) “Subdivide” means to divide, apportion, consolidate or subdivide the Lands, or 
the ownership or right to possession or occupation of the Lands into two or more 
lots, strata lots, parcels, parts, portions or shares, whether by plan, descriptive 
words or otherwise, under the Land Title Act, the Strata Property Act, or 
otherwise, and includes the creation, conversion, organization or development of 
“cooperative interests” or “shared interest in land” as defined in the Real Estate 
Development Marketing Act; 

(hh) “Tenancy Agreement” means a tenancy agreement, lease, license or other 
agreement granting rights to occupy an Affordable Housing Unit; and 
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(ii) “Tenant” means an occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit by way of a 
Tenancy Agreement.

1.2 In this Agreement: 

(a) reference to the singular includes a reference to the plural, and vice versa, unless 
the context requires otherwise;

(b) article and section headings have been inserted for ease of reference only and are 
not to be used in interpreting this Agreement; 

(c) if a word or expression is defined in this Agreement, other parts of speech and 
grammatical forms of the same word or expression have corresponding meanings;

(d) reference to any enactment includes any regulations, orders or directives made 
under the authority of that enactment; 

(e) any reference to any enactment is to the enactment in force on the date the Owner 
signs this Agreement, and to subsequent amendments to or replacements of the 
enactment; 

(f) the provisions of section 25 of the Interpretation Act with respect to the 
calculation of time apply; 

(g) time is of the essence;

(h) all provisions are to be interpreted as always speaking;

(i) reference to a "party" is a reference to a party to this Agreement and to that 
party’s respective successors, assigns, trustees, administrators and receivers. 
Wherever the context so requires, reference to a “party” also includes an Eligible 
Tenant, agent, officer and invitee of the party;  

(j) reference to a "day", "month", "quarter" or "year" is a reference to a calendar day, 
calendar month, calendar quarter or calendar year, as the case may be, unless 
otherwise expressly provided;  

(k) where the word "including" is followed by a list, the contents of the list are not 
intended to circumscribe the generality of the expression preceding the word 
"including"; and 

(l) the terms “shall” and “will” are used interchangeably and both will be interpreted 
to express an obligation.  The term “may” will be interpreted to express a 
permissible action 
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ARTICLE 2
USE AND OCCUPANCY OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS

2.1 The Owner agrees that each Affordable Housing Unit may only be used as a permanent 
residence occupied by one Eligible Tenant.  An Affordable Housing Unit must not be 
occupied by the Owner, the Owner’s family members (unless the Owner’s family 
members qualify as Eligible Tenants), or any tenant or guest of the Owner, other than an 
Eligible Tenant.  For the purposes of this Article, “permanent residence” means that the 
Affordable Housing Unit is used as the usual, main, regular, habitual, principal residence, 
abode or home of the Eligible Tenant. 

2.2 Within 30 days after receiving notice from the City, the Owner must, in respect of each 
Affordable Housing Unit, provide to the City a statutory declaration, substantially in the 
form (with, in the City Solicitor’s discretion, such further amendments or additions as 
deemed necessary) attached as Appendix A, sworn by the Owner, containing all of the 
information required to complete the statutory declaration.  The City may request such 
statutory declaration in respect to each Affordable Housing Unit no more than once in 
any calendar year; provided, however, notwithstanding that the Owner may have already 
provided such statutory declaration in the particular calendar year, the City may request 
and the Owner shall provide to the City such further statutory declarations as requested 
by the City in respect to an Affordable Housing Unit if, in the City’s absolute 
determination, the City believes that the Owner is in breach of any of its obligations 
under this Agreement. 

2.3 The Owner hereby irrevocably authorizes the City to make such inquiries as it considers 
necessary in order to confirm that the Owner is complying with this Agreement. 

2.4 The Owner agrees that notwithstanding that the Owner may otherwise be entitled, the 
Owner will not: 

(a) be issued with a Development Permit unless the Development Permit includes the 
Affordable Housing Units;

(b) be issued with a Building Permit unless the Building Permit includes the 
Affordable Housing Units; and  

(c) occupy, nor permit any person to occupy any Dwelling Unit or any portion of any 
building, in part or in whole, constructed on the Lands and the City will not be 
obligated to permit final or provisional occupancy of any Dwelling Unit or 
building constructed on the Lands until all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 

(i) the Affordable Housing Units and related uses and areas have been 
constructed in accordance with this Agreement, the Housing Covenant, the 
Development Permit, the Building Permit, and any applicable City bylaws, 
rules or policies, to the satisfaction of the City; 
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(ii) the Affordable Housing Units have received final building permit 
inspection granting provisional or final occupancy of the Affordable 
Housing Units; and  

(iii) the Owner is not otherwise in breach of any of its obligations under this 
Agreement or any other agreement between the City and the Owner in 
connection with the Affordable Housing Units, any facilities for the use of 
the Affordable Housing units, including parking, and any shared indoor or 
outdoor amenities. 

2.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Residential Tenancy Act or the 
Residential Tenancy Regulation, the Owner will, for so long as the Affordable Housing 
Units remain located on the Lands, comply with sections 41 [Rent increases], 42 [Timing 
and notice of rent increases] and 43 [Amount of rent increase] of the Residential Tenancy 
Act, as such sections may be amended or replaced from time to time, with respect to rent 
increases for Tenants.  

ARTICLE 3 
DISPOSITION AND ACQUISITION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS 

3.1 The Owner will not permit an Affordable Housing Unit to be subleased, or the 
Affordable Housing Unit Tenancy Agreement to be assigned, except as required under 
the Residential Tenancy Act. 

3.2 The Owner will not permit an Affordable Housing Unit to be used for short term rental 
purposes (being rentals for periods shorter than 30 days), or any other purposes that do 
not constitute a “permanent residence” of a Tenant or an Eligible Tenant.   

3.3 If this Housing Agreement encumbers more than one Affordable Housing Unit, the 
following will apply: 

(a) the Owner will not, without the prior written consent of the City, sell or transfer 
less than all of the Affordable Housing Units located in one building in a single or 
related series of transactions, with the result that when the purchaser or transferee 
of the Affordable Housing Units becomes the owner, the purchaser or transferee 
will be the legal and beneficial owner of not less than all of the Affordable 
Housing Units in one building; 

(b) if the Development contains one or more air space parcels, each air space parcel 
and the remainder will be a “building” for the purpose of this section 3.3; and 

(c) the Lands will not be Subdivided such that one or more Affordable Housing Units 
form their own air space parcel, separate from other Dwelling Units, without the 
prior written consent of the City.   

3.4 Subject to the requirements of the Residential Tenancy Act, the Owner will ensure that 
each Tenancy Agreement: 
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(a) includes the following provision:

“By entering into this Tenancy Agreement, the Tenant hereby consents and agrees 
to the collection of the below-listed personal information by the Landlord and/or 
any operator or manager engaged by the Landlord and the disclosure by the 
Landlord and/or any operator or manager engaged by the Landlord to the City of 
Richmond (the “City”) and/or the Landlord, as the case may be, of the following 
personal information which information will be used by the City to verify and 
ensure compliance by the Owner with the City’s Affordable Housing Strategy, 
policies and requirements with respect to the provision and administration of 
affordable housing within the municipality and for no other purpose, each month 
during the Tenant’s occupation of the Affordable Housing Unit:

(i) a statement of the total gross annual income once per calendar year from 
all sources (including employment, disability, retirement, investment, and 
other) of all members of the Tenant’s household who are 18 years of age 
and over and who reside in the Affordable Housing Unit; 

(ii) the number of occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit; 

(iii) the number of occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit 18 years of age 
and under; 

(iv) the number of occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit who are Seniors; 
and  

(v) the total income for all occupants of the Affordable Housing Unit;” 

(b) defines the term “Landlord” as the Owner of the Affordable Housing Unit; and  

(c) includes a provision requiring the Tenant and each permitted occupant of the 
Affordable Housing Unit to comply with this Agreement. 

3.5 If the Owner sells or transfers the Affordable Housing Units, the Owner will notify the 
City Solicitor and the Director, Community Social Development of the sale or transfer 
within three (3) days of the effective date of sale or transfer. 

3.6 The Owner must not rent, lease, license or otherwise permit occupancy of any Affordable 
Housing Unit except to an Eligible Tenant and except in accordance with the following 
additional conditions:  

(a) the Affordable Housing Unit will be used or occupied only pursuant to a Tenancy 
Agreement; 

(b) the monthly rent payable for the Affordable Housing Unit will not exceed the 
Permitted Rent applicable to that class of Affordable Housing Unit; 
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(c) the Owner will allow the Tenant and any permitted occupant and visitor to have 
full access to and use and enjoy all Common Amenities in the Development and 
will not Subdivide the Lands unless all easements and rights of way are in place 
to secure such use; 

(d) the Owner will not require the Tenant or any permitted occupant to pay any of the 
following: 

(i) move-in/move-out fees; 

(ii) strata fees; 

(iii) strata property contingency reserve fees; 

(iv) extra charges or fees for use of any Common Amenities, common 
property, limited common property, or other common areas, facilities or 
amenities, including without limitation parking, bicycle storage, electric 
vehicle charging stations or related facilities;  

(v) extra charges for the use of sanitary sewer, storm sewer, or water; or 

(vi) property or similar tax;  

provided, however, that if the Affordable Housing Unit is a strata unit and the 
following costs are not part of strata or similar fees, an Owner may charge the 
Tenant the Owner’s cost, if any, of: 

(vii) providing cable television, telephone, other telecommunications, or 
electricity fees (including electricity fees and charges associated with the 
Tenant’s use of electrical vehicle charging infrastructure); and 

(viii) installing electric vehicle charging infrastructure (in excess of that pre-
installed by the Owner at the time of construction of the Development), by 
or on behalf of the Tenant; 

(e) the Owner will attach a copy of this Agreement to every Tenancy Agreement;

(f) the Owner will include in the Tenancy Agreement a clause requiring the Tenant 
and each permitted occupant of the Affordable Housing Unit to comply with this 
Agreement; 

(g) the Owner will include in the Tenancy Agreement a clause entitling the Owner to 
terminate the Tenancy Agreement if: 

(i) an Affordable Housing Unit is occupied by a person or persons other than 
an Eligible Tenant; 
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(ii) the annual income of an Eligible Tenant rises above the applicable 
maximum amount specified in section 1.1(p) of this Agreement; 

(iii) the Affordable Housing Unit is occupied by more than the number of 
people the City determines can reside in the Affordable Housing Unit 
given the number and size of bedrooms in the Affordable Housing Unit 
and in light of any relevant standards set by the City in any bylaws of the 
City;  

(iv) the Affordable Housing Unit remains vacant for three (3) consecutive 
months or longer, notwithstanding the timely payment of rent; and/or

(v) the Tenant subleases the Affordable Housing Unit or assigns the Tenancy 
Agreement in whole or in part,  

and in the case of each breach, the Owner hereby agrees with the City to forthwith 
provide to the Tenant a notice of termination.  Except for section 3.7(g)(ii) of this 
Agreement [Termination of Tenancy Agreement if Annual Income of Tenant rises 
above amount prescribed in section 1.1(p) of this Agreement], the notice of 
termination shall provide that the termination of the tenancy shall be effective 
30 days following the date of the notice of termination.  In respect to section 
3.7(g)(ii) of this Agreement, termination shall be effective on the day that is six 
(6) months following the date that the Owner provided the notice of termination 
to the Tenant;  

(h) the Tenancy Agreement will identify all occupants of the Affordable Housing 
Unit and will stipulate that anyone not identified in the Tenancy Agreement will 
be prohibited from residing at the Affordable Housing Unit for more than 30 
consecutive days or more than 45 days total in any calendar year; and 

(i) the Owner will forthwith deliver a certified true copy of the Tenancy Agreement 
to the City upon demand. 

3.7 If the Owner has terminated the Tenancy Agreement, then the Owner shall use best 
efforts to cause the Tenant and all other persons that may be in occupation of the 
Affordable Housing Unit to vacate the Affordable Housing Unit on or before the 
effective date of termination.

3.8 The Owner shall not impose any age-based restrictions on Tenants of Affordable Housing 
Units, unless expressly permitted by the City in writing in advance.

3.9 The Owner acknowledges its duties not to discriminate with respect to tenancies and 
agrees to comply with the Human Rights Code (BC) with respect to tenancy matters, 
including tenant selection for the Affordable Housing Units. 
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ARTICLE 4
DEMOLITION OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNIT

4.1 The Owner will not demolish an Affordable Housing Unit unless: 

(a) the Owner has obtained the written opinion of a professional engineer or architect 
who is at arm’s length to the Owner that it is no longer reasonable or practical to 
repair or replace any structural component of the Affordable Housing Unit, and 
the Owner has delivered to the City a copy of the engineer’s or architect’s report; 
or

(b) the Affordable Housing Unit is damaged or destroyed, to the extent of 40% or 
more of its value above its foundations, as determined by the City in its sole 
discretion, 

and, in each case, a demolition permit for the Affordable Housing Unit has been issued 
by the City and the Affordable Housing Unit has been demolished under that permit.

Following demolition, the Owner will use and occupy any replacement Dwelling Unit in 
compliance with this Agreement and the Housing Covenant both of which will apply to any 
replacement Dwelling Unit to the same extent and in the same manner as those agreements 
apply to the original Dwelling Unit, and the Dwelling Unit must be approved by the City as 
an Affordable Housing Unit in accordance with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 
STRATA CORPORATION BYLAWS

5.1 This Agreement will be binding upon all strata corporations created upon the strata title 
Subdivision of the Lands or any Subdivided parcel of the Lands. 

5.2 Any strata corporation bylaw which prevents, restricts or abridges the right to use the 
Affordable Housing Units as rental accommodation, or imposes age-based restrictions on 
Tenants of Affordable Housing Units, will have no force and effect, unless expressly 
approved by the City in writing in advance. 

5.3 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaws preventing, restricting or abridging the use of 
the Affordable Housing Units as rental accommodation. 

5.4 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaw or approve any levies which would result in only 
the Owner or the Tenant or any other permitted occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit 
(and not include all the owners, tenants, or any other permitted occupants of all the strata 
lots in the applicable strata plan which are not Affordable Housing Units) paying any extra 
charges or fees for the use of any Common Amenities, common property, limited common 
property or other common areas, facilities, or indoor or outdoor amenities of the strata 
corporation. 
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5.5 No strata corporation shall pass any bylaws or approve any levies, charges or fees which 
would result in the Owner or the Tenant or any other permitted occupant of an Affordable 
Housing Unit paying for the use of parking, bicycle storage, electric vehicle charging 
stations or related facilities contrary to section 3.7(d). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
strata corporation may levy such parking, bicycle storage, electric vehicle charging 
stations or other related facilities charges or fees on all the other owners, tenants, any 
other permitted occupants or visitors of all the strata lots in the applicable strata plan 
which are not Affordable Housing Units; Units; provided, however, that the electricity 
fees, charges or rates for use of electric vehicle charging stations are excluded from this 
provision 

5.6 The strata corporation shall not pass any bylaw or make any rule which would restrict the 
Owner or the Tenant or any other permitted occupant of an Affordable Housing Unit 
from using and enjoying any Common Amenities, common property, limited common 
property or other common areas, facilities or amenities of the strata corporation except on 
the same basis that governs the use and enjoyment of these facilities by all the owners, 
tenants, or any other permitted occupants of all the strata lots in the applicable strata plan
which are not Affordable Housing Units.   

ARTICLE 6 
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

6.1 The Owner agrees that, in addition to any other remedies available to the City under this 
Agreement or the Housing Covenant or at law or in equity, if:  

(a) an Affordable Housing Unit is used or occupied in breach of this Agreement;

(b) an Affordable Housing Unit is rented at a rate in excess of the Permitted Rent; or 

(c) the Owner is otherwise in breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement or 
the Housing Covenant,  

then the Owner will pay the Daily Amount to the City for every day that the breach 
continues after ten (10) days written notice from the City to the Owner stating the 
particulars of the breach.  For greater certainty, the City is not entitled to give written 
notice with respect to any breach of the Agreement until any applicable cure period, if 
any, has expired.  The Daily Amount is due and payable five (5) business days following 
receipt by the Owner of an invoice from the City for the same. 

6.2 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that a default by the Owner of any of its promises, 
covenants, representations or warranties set-out in the Housing Covenant shall also 
constitute a default under this Agreement.  
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ARTICLE 7
MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1 Housing Agreement 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that: 

(a) this Agreement includes a housing agreement entered into under section 483 of 
the Local Government Act; 

(b) where an Affordable Housing Unit is a separate legal parcel the City may file 
notice of this Agreement in the LTO against the title to the Affordable Housing 
Unit and, in the case of a strata corporation, may note this Agreement on the 
common property sheet; and 

(c) where the Lands have not yet been Subdivided to create the separate parcels to be 
charged by this Agreement, the City may file a notice of this Agreement in the 
LTO against the title to the Lands.  If this Agreement is filed in the LTO as a 
notice under section 483 of the Local Government Act prior to the Lands having 
been Subdivided, then after the Lands are Subdivided, this Agreement will secure 
only the legal parcels which contain the Affordable Housing Units.   

The City will partially discharge this Agreement accordingly, provided however 
that:

(i) the City has no obligation to execute such discharge until a written request 
therefor from the Owners is received by the City, which request includes 
the registrable form of discharge; 

(ii) the cost of the preparation of the aforesaid discharge, and the cost of 
registration of the same in the Land Title Office is paid by the Owners; 

(iii) the City has a reasonable time within which to execute the discharge and 
return the same to the Owners for registration; and  

(iv) the Owners acknowledge that such discharge is without prejudice to the 
indemnity and release set forth in Section 7.5. 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that notwithstanding a partial discharge of 
this Agreement, this Agreement will be and remain in full force and effect and, 
but for the partial discharge, otherwise unamended. 

7.2 No Compensation 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that no compensation is payable, and the Owner is 
not entitled to and will not claim any compensation from the City, for any decrease in the 
market value of the Lands or for any obligations on the part of the Owner and its 
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successors in title which at any time may result directly or indirectly from the operation 
of this Agreement. 
 

7.3 Modification

Subject to section 7.1 of this Agreement, this Agreement may be modified or amended 
from time to time, by consent of the Owner and a bylaw duly passed by the Council of 
the City and thereafter if it is signed by the City and the Owner.

7.4 Management

The Owner covenants and agrees that it will furnish good and efficient management of 
the Affordable Housing Units and will permit representatives of the City to inspect the 
Affordable Housing Units at any reasonable time, subject to the notice provisions in the 
Residential Tenancy Act.  The Owner further covenants and agrees that it will maintain 
the Affordable Housing Units in a good state of repair and fit for habitation and will 
comply with all laws, including health and safety standards applicable to the Lands.  

The Owner further covenants and agrees that it will vote: 

(a) as owner of the Affordable Housing Units, in any applicable annual general 
meetings or special general meetings of the strata corporation; and 

(b) as the owner of the air space parcel or remainder parcel containing the Affordable 
Housing Units at any applicable meetings of the owners of the other subdivided 
parcels of the Lands, 

to ensure that the Common Amenities are maintained in a good state of repair by the 
strata corporation which includes the Affordable Housing Units and any of the Common 
Amenities, the owner of the applicable air space parcel or remainder parcel which 
includes any of the Common Amenities, and/or the Parking Operator, as applicable.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Owner acknowledges and agrees that the City, in its 
absolute discretion, may require the Owner, at the Owner's expense, to hire a person or 
company with the skill and expertise to manage the Affordable Housing Units.

7.5 Indemnity 

The Owner will indemnify and save harmless the City and each of its elected officials, 
officers, directors, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, actions, 
loss, damage, costs and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for or 
suffer or incur or be put to by reason of or arising out of: 

(a) any negligent act or omission of the Owner, or its officers, directors, agents, 
contractors or other persons for whom at law the Owner is responsible relating to 
this Agreement; 
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(b) the City refusing to issue a development permit, building permit or refusing to 
permit occupancy of any Building, or any portion thereof, constructed on the 
Lands, arising out of or in connection, directly or indirectly, or that would not or 
could not have occurred “but for” this Agreement; 

(c) the construction, maintenance, repair, ownership, lease, license, operation, 
management or financing of the Lands or any Affordable Housing Unit or the 
enforcement of any Tenancy Agreement; and/or

(d) without limitation, any legal or equitable wrong on the part of the Owner or any 
breach of this Agreement by the Owner. 

7.6 Release

The Owner hereby releases and forever discharges the City and each of its elected 
officials, officers, directors, and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, 
personal representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, 
damages, actions, or causes of action by reason of or arising out of or which would or 
could not occur but for the: 

(a) construction, maintenance, repair, ownership, lease, license, operation or 
management of the Lands or any Affordable Housing Unit under this Agreement;

(b) the City refusing to issue a development permit, building permit or refusing to 
permit occupancy of any Building, or any portion thereof, constructed on the 
Lands arising out of or in connection, directly or indirectly, or that would not or 
could not have occurred “but for” this Agreement; and/or  

(c) the exercise by the City of any of its rights under this Agreement or an enactment. 

7.7 Survival

The obligations of the Owner set out in this Agreement, including but not limited to 
Sections 7.5 and 7.6 above, will survive termination or discharge of this Agreement.

7.8 Priority 

The Owner will do everything necessary, at the Owner’s expense, to ensure that this 
Agreement, if required by the City Solicitor, will be noted against title to the Lands in 
priority to all financial charges and encumbrances which may have been registered or are 
pending registration against title to the Lands save and except those specifically approved 
in advance in writing by the City Solicitor or in favour of the City, and that a notice under 
section 483(5) of the Local Government Act will be filed on the title to the Lands.

7.9 City’s Powers Unaffected 

This Agreement does not: 
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(a) affect or limit the discretion, rights, duties or powers of the City under any 
enactment or at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of the 
Lands; 

(b) impose on the City any legal duty or obligation, including any duty of care or 
contractual or other legal duty or obligation, to enforce this Agreement; 

(c) affect or limit any enactment relating to the use or subdivision of the Lands; or

(d) relieve the Owner from complying with any enactment, including in relation to 
the use or subdivision of the Lands.

7.10 Agreement for Benefit of City Only 

The Owner and the City agree that:

(a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 

(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, any Tenant, 
or any future owner, lessee, occupier or user of the Lands or the building or any 
portion thereof, including any Affordable Housing Unit; and 

(c) the City may at any time execute a release and discharge of this Agreement, 
without liability to anyone for doing so, and without obtaining the consent of the 
Owner. 

7.11 No Public Law Duty 

Where the City is required or permitted by this Agreement to form an opinion, exercise a 
discretion, express satisfaction, make a determination or give its consent, the Owner 
agrees that the City is under no public law duty of fairness or natural justice in that regard 
and agrees that the City may do any of those things in the same manner as if it were a 
private party and not a public body. 

7.12 Notice

Any notice required to be served or given to a party herein pursuant to this Agreement 
will be sufficiently served or given if delivered, to the postal address of the Owner set out 
in the records at the LTO, and in the case of the City addressed:

To: Clerk, City of Richmond
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2C1

 
Copy to: City Solicitor, and the Director, Community Social Development
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or to the most recent postal address provided in a written notice given by each of the parties 
to the other.  Any notice which is delivered is to be considered to have been given on the 
first day after it is dispatched for delivery.

7.13 Enuring Effect

This Agreement will extend to and be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

7.14 Severability

If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, such provision 
or any part thereof will be severed from this Agreement and the resultant remainder of 
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

7.15 Waiver 

All remedies of the City will be cumulative and may be exercised by the City in any 
order or concurrently in case of any breach and each remedy may be exercised any 
number of times with respect to each breach.  Waiver of or delay in the City exercising 
any or all remedies will not prevent the later exercise of any remedy for the same breach 
or any similar or different breach.   

7.16 Sole Agreement 

This Agreement, and any documents signed by the Owners contemplated by this 
Agreement (including, without limitation, the Housing Covenant), represent the whole 
agreement between the City and the Owner respecting the use and occupation of the 
Affordable Housing Units, and there are no warranties, representations, conditions or 
collateral agreements made by the City except as set forth in this Agreement.  In the 
event of any conflict between this Agreement and the Housing Covenant, this Agreement 
shall, to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict, prevail.

7.17 Further Assurance 

Upon request by the City the Owner will forthwith do such acts and execute such 
documents as may be reasonably necessary in the opinion of the City to give effect to this 
Agreement. 

7.18 Covenant Runs with the Lands

This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and every parcel into which it is 
Subdivided in perpetuity.  All of the covenants and agreements contained in this 
Agreement are made by the Owner for itself, its personal administrators, successors and 
assigns, and all persons who after the date of this Agreement, acquire an interest in the 
Lands.  
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7.19 Equitable Remedies 

The Owner acknowledges and agrees that damages would be an inadequate remedy for 
the City for any breach of this Agreement and that the public interest strongly favours 
specific performance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise), or other equitable relief, 
as the only adequate remedy for a default under this Agreement. 

7.20 No Joint Venture 

Nothing in this Agreement will constitute the Owner as the agent, joint venturer, or 
partner of the City or give the Owner any authority to bind the City in any way. 

7.21 Applicable Law

Unless the context otherwise requires, the laws of British Columbia (including, without 
limitation, the Residential Tenancy Act) will apply to this Agreement and all statutes 
referred to herein are enactments of the Province of British Columbia.   

7.22 Deed and Contract 

By executing and delivering this Agreement the Owner intends to create both a contract 
and a deed executed and delivered under seal.   

7.23 Joint and Several 

If the Owner is comprised of more than one person, firm or body corporate, then the 
covenants, agreements and obligations of the Owner shall be joint and several. 

7.23 Limitation on Owner’s Obligations

The Owner is only liable for breaches of this Agreement that occur while the Owner is 
the registered owner of the Lands provided however that notwithstanding that the Owner 
is no longer the registered owner of the Lands, the Owner will remain liable for breaches 
of this Agreement that occurred while the Owner was the registered owner of the Lands.

 
  

[The Remainder of This Page is Intentionally Blank] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 
 
MASKEEN (HAMILTON) PROPERTIES CORP.
by its authorized signatory(ies):  
 
 
Per:  _________________________ 
Name:  

Per:  _________________________  
Name:   

 
1164822 B.C. LTD.  
by its authorized signatory(ies):  
 
 
Per:  _________________________ 
Name:   
 
Per:  _________________________  
Name:   
 
 
 
CITY OF RICHMOND
by its authorized signatory(ies): 

Per:  ________________________ 
 Malcolm D. Brodie, Mayor 
 
 
 
Per:  __________________________ 
 Claudia Jesson, Corporate Officer
 
 
 
 

CITY OF 
RICHMOND 
APPROVED 
for content by 

originating 
dept. 

Legal Advice

DATE OF COUNCIL 
APPROVAL 

(if applicable) 

Jagdip Sivia

DocuSlgn Envelope ID: BCD17622-B3FMBEO-S7CE-F40DD6B6B41C 
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Appendix A to Housing Agreement 

STATUTORY DECLARATION 
(Affordable Housing Units) 

CANADA  
 
PROVINCE 
OF 
BRITISH 
COLUMBIA  
 
TO WIT:  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

IN THE MATTER OF Unit Nos. ______ - ______ 

(collectively, the “Affordable Housing Units”) located 

at 

____________________________________________, 

(street address), British Columbia, and Housing 

Agreement dated ___________________, 20____ (the 

“Housing Agreement”) between 

_________________________________________ and 

the City of Richmond (the “City”) 

 

I, _________________________________________________________________ (full 
name), 
 
of ______________________________________________________ (address) in the 
Province 
 
of British Columbia, DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE that: 
 

I am the registered owner (the “Owner”) of the Affordable Housing Units; 

or, 

I am a director, officer, or an authorized signatory of the Owner and I have personal 

knowledge of the matters set out herein; 

This declaration is made pursuant to the terms of the Housing Agreement in 

respect of the Affordable Housing Units for each of the 12 months for the period 

from January 1, 20____ to December 31, 20____ (the “Period”); 

Continuously throughout the Period: 

a) the Affordable Housing Units, if occupied, were occupied only by Eligible Tenants 

(as defined in the Housing Agreement); and 

b) the Owner of the Affordable Housing Units complied with the Owner’s obligations 

under the Housing Agreement and any housing covenant(s) registered against title 

to the Affordable Housing Units; 

DocuSign Envelope ID: BCD17622-B3F0-4BE0-87CE-F40DD6B6B41 C 

□ 

□ 
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The information set out in the table attached as Appendix A hereto (the 

“Information Table”) in respect of each of the Affordable Housing Units is current 

and accurate as of the date of this declaration; and 

I obtained the prior written consent from each of the occupants of the Affordable 

Housing Units named in the Information Table to: (i) collect the information set out 

in the Information Table, as such information relates to the Affordable Housing Unit 

occupied by such occupant/resident; and (ii) disclose such information to the City, 

for purposes of complying with the terms of the Housing Agreement. 

And I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing it to be true and knowing 

that it is of the same force and effect as if made under oath and by virtue of the Canada 

Evidence Act. 

DECLARED BEFORE ME at 

______________________________ 

in the Province of British Columbia, 

Canada, this _____ day of 

_________________, 20____ 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 

 
 

(Signature of Declarant)
Name:

A Notary Public and a Commissioner 
for taking Affidavits in and for the 
Province of British Columbia

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Declarations should be signed, stamped, and dated and witnessed by a lawyer, 
notary public, or commissioner for taking affidavits.
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Appendix A to Statutory Declaration 

 

Doc:uSlgn Enwlcpe ID: BC017622-B3F0--4BE0-87C5-F-40DD686B41C 

Building Harne: Building Address: Property Manaeer Naml!': 

Property Management Company: Property Manager Email: Property M anager Phone tlumber: 

Unit and Household Information Income and Rent 
Fe6 Cokaed (For any~ charged.. provide detaits and explanation 

rqardlng the fe@'S to the City toV!ther with the Statutory DedaratKHI.) 

Total Number 

Related to 
of Occupants Befor~x Total Income 

Unit Type owner Total Number 
who are lncome(s) fif Verification Before-t ax 

(Studio,.l Number of (Yes/No) of Occupants "Seniors" as 
Starting Year 

Occupa.nt is 18 '1.e-ceived Total Income 
Rent 

Move-
Am,nKy Other Tenant 

Row • Unit # that term ts years & Over) !Yes/ No) of AU ParkJn, Fees 1n/ Move-001 Storage fees 
Bed, 2 Bed, S Occupants I# ) (Provkle OfH!' 18 years and 

defined in the 
of Tenancy 

(Provlde ,one ler@iide one Occupants 18 
($/Month) , .. , U.sat e.F~ , .. , 

Bed) response per Under (# ) 
Affordable resporase per response per years8r; over 

occupant) 
Housing occupant) occupant} 

Agreement (# ) 

~ $11,049 Yes 

~ $22.764 Y,s 
EXAMPlf 

0 
ONLY· 101 

lBR ' ~ l l 2022 57,825 Yes $61,638 $ 1..611.19 $ 5 5 $ 5 

~ 

f-----

f-----

1 
f-----

f-----

f-----

f-----

2 
f-----

f-----

f-----

f-----

' f-----

f-----

f-----

Co n t in ue rows as needed. 
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Appendix A to Statutory Declaration 

 

Doc:uSlgn Enwlcpe ID: BC017622-B3F0--4BE0-87C5-F-40DD686B41C 

Building Harne: Building Address: Property Manaeer Naml!': 

Property Management Company: Property Manager Email: Property M anager Phone tlumber: 

Unit and Household Information Income and Rent 
Fe6 Cokaed (For any~ charged.. provide detaits and explanation 

rqardlng the fe@'S to the City toV!ther with the Statutory DedaratKHI.) 

Total Number 

Related to 
of Occupants Befor~x Total Income 

Unit Type owner Total Number 
who are lncome(s) fif Verification Before-t ax 

(Studio,.l Number of (Yes/No) of Occupants "Seniors" as 
Starting Year 

Occupa.nt is 18 '1.e-ceived Total Income 
Rent 

Move-
Am,nKy Other Tenant 

Row • Unit # that term ts years & Over) !Yes/ No) of AU ParkJn, Fees 1n/ Move-001 Storage fees 
Bed, 2 Bed, S Occupants I# ) (Provkle OfH!' 18 years and 

defined in the 
of Tenancy 

(Provlde ,one ler@iide one Occupants 18 
($/Month) , .. , U.sat e.F~ , .. , 

Bed) response per Under (# ) 
Affordable resporase per response per years8r; over 

occupant) 
Housing occupant) occupant} 

Agreement (# ) 

~ $11,049 Yes 

~ $22.764 Y,s 
EXAMPlf 

0 
ONLY· 101 

lBR ' ~ l l 2022 57,825 Yes $61,638 $ 1..611.19 $ 5 5 $ 5 

~ 

f-----

f-----

1 
f-----

f-----

f-----

f-----

2 
f-----

f-----

f-----

f-----

' f-----

f-----

f-----

Co n t in ue rows as needed. 
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?  
Report to Committee 

 

 

To: Planning Committee Date: March 28, 2024 

From: Wayne Craig 
Director, Development 

File: RZ 21-945388 

Re: Application by Kenneth Kim Architecture Inc. for Rezoning at 6560 and  
6580 Williams Road from “Single Detached (RS1/E)” Zone to “Low Density 
Townhouses (RTL4)” Zone 

Staff Recommendation 

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10546, for the rezoning of 6560 and 
6580 Williams Road from “Single Detached (RS1/E)” zone to “Low Density Townhouses 
(RTL4)” zone, be introduced and given first, second and third reading. 

 
Wayne Craig 
Director, Development 
(604-247-4625) 

WC:ak 
Att. 6 
 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

ROUTED TO: CONCURRENCE 
 
Affordable Housing  
 

CONCURRENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER 
 
 
 

 
  

City of 
". Richmond 
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7590174 

Staff Report 

Origin 

Kenneth Kim Architects Inc. on behalf of Capstone Living Ltd. (Director: Jeffrey Lin), has 
applied to the City of Richmond for permission to rezone 6560 and 6580 Williams Road from 
the “Single Detached (RS1/E)” zone to the “Low Density Townhouses (RTL4)” zone, to permit 
the development of eight townhouse units with vehicle access from Williams Road over a 
Statutory Right-of-Way for Public Rights-of-Passage (SRW PROP) through the neighbouring 
development at 6520 Williams Road. A location map and aerial photo are provided in 
Attachment 1.  
 
A Development Permit application is required to further address the form and character of the 
proposed townhouse development. Conceptual development plans are provided for reference in 
Attachment 2.  

Findings of Fact 

A Development Application Data Sheet providing details about the development proposal is 
attached (Attachment 3). 

Subject Site Existing Housing Profile 

The subject site currently contains two single-family homes. The applicant has advised that there 
are no secondary suites and both homes are currently tenanted. The applicant has advised the 
tenants of the redevelopment plans and is committed to providing notice in keeping with the 
Residential Tenancy Act.  

Surrounding Development 

Existing development immediately surrounding the subject site is as follows: 

To the North: Across Williams Rd, two family dwellings fronting Williams Road, on 
lots zoned “Two-Unit Dwellings (RD1)”. 

To the South and East: Steveston London Secondary School, on a property zoned “School and 
Institutional Use (SI)”. A driveway to the school abuts the subject site to 
the east. 

To the West:    A single family dwelling on a property zoned “Single Detached 
(RS1/E)” fronting Williams Road. This property at 6520 Williams Road 
is subject to separate rezoning (RZ 17-792242) and Development Permit 
(DP 21-936149) applications for an eight unit townhouse development 
which are pending final adoption and issuance.  This development will 
provide shared vehicle access for the subject site from this property at 
6520 Williams Road.  
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Related Policies & Studies 

Official Community Plan 

The subject site is located in the Blundell planning area and is designated “Neighbourhood 
Residential” in the Official Community Plan (OCP) (Attachment 4). The proposed rezoning for 
eight townhouses is consistent with the land use designation.  

Arterial Road Policy 

The Arterial Road Land Use Policy in the OCP directs appropriate townhouse development onto 
certain arterial roads outside the City Centre. The subject site is identified for “Arterial Road 
Townhouse” on the Arterial Road Housing Development Map and the proposal is generally 
consistent with the Townhouse Development Requirements under the Arterial Road Policy.  

Floodplain Management Implementation Strategy 

The proposed redevelopment must meet the requirements of the Richmond Flood Plain 
Designation and Protection Bylaw 8204. Registration of a flood indemnity covenant on Title is 
required prior to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw. 

Public Consultation 

A rezoning sign has been installed on the subject property. Staff have not received any comments 
from the public about the rezoning application in response to the placement of the rezoning sign 
on the property.  

The Province has granted Royal Assent to Bill 44, Housing Statues (Residential Development) 
Amendment Act, 2023. Bill 44 prohibits a Local Government from holding a Public Hearing on 
a residential rezoning bylaw that is consistent with the OCP. The proposed rezoning meets the 
conditions established in Bill 44 and is consistent with the OCP. Accordingly, City Council may 
not hold a Public Hearing on the proposed rezoning. 

School District 

This application was referred to School District No. 38 (Richmond) for general information and 
comment as the subject site is immediately adjacent to a School District property. In response to 
comments provided by School District staff, the report includes requirement of a legal agreement 
on Title to prohibit access from the development to the Steveston-London School District 
property during the construction project, or at completion by the owners/strata. Additional items 
to be addressed at the Development Permit stage include ensuring landscaping on the site will be 
maintained by the owners/strata and not impede sightlines for those accessing the School District 
site. 
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Analysis 

Built Form and Architectural Character 

The applicant proposes to consolidate the two properties into one development parcel, for a total 
net site area of 1,618.00 m2. The proposal consists of eight three-storey townhouses arranged 
into two clusters. Five units front Williams Road and three units are located in the rear. One 
convertible unit will be provided in the front cluster and one secondary suite will be provided in 
the rear. The proposed building forms, heights and setbacks are in compliance with the design 
guidelines for arterial road townhouse developments. 

The townhouse units are oriented around a single east-west driveway with access to the site from 
Williams Road through the east-abutting property at 5620 Williams Road. An outdoor amenity 
area will be situated at the southwest corner of the site. Detailed design and programming of the 
outdoor amenity area will be reviewed through the Development Permit process. 

Existing Legal Encumbrances 

There is an existing 3.0 m wide Statutory Right-of-Way (SRW) along the rear property line for 
the sanitary sewer. The applicant is aware that no construction or tree planting is permitted 
within the SRW area.  

Transportation and Site Access 

Access to Williams Road will be provided over an SRW through 6520 Williams Road as part of 
the adjacent rezoning application (RZ 17-792242). The rezoning application at 6520 Williams 
Road is at third reading and must be adopted prior to the adoption of the subject rezoning 
amendment bylaw. To ensure site access for the subject development, a legal agreement is to be 
registered on Title requiring the adoption of the adjacent rezoning bylaw or the securement of an 
alternative means of access, prior to the adoption of this subject rezoning. 

A reciprocal SRW PROP is required to be registered on Title to permit the shared use of the 
subject site’s internal drive aisle by vehicular traffic generated by the subject site and  
6520 Williams Road.  

Consistent with Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, a total of 16 resident vehicle parking spaces are 
provided within eight individual side-by-side garages, in addition to two visitor parking spaces. 
Also consistent with the parking requirements, 10 resident (Class 1) bicycle parking spaces and 
two visitor (Class 2) bicycle parking spaces are proposed on site. 

A 0.6 m wide road dedication is required across the entire Williams Road frontage in order to 
accommodate the standard sidewalk and boulevard width. This road dedication is required prior 
to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw.  
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Tree Retention and Replacement 

The applicant has submitted a Certified Arborist’s Report; which identifies on-site and off-site 
tree species, assesses tree structure and condition and provides recommendations on tree 
retention and removal relative to the proposed development. The Report assesses 16 bylaw-sized 
trees on the subject property and four trees on neighbouring, Richmond School District No. 38, 
property. 

The City’s Tree Preservation Coordinator has reviewed the Arborist’s Report and supports the 
Arborist’s findings, with the following comments: 

 Two trees (tag # 658 and 659), a Scotch pine with 53 cm dbh and a Zebrina cedar with 30 cm 
dbh, located on the development site are in poor condition and are not a good candidate for 
retention.  

 One ash tree (tag# 665) of 32 cm dbh, is located in good condition but in conflict with the 
proposed driveway and is not suitable for relocation.  

 13 trees (tag# 655, 656, 657, 660, 661, 662, 663, 664, 666, 667, 668, 669 and 670), of various 
coniferous and deciduous species ranging from 22-90 cm dbh, located along the south and 
east sides of the development site are identified in a good condition and to be retained and 
protected as per Arborist Report recommendation. 

 Four beech trees (tag # ci1, ci2, ci3, ci4), of 15 cm dbh, located on adjacent School District 
property are identified to be retained and protected. 

 Replacement trees should be specified at 2:1 ratio as per the OCP. 

Tree Replacement 

The applicant wishes to remove three on-site trees (tag# 658, 659, 665). The 2:1 replacement 
ratio would require a total of six replacement trees. The required replacement trees are to be of 
the following minimum sizes, based on the size of the trees being removed as per Tree Protection 
Bylaw No. 8057. 

No. of Replacement Trees Minimum Caliper of Deciduous 
Replacement Tree 

Minimum Height of Coniferous 
Replacement Tree 

6 8 cm 4 m 

 
The applicant’s preliminary Landscape Plan (Attachment 2) proposes to plant 11 trees on-site. 
As part of the Development Permit application review process, the number and species of 
proposed replacement trees is to be refined and additional planting opportunities are to be further 
examined where appropriate. To ensure that the replacement trees are planted and maintained on-
site, the applicant is required to submit a Landscape Security prior to DP issuance in the amount 
of 100 per cent of a cost estimate prepared by the Registered Landscape Architect (including 
installation and 10 per cent contingency).  

Tree Protection 

The applicant is committed to retain and protect 13 trees on-site and four trees off-site on the east 
adjacent property.  
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The applicant has submitted a tree protection plan showing the trees to be retained and the 
measures taken to protect them during development stage (Attachment 5).  
To ensure that the trees identified for retention are protected at development stage, the applicant 
is required to complete the following items: 
 Prior to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw, submission to the City of a contract with a 

Certified Arborist for the supervision of all works conducted within or in close proximity to 
tree protection zones. The contract must include the scope of work required, the number of 
proposed monitoring inspections at specified stages of construction, any special measures 
required to ensure tree protection, and a provision for the arborist to submit a post-
construction impact assessment to the City for review. 

 Prior to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw, submission to the City of a Tree Survival 
Security in the amount of $122,880.00 to ensure that the 13 on-site trees (tag# 655, 656, 657, 
660, 661, 662, 663, 664, 666, 667, 668, 669 and 670), identified for retention, will be 
protected. No Tree Survival Security will be returned until the post-construction assessment 
report, confirming the protected trees survived the construction, prepared by the Arborist, is 
reviewed by staff. 

 Prior to demolition of the existing dwelling on the subject site, installation of tree protection 
fencing around all trees to be retained. Tree protection fencing must be installed to City 
standard in accordance with the City’s Tree Protection Information Bulletin Tree-03 prior to 
any works being conducted on-site, and remain in place until construction and landscaping 
on-site is completed. 

Housing Type and Tenure 

The proposed development is a market townhouse development. Consistent with OCP policy 
respecting townhouse and multi-family housing development projects and in order to maximize 
potential rental and housing opportunities throughout the City, the applicant has agreed to 
register a restrictive covenant on Title prior to rezoning bylaw adoption, prohibiting (a) the 
imposition of any strata bylaw that would prohibit any residential dwelling unit from being 
rented; and (b) the imposition of any strata bylaw that would place age-based restrictions on 
occupants of any residential dwelling unit.  

Affordable Housing Strategy 

The City of Richmond’s Affordable Housing Strategy seeks cash-in-lieu (CIL) contributions to 
the City’s Affordable Housing Reserve Fund when considering rezoning applications with 60 or 
fewer dwelling units. In this case, the contribution requirement is $125,395.20 ($12.00 per 
buildable square foot) and must be provided to the City prior to final adoption of the rezoning 
bylaw. The applicant has also voluntarily proposed the inclusion of one studio secondary suite 
(approx. 29.26 m2 in area) within the development. 

Market Rental Housing Policy 

The City of Richmond’s Official Community Plan establishes a policy framework for the 
provision of market rental housing.  Townhouse rezoning applications are to provide a CIL.  
In this case, the contribution requirement is $27,691.44 ($2.65 per buildable square foot) and 
must be provided to the City prior to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw. 
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Energy Efficiency 

Consistent with the City’s Energy Step Code requirements, the project architect has confirmed 
that the applicable Energy Step Code performance targets have been considered in the proposed 
design. The proposal is anticipated to achieve Step 3 of the Energy Step Code with EL-4 and a 
confirmation letter has been provided on file.  Further details on how the proposal will meet this 
commitment will be reviewed as part of the Development Permit and Building Permit 
application review process. 

Amenity Space 

The outdoor amenity space is proposed to be situated at the southwest corner of the site. Based 
on the preliminary design, the total area of the proposed outdoor amenity space at 63.5 m2.  
Staff will work with the applicant at Development Permit stage to ensure the design of the 
outdoor amenity space meets the Development Permit Guidelines.  

The applicant is proposing a cash contribution in lieu of providing the required indoor amenity 
space on-space. The total cash contribution required for the proposed eight-unit townhouse 
development is $16,528.00 based on $2,066.00 per unit as per the current OCP rate and must be 
provided prior to rezoning adoption. 

Development Permit Application 

Prior to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw, a Development Permit application is required to be 
processed to a satisfactory level. Through the Development Permit, the following items are to be 
further examined: 
 Compliance with Development Permit Guidelines for multiple-family projects in the OCP.  
 Confirmation that all aging-in-place and convertible unit features have been incorporated into 

the dwelling design. 
 Review of the new hydrant location on-site. 
 Review of the proposed exterior building material and colour palette. 
 Review of the size and species of on-site trees to ensure bylaw compliance and to achieve an 

acceptable mix of coniferous and deciduous species on-site. 
 Refinement of landscape design to optimize replacement tree planting on-site and to 

maximize permeable surface areas. 
 Review of acoustical and thermal reports and recommendations prepared by an appropriate 

registered professional, demonstrating that the interior noise levels and noise mitigation 
standards comply with the City’s Official Community Plan and Noise Bylaw requirements. 

 Ensure an appropriate interface with the school site to the east and south including: 
o Confirming fence details and that no direct access to the School District property is 

being provided. 
o Ensuring that landscaping on the subject site does not impede sightlines for those 

accessing the School District property and does not impact the School property. 
 Refinement of the outdoor amenity area design, including the choice of play equipment, to 

create a safe and vibrant environment for children’s play and social interaction. 
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 Review of the sustainability strategy for the development proposal. 

Site Servicing and Frontage Improvements 

Prior to final adoption of the rezoning bylaw, the applicant is required to enter into a Servicing 
Agreement for the design and construction of the required site servicing and frontage works, as 
described in Attachment 6.  

The developer is also required to pay Development Cost Charges (DCCs) (City and GVS & DD), 
School Site Acquisition Charge and Address Assignment Fee. 

Financial Impact or Economic Impact 

The rezoning application results in an insignificant Operational Budget Impact (OBI) for off-site 
City infrastructure (such as roadworks, waterworks, storm sewers, sanitary sewers, street lights, 
street trees and traffic signals). 

Conclusion 

This application is to rezone 6560 and 6580 Williams Road from the “Single Detached (RS1/E)” 
zone to “Low Density Townhouses (RTL4)” zone, to permit the development of eight townhouse 
units with vehicle access from Williams Road over a Statutory Right-of-Way for Public Rights-
of-Passage (SRW PROP) through the neighbouring development at 6520 Williams Road.  

The proposed rezoning and ensuing development of the site is generally consistent with the land 
use designations and applicable policies contained in the Official Community Plan (OCP) for the 
subject site. Further review of the project design will be completed as part of the Development 
Permit application review process.  

The list of rezoning considerations is included in Attachment 6, which has been agreed to by the 
applicant (signed concurrence on file).  

It is recommended that Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10546 be introduced 
and given first, second and third reading. 
 
 
 
Ashley Kwan 
Planner 1 
(604-276-4173) 

 AK:js 

Att.  1: Location Map  
 2: Conceptual Development Plans 
 3: Development Application Data Sheet 
 4: Blundell Area Plan 
 5: Tree Management Plan 
 6: Rezoning Considerations 
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Development Application Data Sheet 
Development Applications Department 

 
RZ 21-945388 Attachment 3 

Address: 6560 and 6580 Williams Road 

Applicant: Kenneth Kim Architecture Inc. 

Planning Area(s): Blundell Area Plan 
   

 Existing Proposed 
Owner: Capstone Living Ltd. No Change 

Site Size (m2): 1,642.50 m2 1,618.00 m2 

Land Uses: Single-family Townhouses 

OCP Designation: Neighbourhood Residential No Change 

Zoning: Single Detached (RS1/E) Low Density Townhouses (RTL4) 

Number of Units: Two Single-Family Dwelling Eight Townhouses + One 
Secondary Suite 

 
On Future 

Subdivided Lots Bylaw Requirement Proposed Variance 

Floor Area Ratio: Max. 0.60 0.60 none 
permitted 

Lot Coverage (% of lot area): 
Building: Max. 40% 

Non-porous Surfaces: Max. 65% 
Live Landscaping: Min. 25% 

Building: 37% 
Non-porous Surfaces: 64% 

Total: Max. 32% 
none 

Lot Dimensions (m): Width: Min. 40.0 m 
Depth: Min. 35.0 m 

Width: 40.8 m 
Depth: 39.6 m none 

Setbacks (m): 
Front: Min. 6.0 m 
Rear: Min. 3.0 m 
Side: Min. 6.0 m 

Front: 6.0 m 
Rear: 3.0 m 

Side (East): Min 3.0 m 
Side (West): Min 3.0 m 

none 

Height (m): Max. 12.0 m 11.7 m none 
Off-street Parking Spaces – 
Regular (R) / Visitor (V): 2 (R) and 0.2 (V) per unit 16 (R) and 2 (V) none 

Off-street Parking Spaces – 
Total: 16 18 none 

Amenity Space – Indoor: Min. 50 m2 or Cash in-lieu Cash in-lieu none 

Amenity Space – Outdoor: Min. 6.0 m2 per unit (48 m2) 63.5 m2 none  

* Preliminary estimate; not inclusive of garage; exact building size to be determined through zoning bylaw compliance 
review at Building Permit stage. 
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  Initial: _______  

 Rezoning Considerations 
Development Applications Department 

6911 No. 3 Road, Richmond, BC  V6Y 2C1 

 
 
Address: 6560 and 6580 Williams Road File No.: RZ 21-945388 
 

Prior to final adoption of Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10546, the developer is 
required to complete the following: 
1. (Site Access) Registration of a legal agreement on Title for site access through 6520 Williams Road by requiring the 

adoption of the adjacent rezoning bylaw (RZ 17-792242, Amendment Bylaw 10224), or the securement of an 
alternative means of access by the applicant prior to the adoption of the subject rezoning bylaw. 

2. (Development Permit) The submission and processing of a Development Permit* complete to a level deemed 
acceptable by the Director of Development. 

3. (Subdivision) Consolidation of all lots into one development parcel (which will require the demolition of at least one 
of the existing dwellings).  

4. (Road Dedication) Approximately 0.6 m road dedication along the entire Williams Road frontage to accommodate 
new 1.5 m wide treed/grassed boulevard and a new 2.0 m side concrete sidewalk; exact width is to be confirmed with 
survey information to be submitted by the applicant.  

5. (Shared Driveway) Registration of a cross-access easement, statutory right-of-way, and/or other legal agreements or 
measures, as determined to the satisfaction of the Director of Development, over the internal drive-aisle in favour of 
the adjacent development to the west at 6520 Williams Road, including the installation of way-finding and other 
appropriate signage on the subject property, and requiring a covenant that the owner provide written notification of 
this through the disclosure statement to all initial purchasers, provide an acknowledgement of the same in all purchase 
and sale agreements, and erect signage in the initial sales centre advising purchasers of the potential for these impacts. 

6. (Access to Adjacent Property) Registration of a legal agreement on Title prohibiting direct access from the subject 
site to the School District property to the south. 

7. (Flood Protection) Registration of a flood indemnity covenant on title. 
8. (Secondary Suite) Registration of a legal agreement on Title to ensure that: 

a) No final Building Permit inspection is granted until a secondary suite with a minimum size of 29 m2 is 
constructed on-site, to the satisfaction of the City in accordance with the BC Building Code and the City’s Zoning 
Bylaw. 

b) The secondary suite cannot be stratified or otherwise held under separate Title. 
9. (Arborist Supervision) Submission of a Contract entered into between the applicant and a Certified Arborist for 

supervision of any on-site works conducted within the tree protection zone of the trees to be retained.  The Contract 
should include the scope of work to be undertaken, including:  the proposed number of site monitoring inspections, 
and a provision for the Arborist to submit a post-construction assessment report to the City for review. 

10. (Tree Protection Fencing) Installation of appropriate tree protection fencing around all trees to be retained as part of 
the development prior to any construction activities, including building demolition, occurring on-site. 

11. (Tree Survival Security) Submission of a Tree Survival Security to the City in the amount of $122,880.00 for the 13 
trees to be retained ($5,120 for each of Tree #656 and 664, and $10,240 for each of Tree # 655, 657, 660, 661, 662, 
663, 666, 667, 668, 669, and 670). To accompany the tree survival securities, the applicant must enter into a legal 
agreement, which sets the terms for its use and release. 

12. (Housing Tenure and Age Restriction) Registration of a restrictive covenant prohibiting (a) the imposition of any 
strata bylaw that would prohibit any residential dwelling unit from being rented; and (b) the imposition of any strata 
bylaw that would place age-based restrictions on occupants of any residential dwelling unit.  

13. (Affordable Housing) City acceptance of the developer’s offer to voluntarily contribute $12.00 per buildable square 
foot (e.g. $125,395.20) to the City’s affordable housing fund.  
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14. (Market Rental) City acceptance of the developer’s voluntary contribution in the amount of $2.65 (e.g. $27,691.44) 
to future City community planning studies, as set out in the City Centre Area Plan. 

15. (Indoor Amenity) Contribution of $2,066.00 per dwelling unit (e.g. $16,528.00) in-lieu of on-site indoor amenity 
space. 

16.  (Required Notices) Payment of all fees in full for the cost associated with the public notices, consistent with the 
City’s Consolidated Fees Bylaw No 8636, as amended. 

Prior to a Development Permit  being forwarded to the Development Permit Panel for consideration, the 
developer is required to: 
1. Submission of a Landscaping Security based on 100% of the cost estimate provided by the landscape architect, 

including the six required replacement trees, landscaping installation costs and 10% contingency. 
2. If replacement trees cannot be accommodated on site, a cash-in-lieu contribution in the amount of $768/tree to the 

City’s Tree Compensation Fund for off-site planting is required. 
3. Complete a proposed townhouse energy efficiency report and recommendations prepared by a Certified Energy 

Advisor which demonstrates how the proposed construction will meet or exceed the required BC Energy Step Code 
and/or Zero Carbon Code, in compliance with the City’s Official Community Plan and Building Regulation Bylaw 
No. 7230.  

Prior to Building Permit* Issuance, the developer must complete the following requirements: 
1. Submission of a Construction Parking and Traffic Management Plan to the Transportation Department.  Management 

Plan shall include location for parking for services, deliveries, workers, loading, application for any lane closures, and 
proper construction traffic controls as per Traffic Control Manual for works on Roadways (by Ministry of 
Transportation) and MMCD Traffic Regulation Section 01570. 

2. Incorporation of accessibility measures in Building Permit (BP) plans as determined via the Rezoning and/or 
Development Permit processes. 

3. Enter into a Servicing Agreement* for the design and construction of engineering infrastructure improvements.  A 
Letter of Credit or cash security for the value of the Service Agreement works, as determined by the City, will be 
required as part of entering into the Servicing Agreement. Works include, but may not be limited to: 
a) Water Works: 

(1) Using the OCP Model, there is 604 L/s of water available at a 20 psi residual at the Williams Road 
frontage. Based on your proposed development, your site requires a minimum fire flow of 220 L/s. 

(2) Provide a new hydrant at the Williams Road frontage to comply with the City’s standard hydrant spacing 
of 75m for the proposed townhouses. Consult with the City’s Fire Department to confirm the location of 
the required hydrant whether it will be installed on the south side of Williams Road. 

(3) At Developer’s cost, the Developer is required to: 
(a) Submit Fire Underwriter Survey (FUS) or International Organization for Standardization (ISO) fire 

flow calculations to confirm development has adequate fire flow for onsite fire protection. 
Calculations must be signed and sealed by a Professional Engineer and be based on Building Permit 
Stage building designs.  

(b) Review hydrant spacing on all road frontages and install new fire hydrants as required to meet City 
spacing requirements for the proposed land use. 

(c) Provide a right-of-way for the water meter. Minimum right-of-way dimensions to be the size of the 
meter box (from the City of Richmond supplementary specifications) + any appurtenances (for 
example, the bypass on W2o-SD) + 0.5 m on all sides. Exact right-of-way dimensions to be finalized 
during the building permit process (or via the servicing agreement process, if one is required). 

(4) At Developer’s cost, the City will: 
(a) Cut, cap, and remove the existing water service connections and meters. 
(b) Install a new water service connection, complete with meter and meter box, sized for the proposed 

development. The location of the service connection shall be determined during the Servicing 
Agreement process. 
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b) Storm Sewer Works: 
(1) At Developer’s cost, the Developer is required to: 

(a) Provide an erosion and sediment control plan for all on-site and off-site works, to be reviewed as part 
of the servicing agreement design. 

(b) Install approximately 48m of new 600mm storm sewer from the west PL of 6560 Williams Road to 
east PL of 6580 Williams Road, complete with manholes at the tie ins. Alignment shall be consistent 
with the existing storm sewers to the East and West, at the South side of Williams Road.   

(2) At Developer’s cost, the City will: 
(a) Cut and cap, at the inspection chamber, the existing storm service connection STCN26474 located at 

the northwest corner of the site. The existing inspection chamber shall be retained to service 6520 
Williams Road.  

(b) Cut and cap the existing storm service connection STCN26473 along with the inspection chamber. 
Reconnect the existing catch basin, which is currently connected to the inspection chamber, to the 
storm sewer.  

(c) Install a new storm service connection, complete with inspection chamber off of the new 600mm 
storm sewer. 

c) Sanitary Sewer Works: 
(1) At Developer’s cost, the Developer is required to not start onsite excavation or foundation construction 

until completion of rear-yard sanitary works by City crews. 
(2) At Developer’s cost, the City will: 

(a) Cut, cap and remove the existing sanitary service connection to the development site, and remove the 
inspection chamber.  

(b) Install a new sanitary service connection appropriately sized for the proposed development off the 
existing manhole SMH589. 

d) Street Lighting: 
(1) At Developer’s cost, the Developer is required to review street lighting levels along all road and lane 

frontages, and upgrade as required. 
e) General Items: 

(1) At Developer’s cost, the Developer is required to: 
(a) Complete other frontage improvements as per Transportation requirements. 
(b) Coordinate with BC Hydro, Telus and other private communication service providers: 

(i) To pre-duct for future hydro, telephone and cable utilities along all road frontages. 
(ii) Before relocating/modifying any of the existing power poles and/or guy wires within the property 

frontages. 
(iii) To underground overhead service lines. 

(c) Locate/relocate all above ground utility cabinets and kiosks required to service the proposed 
development and proposed undergrounding works, and all above ground utility cabinets and kiosks 
located along the development’s frontages, within the developments site (see list below for 
examples). A functional plan showing conceptual locations for such infrastructure shall be included in 
the development design review process. Please coordinate with the respective private utility 
companies and the project’s lighting and traffic signal consultants to confirm the requirements (e.g., 
statutory right-of-way dimensions) and the locations for the aboveground structures. If a private 
utility company does not require an aboveground structure, that company shall confirm this via a 
letter to be submitted to the City. The following are examples of statutory right-of-ways that shall be 
shown on the architectural plans/functional plan, the servicing agreement drawings, and registered 
prior to SA design approval: 

 BC Hydro PMT – 4.0 x 5.0 m 
 BC Hydro LPT – 3.5 x 3.5 m 
 Street light kiosk – 1.5 x 1.5 m 
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 Traffic signal kiosk – 2.0 x 1.5 m 
 Traffic signal UPS – 1.0 x 1.0 m 
 Shaw cable kiosk – 1.0 x 1.0 m 
 Telus FDH cabinet – 1.1 x 1.0 m 

(d) Relocate the street light and pedestrian crosswalk signal pole at the property's frontage to 
accommodate the proposed driveway on the adjacent property 

(e) Provide a video inspection report of the existing utilities along the South property line frontage prior 
to start of site preparation works or within the first servicing agreement submission, whichever comes 
first. A follow-up video inspection, complete with a civil engineer’s signed and sealed 
recommendation letter, is required after site preparation works are complete (i.e. pre-load removal, 
completion of dewatering, etc.) to assess the condition of the existing utilities and provide 
recommendations to retain, replace, or repair. Any utilities damaged by the pre-load, de-watering, or 
other ground preparation shall be replaced or repaired at the Developer’s cost. 

(f) Not encroach into City rights-of-ways with any proposed trees, retaining walls, or other non-
removable structures. Retaining walls proposed to encroach into rights-of-ways must be reviewed by 
the City’s Engineering Department. 

(g) Coordinate the servicing agreement design for this development with the servicing agreement(s) for 
the adjacent development(s), both existing and in-stream. The developer’s civil engineer shall submit 
a signed and sealed letter with each servicing agreement submission confirming that they have 
coordinated with civil engineer(s) of the adjacent project(s) and that the servicing agreement designs 
are consistent. The City will not accept the 1st submission if it is not coordinated with the adjacent 
developments. The coordination letter should cover, but not be limited to, the following: 
(i) Corridors for City utilities (existing and proposed water, storm sewer, and sanitary) and private 

utilities. 
(ii) Pipe sizes, material and slopes. 
(iii) Location of manholes and fire hydrants. 
(iv) Road grades, high points and low points. 
(v) Alignment of ultimate and interim curbs. 
(vi) Proposed street lights design. 

(h) Enter into, if required, additional legal agreements, as determined via the subject development's 
Servicing Agreement(s) and/or Development Permit(s), and/or Building Permit(s) to the satisfaction 
of the Director of Engineering, including, but not limited to, site investigation, testing, monitoring, 
site preparation, de-watering, drilling, underpinning, anchoring, shoring, piling, pre-loading, ground 
densification or other activities that may result in settlement, displacement, subsidence, damage or 
nuisance to City and private utility infrastructure. 

4. If applicable, payment of latecomer agreement charges, plus applicable interest associated with eligible latecomer 
works. 

5. Obtain a Building Permit (BP) for any construction hoarding.  If construction hoarding is required to temporarily 
occupy a public street, the air space above a public street, or any part thereof, additional City approvals and associated 
fees may be required as part of the Building Permit.  For additional information, contact the Building Approvals 
Department at 604-276-4285. 

 
Note: 

* This requires a separate application. 

 Where the Director of Development deems appropriate, the preceding agreements are to be drawn not only as personal covenants 
of the property owner but also as covenants pursuant to Section 219 of the Land Title Act. 

All agreements to be registered in the Land Title Office shall have priority over all such liens, charges and encumbrances as is 
considered advisable by the Director of Development. All agreements to be registered in the Land Title Office shall, unless the 
Director of Development determines otherwise, be fully registered in the Land Title Office prior to enactment of the appropriate 
bylaw. 
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The preceding agreements shall provide security to the City including indemnities, warranties, equitable/rent charges, letters of 
credit and withholding permits, as deemed necessary or advisable by the Director of Development. All agreements shall be in a 
form and content satisfactory to the Director of Development. 

 Additional legal agreements, as determined via the subject development's Servicing Agreement(s) and/or Development Permit(s), 
and/or Building Permit(s) to the satisfaction of the Director of Engineering may be required including, but not limited to, site 
investigation, testing, monitoring, site preparation, de-watering, drilling, underpinning, anchoring, shoring, piling, pre-loading, 
ground densification or other activities that may result in settlement, displacement, subsidence, damage or nuisance to City and 
private utility infrastructure. 

 Applicants for all City Permits are required to comply at all times with the conditions of the Provincial Wildlife Act and Federal 
Migratory Birds Convention Act, which contain prohibitions on the removal or disturbance of both birds and their nests. Issuance 
of Municipal permits does not give an individual authority to contravene these legislations. The City of Richmond recommends 
that where significant trees or vegetation exists on site, the services of a Qualified Environmental Professional (QEP) be secured 
to perform a survey and ensure that development activities are in compliance with all relevant legislation. 

 
 
 
 
 _____________________________________________   _______________________________  
Signed Date 
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 Bylaw 10546  
 

Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500 
Amendment Bylaw 10546 (21-945388) 

6560 & 6580 Williams Road 
 
 
The Council of the City of Richmond, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. The Zoning Map of the City of Richmond, which accompanies and forms part of Richmond 
Zoning Bylaw 8500, is amended by repealing the existing zoning designation of the 
following area and by designating it “LOW DENSITY TOWNHOUSES (RTL4)”: 

P.I.D. 008-986-851 
Lot 19 Section 31 Block 4 North Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 28557 

and 

P.I.D. 003-490-769 
Lot 20 Section 31 Block 4 North Range 6 West New Westminster District Plan 28557 

2. This Bylaw may be cited as “Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 
10546”. 

 
 
FIRST READING   

SECOND READING   

THIRD READING   

OTHER CONDITIONS SATISFIED   

ADOPTED   
 
 
 
    
 MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER 
 

CITY OF 
RICHMOND 

APPROVED 
by 

 
APPROVED 
by Director 
or Solicitor 
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SCHEDULE B to BYLAW NO. 10547 

PROPERTY CLASS REGIONAL DISTRICT 

1. Residential 0.05544 

2. Utilities 0.19404 

3. Supportive Housing 0.05544 

4. Major Industry 0.18849 

5. Light Industry 0.18849 

6. Business/other 0.13583 

8. Rec/non profit 0.05544 

9. Farm 0.05544 
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Time: 

Place: 

City of 
Richmond 

Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

3:30 p.m. 

Remote (Zoom) Meeting 

Minutes 

Present: Cecilia Achiam, General Manager, Community Safety, Chair 
Marie Fenwick, Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage 
Michael Allen, Acting Director, Real Estate Services 

The meeting was called to order at 3:30 p.m. 

MINUTES 

It was moved and seconded 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Development Permit Panel held on March 27, 
2024 be adopted. 

CARRIED 

1. DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 23-024119 
(REDMS No. 7609062) 

7659593 

APPLICANT: Topstream Management Ltd. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 8635, 8655, 8675 and 8695 Cook Crescent 

INTENT OF PERMIT: 

Permit the construction of 28 townhouse units and fourteen secondary suites at 8635, 8655, 
8675 and 8695 Cook Crescent on a site zoned "Town Housing (ZT103) - Parking Structure 
Townhouses (Spires Road- Cook Crescent)". 

1. 
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Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

Applicant's Comments 

Coby Xiao, Topstream Management Ltd., introduced the presenters for the application 
and Jeff Shen, J+S Architect, Inc., with the aid of a visual presentation (attached to and 
forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1 ), provided background information on the 
proposed development, highlighting the following: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

the form of the proposed development is consistent with neighbouring townhouse 
developments in the area; 

due to the closure of Cook Crescent in the future, the entrances to the building's 
parkade and main lobby will be located off Spires Road on the south side of the 
proposed development; 

the project provides 28 dwelling units, including 27 multi-level townhouse units 
and one ground level flat in four building blocks; 

the proposed unit mix consists of two- to five-bedroom townhouse units and 14 
townhouse units will contain a secondary suite on ground level; 

a central courtyard space is proposed on the podium level surrounded by the four 
building blocks; 

all townhouse units include a patio on the podium level and/or rooftop deck and all 
secondary suites will have a private outdoor space; 

a three-metre wide north-south public walkway along the west property line and a 
10-meter wide greenway, i.e. Pedestrian Linkage, along the north property line are 
proposed; 

the triangular area north of the 10-meter wide greenway will be dedicated by the 
developer to the City; 

a three-metre landscape strip around the perimeter of the site is proposed to provide 
a second layer of landscaping on the ground level; 

the proposed 34 residential parking spaces meet the minimum Zoning bylaw 
requirement; 

the proposed use of materials, colours and architectural elements visually reduce 
the height of the building and breaks down the building mass; 

two four-storey convertible units and one single-level Basic Universal Housing 
(BUH) unit are proposed; and 

the project has been designed to achieve Step Code 4 of the BC Energy Step Code . 

2. 
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Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

Yiwen Ruan, PMG Landscape Architects, with the aid of the same visual presentation, 
briefed the Panel on the main landscape features of the project, noting that (i) each unit 
will be provided with a landscaped yard with a canopy tree to enhance the pedestrian 
experience around the site, (ii) multiple trees are proposed to be retained and protected 
along the west property line, (iii) the west public walkway is configured to protect the 
retained trees, (iv) street furniture is proposed at the northeast and southeast corner plazas 
to encourage their use, (v) the outdoor amenity area on the podium level includes two 
children's play areas in different locations and exercise and play equipment for adults, (vi) 
each unit will be provided with a landscaped yard on the podium level, (vii) wall mounted 
and bollard lighting are proposed for the project, (viii) drought tolerant species are 
proposed for planting on-site, and (ix) an on-site high-efficiency irrigation system is 
proposed for all planted areas. 

Staff Comments 

Wayne Craig, General Manager, Planning and Development, clarified that the triangular 
area north of the proposed IO-metre wide greenway is not intended to be a City park as it 
is a future development lot and there is an expectation that a licence agreement will be 
entered into to allow the residents of the proposed development to use the area until the 
redevelopment of the lot occurs. 

In addition, Mr. Craig noted that (i) there is a Servicing Agreement associated with the 
project for site services and frontage works, and (ii) the applicant is commended for their 
efforts to integrate the four existing trees on the walkway along the western edge of the 
subject site. 

In reply to a query from the Panel, Mr. Craig stated that the title of the triangular property 
north of the IO-metre wide greenway will be transferred to the City and the City 
anticipates to enter into a licencing agreement to allow the residents of the proposed 
development to use the lot, which will be fenced to prohibit public access. 

Panel Discussion 

In reply to queries from the Panel, the applicant team noted that (i) the secondary suites 
can be accessed on the ground level either from the street or public walkways, (ii) the 
secondary suites are designed to be studio or one-bedroom units and have sizes ranging 
from approximately 300 square feet or larger, (iii) there is a tree in the triangular area 
north of the IO-metre wide greenway that will be retained, (iv) the sculptural pieces 
hanging down in between buildings are intended to fill the gap between buildings and are 
not part of public art, and (v) lighting will be installed along the public walkways and on 
adjacent buildings. 

Correspondence 

None. 

3. 
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Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

The Chair advised staff to meet with the member of public present in Council Chambers 
wanting to delegate but unable to speak on the proposal due to the absence of her 
translator. 

Panel Discussion 

The Panel expressed support for the project, noting the design is well thought out and 
there is adequate separation from the future development to the west through the provision 
of the public walkway. 

Panel Decision 

It was moved and seconded 
That a Development Permit be issued which would permit the construction of 28 
townhouse units and fourteen secondary suites at 8635, 8655, 8675 and 8695 Cook 
Crescent on a site zoned "Town Housing (ZT103) - Parking Structure Townhouses 
(Spires Road - Cook Crescent)". 

CARRIED 

2. DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 23-029453 
(REDMS No. 7623245) 

7659593 

APPLICANT: Fougere Architecture Inc. 

10611 and 10751 River Drive PROPERTY LOCATION: 

INTENT OF PERMIT: 

Permit the construction of a mid-rise residential development comprising 181 residential 
units, including 18 low-end-of-market-rental (LEMR) units and 13 market rental units at 
10611 and 10751 River Drive on a site zoned "Low to Mid Rise Apartment (ZLR46) -
Bridgeport" 

Applicant's Comments 

Wayne Fougere, Fougere Architecture Inc., with the aid of a visual presentation (attached 
to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 2), provided background information on 
the proposed development, highlighting the following: 

■ 

■ 

the proposed development completes the multi-phase overall development on the 
north side of River Drive between No. 4 Road and Shell Road; 

the lower two-storey amenity building and four-storey apartment building are 
located along River Drive and the higher two six-storey apartment buildings are 
sited at the rear, fronting the dike and the river; 

4. 
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■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

a total of 181 dwelling units are proposed including 150 market strata units, 13 
market rental units and 18 Low-End-of-Market (LEMR) units; 

street-facing apartment buildings have lower living areas to provide better 
connection to the street; 

the central pedestrian entry to the proposed development is located on River Drive 
and provides pedestrian connection from River Drive to the dike through the central 
courtyard; 

a wheelchair accessible widened public walkway is located along the edge of the 
west property line and provides pedestrian connection from River Drive to the dike 
walkway; 

the public multi-use path along Shell Road on the east side of the subject site is 
wheelchair accessible; however, the access from the pathway's northern terminus to 
the dike is not wheelchair accessible due to its steep slope; 

the central courtyard on the podium level is enclosed by the four buildings and can 
be accessed from the street, public walkways and the dike; 

public art is proposed at the corner of River Drive and Shell Road; 

the project provides 91 Basic Universal Housing (BUH) units, including 16 for 
LEMR units, 10 for market rental units, and 65 for market strata units; 

the contemporary architectural style of the buildings in the proposed development 
is consistent with the buildings in Phase 1 of the overall development; and 

outdoor amenity space is provided on the podium level central courtyard and indoor 
■ amenity spaces are provided in the two-storey indoor amenity building and smaller 

multi-purpose rooms in the larger northeast and northwest apartment buildings. 

Yiwen Ruan, PMG Landscape Architects, with the aid of the same visual presentation, 
briefed the Panel on the proposed landscaping for the project, noting that (i) the proposed 
landscape design is intended to provide pedestrian connectivity and interaction, (ii) semi­
private spaces along the edges of the site are separated from public spaces through grade 
change and landscaping, including installation of tiered planters, (iii) the proposed outdoor 
amenity area on the podium level central courtyard provides a variety of uses for adults 
and children, including among others, as gathering spaces and play areas, (iv) accessible 
pedestrian pathways are provided along the west and east edges of the site and through the 
courtyard at the centre of the site, (v) proposed on-site planting includes drought tolerant 
and pollinator friendly species, and (vi) a high-efficiency on-site irrigation system

1
will be 

provided for all planted areas. 

5. 
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Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

Mr. Craig noted that (i) the rental units in the rental building fronting River Drive will be 
secured through housing agreements and the developer has entered into a memorandum of 
understanding with a non-profit organization for the management of the rental units, (ii) 
the Servicing Agreement associated with the project includes frontage works on River 
Drive and Shell Road and site services, among others, (iii) there will be a separate 
Servicing Agreement for the construction of the dike and dike pathways, (iv) there is an 
extensive Transportation Demand Management (TDM) package associated with the 
project which includes, among others, the provision of transit passes to 15 percent of the 
residents of market strata units, an increase of on-site bicycle storage facility, and the 
provision of a bicycle maintenance facility, and (v) more than 70 percent of the total 
number of units provided in the project are family-friendly units, i.e., two-to three­
bedroom units. 

In reply to queries from the Panel, staff advised that (i) aging-in-place features 
incorporated in all of the proposed units include the provision of stairwell handrails, lever­
type handles for plumbing fixtures and door handles, and solid blocking in washroom 
walls to facilitate future grab bar installation beside toilets, bathtubs and showers, (ii) 
there are no fully accessible units provided in the project; however, the project provides 
91 Basic Universal Housing (BUH) units which includes 16 out of 18 LEMR units, 10 out 
of 13 market rental and 65 out of 150 market strata units, (iii) the dike connection from 
the Shell Road terminus to the dike is intended for maintenance vehicles and public access 
for pedestrians; however, it is not suitable for people in wheelchairs due to its steep grade, 
(iv) the public walkway along the west edge of the site from River Drive to the dike 
walkway is wheelchair accessible, and (v) it is not feasible for the proposed development 
to connect to the privately-owned geo utility located in the earlier phase of the overall 
development. 

Panel Discussion 

In reply to queries from the Panel, the applicant team advised that (i) the proposed public 
art for the project has been presented to the City's Public Art Advisory Committee, (ii) a 
local artist will be commissioned for the proposed public art, and (iii) the project has been 
designed to achieve Step Code 3 of the BC Energy Step Code with a privately owned low­
carbon energy system. 

Correspondence 

None. 

6. 

CNCL - 282



7659593 

Gallery Comments 

Development Permit Panel 
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Sandra Lindahl, 10766 River Drive, queried about (i) actions taken by the developer to put 
in place pest control to address rodent infestation as a result of building demolition as 
noted at the June 19, 2023 Public Hearing for the rezoning of the subject site, (ii) the exact 
number of residential units provided in the proposed development, (iii) how the City will 
ensure that the proposed number of rental housing units are actually built and used for 
their intended purpose, (iv) who should the neighbours contact if they are not satisfied 
with the measures taken by the developer to ensure roads are kept free from dust, nails and 
other construction debris, (v) whether the strata or the renters of LEMR units will shoulder 
the cost for the installation of grab bars and the conversion of the BUH units into 
accessible units, and (vi) the location of vehicle access to the underground parkade on 
River Drive. 

In addition, Ms. Lindahl expressed disagreement with the Traffic Impact Assessment 
prepared by a qualified professional referenced in the staff report indicating that the 
existing road network can accommodate the additional traffic generated by the proposed 
development, as she noted that residents in the area are currently experiencing traffic 
concerns on River Drive. 

In reply to Ms. Lindahl' s queries, the applicant team advised that (i) a pest control 
company has been commissioned by the developer to undertake pest control and will soon 
commence their work, (ii) the project will provide a total of 181 units, including 150 
market strata units, 13 market rental units and 18 LEMR units, (iii) the developer can be 
contacted for construction related concerns and will regularly monitor construction and 
dialogue with neighbours, (iv) the rental company/operator will shoulder the costs for the 
installation of grab bars in the market rental and LEMR units, and (v) vehicle access to the 
underground parkade is located at the southwest corner of the subject site. 

In reply to the query regarding how the City will ensure that the proposed number of 
market rental and LEMR units will be constructed and used for their intended purpose, 
Mr. Craig noted that the City will be registering a housing agreement on title of the 
property which includes the obligation to provide statutory declarations to the City on a 
periodic basis to ensure that those units are rented and LEMR units are rented by qualified 
tenants under the City's Affordable Housing Strategy guidelines. 

In reply to Ms. Lindahl's concern regarding the Traffic Impact Assessment at rezoning, 
Mr. Craig noted that an independent third party assessment was provided during the 
rezoning phase and it was reviewed and approved by the City's Transportation 
Department. 

A resident of 2401 Shell Road queried about (i) the number of parking stalls provided in 
the project, (ii) measures to mitigate construction debris including dust and dirt in the 
subject site impacting neighbouring residential properties, and (iii) the timeline for project 
construction. 

7. 
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In reply to the query regarding the number of parking stalls proposed for the project, the 
applicant team noted that 274 parking stalls will be provided for 181 residential units. In 
addition, Mr. Craig stated that the proposed number of parking stalls to be provided is 
consistent with the City's Zoning Bylaw requirement. 

In reply to queries regarding measures to mitigate the impact of dust and dirt during 
construction and project construction timeline, the applicant team advised that (i) 
appropriate equipment will be used as needed to clear dust, dirt and other construction 
debris that are above normal levels, and (ii) the developer intends to commence project 
construction in the later part of this year subject to the timing of required City approvals. 

In reply to a further query, the applicant clarified that the developer will endeavor to keep 
the roads clean during construction. 

In addition, the Chair advised that the City's Bylaws Department contact information will 
be posted on the subject site so neighbouring residents can contact the City for 
construction-related concerns. 

Panel Decision 

It was moved and seconded 
That a Development Permit be issued which would: 

1. permit the construction of a mid-rise residential development comprising 181 
residential units, including 18 low-end-of-market-rental (LEMR) units and 13 
market rental units at 10611 and 10751 River Drive on a site zoned "Low to Mid 
Rise Apartment (ZLR46) - Bridgeport" 

CARRIED 

3. DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 23-035339 
(REDMS No. 7603680) 

7659593 

APPLICANT: 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 

INTENT OF PERMIT: 

Gustavson Wylie Architects Inc. 

18399 Blundell Road 

Permit/the construction of two single-storey buildings with drive-through restaurant uses 
at 18399 Blundell Road on a site zoned "Industrial (I)". 

Applicant's Comments 

David Cheung, Gustavson Wylie Architects Inc., with the aid of a visual presentation 
(attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 3), provided background 
information on the proposed development, highlighting the following: 

8. 
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the original Development Permit for the project was issued by Council around three 
• years ago; however, due to unforeseen events, the permit lapsed as construction did 

not take place within the required period; 

two single-storey buildings are proposed for quick service restaurant and drive-
• through uses with a central plaza located between the two buildings for outdoor 

eating area; 

• 

• 

• 

• 
■ 

• 

• 

• 

a right-in/right-out vehicle entry/exit and left tum entry are provided on Blundell 
Road and a right-in/right-out only vehicle entry/exit is proposed on Nelson Road; 

64 outdoor parking spaces are proposed including two accessible parking stalls near 
the entrances of the two buildings; 

nine of the 64 parking stalls will be provided with electric vehicle (EV) charging 
stations; 

bicycle parking will be provided on the site; 

canopies are proposed at restaurant entrances to provide weather protection; 

tilt-up concrete was proposed to be used in the original design of the buildings but 
has been changed to insulated metal panel system to meet sustainability 
requirements; 

contrasting colours are proposed for the project to provide visual interest in the 
industrial neighbourhood; and 

the central plaza includes an awning feature and landscaped to animate the place 
and provide visual interest. 

Christy Voelker, Prospect and Refuge Landscape Architects, with the aid of the same 
visual presentation, briefed the Panel on the main landscape features of the project, noting 
that (i) three pedestrian entries are proposed from the sidewalk to the subject site, (ii) 
areas of pedestrian walkways that cross the drive aisles and vehicle queuing areas are 
treated with a different colour of permeable pavers to enhance pedestrian safety, (iii) 
shading and a variety of seating opportunities are proposed in the central plaza, (iv) 
proposed planting includes species that are low-maintenance and provide all-season 
interest, (v) a row of canopy trees is proposed along the south edge of the site to provide 
shade in the parking lot, (vi) on-site irrigation will be provided for planted areas, and (vii) 
permeable pavers are proposed for the outdoor eating plaza and pedestrian walkways. 

Staff Comments 

Mr. Craig noted that (i) an Automatic Volume Control (A VC) system that adjusts speaker 
volume will be installed in the drive-through to ensure compliance with the City's Noise 
Bylaw, (ii) the project includes nine electric vehicle (EV) charging stations, and (iii) there 
was a Servicing Agreement entered into as part of the previous Development Permit 
approval for frontage works which have been completed. 

9. 
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Panel Discussion 

Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

In reply to queries from the Panel, the applicant team noted that (i) the A VC system 
automatically adjusts the speaker volume based on ambient noise levels and has been 
successfully used by many drive-through restaurants, (ii) shower facilities for restaurant 
workers biking to work would be difficult to provide in the restaurant buildings due to 
their size, (iii) automatic irrigation will be provided on-site for all planted areas, and (iv) 
raised planters in the central plaza will have adequate soil volume for the size of trees to 
be planted. 

Gallery Comments 

None. 

Correspondence 

None. 

Panel Discussion 

The Panel expressed support for the project for restaurant uses, noting that it is a welcome 
addition to the industrial neighbourhood. 

It was moved and seconded 
That a Development Permit be issued which would permit the construction of two 
single-storey buildings with drive-through restaurant uses at 18399 Blundell Road on a 
site zoned "Industrial (I)". 

CARRIED 

4. New Business 

None. 

5. Date of Next Meeting: May 15, 2024 

ADJOURNMENT 

It was moved and seconded 
That the meeting adjourn (5:02 p.m.). 

CARRIED 

10. 
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Cecilia Achiam 
Chair 

7659593 

Development Permit Panel 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024 

Certified a true and correct copy of the 
Minutes of the meeting of the 
Development Permit Panel of the Council 
of the City of Richmond held on 
Wednesday, April 24, 2024. 

Rustico Agawin 
Committee Clerk 
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